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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
This complaint seeks judicial review and injunctive and declaratory relief to
redress violations of the National Labor Relations Act (“NLRA™), 29 U.S.C. § 151 et seq.

and the Administrative Procedure Act (*APA”), 5 U.S.C. § 701 et seq., by the National

LaborRelations Board (“"NLRB”). 01 August 30, 20171, a majority of the NLRB
(Member Brian Hayes dissenting) promulgated a {inal rule entitled “Notification of
Employee Rights Under the National Labor Relations Acl.” 76 Fed. Reg. 54,006
(hereinafter “the Notice Posting Rule™).

The Notice Posting Rule requires every employer covered by the NLRA (almost 6
million entities) to p'ost a workplace notice informing employees of some of their rights
under the NLRA, as selected and reinterpreted by the NLRB, or face a variety of legal
sanctions. The notice posting is required irrespective of whether the employer has
violated any provision of the NLRA. The NLRB’s promulgation of the Notice Posting
Rule exceeds its statutory authority under the NLRA, in violation of the APA.

PARTIES

1. The National Right to Work Legal Defense and Education Foundation, Inc.
("NRTW?} is a non-profit, charitable legal aid organization, with headquarters at 8001
Braddock Road, Suite 600, Springfield, VA 22160. NRTW is an “employer” as defined
in Section 2(2) of the NLRA, 29 U.S.C. § 152(2), and meets the NLRB’s jurisdictional

standards for coverage under the NLRA. NRTW will be required to post a notice under



the Notice Posting Rule. In its more than 40 years of existence, NRTW has never been
found to have violated the NLRA.
2. The National Federation of Independent Business (“NFIB™) is a non-profit

mutual benefit corporation with offices at 1201 F Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20004.

350,000 member businesses. The typical NFIB member has 10 employees, reports gross
annual sales of approximately $500,000 per year, and is subject to the jurisdiction of the
NLRA. NFIB is an “employer” as defined in Section 2(2) of the NLRA, 29 U.S.C. §
152(2) and meets the NLRB’s jurisdictional standards for coverage under thé NLRA. It
and most of 1ts members will be required to post a notice under the Notice Posting Rule.
In its more than 65 years of existence, NFIB has never been found te have violated the
NLRA.

3. Southeast Sealing, Inc., is engaged in sealing concrete floors. 1t is
incorporated in the State of Georgia and has 20 employees. It is an “employer” as defined
in Section 2(2} of the NLRA, 29 U.S.C. § 152(2), and meets the NLRB’s jurisdictional
standards for coverage under the NLRA. Tt will be required to post a notice under the
Notice Posting Rule. In its more than 40 years of existence, Southeast Sealing, Inc., has
never been found to have violated the NLRA.

4. Racquetball Centers, Inc., a Delaware corporation d/b/a Lehigh Valley

Racquet & 24-7 Fitness Clubs, provides fitness and sports facilities. It has 260 employees,



is an “employer” as defined in Section 2(2) of the NLRA, 29 U.S.C. § 152(2), and mcets
the NLRB’s jurisdictional standards for coverage under the NLRA. It will be required to
post a notice under the Notice Posting Rule. In its more than 33 years of existence,

Lehigh Valley Racquet & 24-7 Fitness Clubs has never been found to have violated the

NLRA.

5. Defendant National Labor Relations Board is a federal agency established
by 29 U.5.C. § 153 to administer and enforce certain aspects of the NLRA, The NLRB’s
duties include conducting representational clections, certifying or decertifying labor
unions, and investigating and sanctioning unfair labor practices committed either by
unions or employers. The NLRB’s headquarters is located at 1099 14th Street, NW,
Washington, D.C. 20570.

6. The NLRB is currently comprised of Chairman Mark Pearce and Members
Craig Becker and Brian Hayes. Each is named herein in his official capacity only. Lafe
Solomon is the Acting General Counsel of the NLRB, and is named in his official
capacity only.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. This Court has jurisdiction over those portions of the action arising under
the APA pursuant to 5 U.S.C. §§ 702 and 703, those portions of the action arising under
the NLRA pursuant to 28 U.5.C. §§ 1331 and 1337, and those portions of the action

arising under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution pursuant to 28



U.S.C. § 1331.

8. This is a case of actual controversy in which Plaintiffs seek a declaration of
their rights under the NLRA and the APA. Under 28 U.5.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, this Court

may declare Plaintiffs’ rights and grant them necessary and proper relief.

9. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e) and
5 U.S.C. § 703, as the Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and the
actions upon which this case are based occurred in this judicial district.

FACTS

10, On December 22, 2010, the NLRB published a Notice of Proposed
Rulemaking (*“NPRM?”) found at 75 Fed. Reg. 80410 (Dec. 22, 2010), entitled “Proposed
Rules Governing Notification of Employee Rights Under the National Labor Relations
Act”

I1.  The NLRB received over 7,000 comments after it published the NPRM.
The NRTW and the NFIB cach filed comments on February 22, 2011. All questions
presented by this Complaint were raised before the NLRB and are fit for judicial review.

12.  The Notice Posting Rule was published in the Federal Register on August
30,2011, and can be found at 76 Fed. Reg. 54,006. A true and correct copy of the Notice
Posting Rule is attached hereto as Exhibit 1. Member Brian Hayes dissented from the
issuance of the Notice Posting Rule.

13. The Notice Posting Rule constitutes a final agency action, and becomes



effective on November 14, 2011.
14, On August 26, 2011, the NLRB’s Office of the General Counsel issued
instructions to its Regional offices about how to implement and enforce the Notice

Posting Rule. A true and correct copy of these instructions are attached as Exhibit 2.

15.  Asaresuli of the Notice Posting Rule, beginning on November [4, 2011,
Plaintiffs and NFIB’s members face both prosecution by the NLRB’s General Counsel for
unfair labor practices if they do not post the notice and sanctions the NLRB may impose.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF - (Violations of the APA)

Plaintiffs reassert the foregoing paragraphs and further allege:

16. The NLRB’s promulgation and threatened enforcement of the Notice
Posting Rule violate Section 706(2){(C) of the APA, 5 U.S5.C § 706(2}C), because the
NLRB lacks statutory authority to promulgate and enforce the Notice Posting Rule under
the NLRA. Among other thiﬁgs, the NLRB lacks the authority to:

a) promulgate and enforce the Notice Posting Rule under Section 6 of the NLRA,
29 U.S5.C. § 156;

b) require a notice posting by employers absent the filing of (1) an unfair labor
practice charge and the issuance of a complaint under Sections 8 and 10 of the NLRA, 29
U.S.C. §§ 158 and 160, or (2) a representation petition initiated under Section 9(c){1) of
the NLRA, 29 U.S.C. § 159(c)(1);

c} create an unfair labor practice for employers who fail to post the NLRB-



specified notice that is not provided for by Congress in NLRA Section 8(a), 29 U.S.C. §
158(a) and prohibited by Section 8(c), 29 U.S.C. § 158(c); and
d) effectively repeal the statute of limitations specified in Section 10(b) of the

NLRA, 29 U.S.C. § 160(b), as done in Section 102.214 of the Notice Posting Rule.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF (Violation of the First Amendment)

Plaintiffs reassert the foregoing paragraphs and further ailege:

17.  The NLRB’s promulgation and enforcement of the Notice Posting Rule
without statutory authority and contrary to NLRA Section 8(c) will coerce Plaintiffs and
other employers’ speech in violation of the First Amendment to the United States
Constitution.

18. Implementation of the Notice Posting Rule must be enjoined or the Plaintiffs
and other employers under the NLRB’s jurisdiction will suffer irreparable injury, because
to avoid prosecution for unfair labor practices they will be forced to engage in speech
they otherwise would not make in violation of their right under the First Amendment and
NLRA Section 8(c), 29 U.S.C. § 158(c), to refrain from speaking.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request that this Court:
A. Issue a declaratory judgment that the NLRB’s Notice Posting Rule is unlawful,
ultra vires, unenforceable, and void ab initio because it violates the NLRA and the APA,

as follows:



1) the NLRB lacks the authority to promulgate and enforce the Notice Posting
Rule under Section 6 of the NLRA, 29 U.S.C. § 156;
2) the NLRB lacks the authority to require a notice posting by employers absent

the filing of (a) an unfair labor practice charge and the issuance of a complaint under

Sections 8 and 10 of the NLRA, 29 U.S.C. §§ 158 and 160, or (b) a representation
petition initiated under Section 9(c)(1) of the NLRA, 29 U.S.C. § 159(c)(1);

3) the NLRB lacks the authority to create an unfair labor practice for employers
who fail to post the NLRB-specified notice that is not provided for by Congress in NLRA
Section 8(a), 29 U.S.C. § 158(a) and prohibited by Section 8(c), 29 U.S.C. § 158(c); and;

4) the NLRB lacks the authority to effectively repcal the statute of limitations of
Section 10(b) of the NLRA, 29 U.S.C. § 160(b).

B. Issue a preliminary and permanent injunction ordering the NLRB and its General
Counsel to cease and desist from implementing, enforcing and applying the Notice
Posting Rule in any manner.

C. Award such further and other relief as the Court may deem just and proper,

including costs and attorneys’ fees.

Respectfully submitted,

Mlenn M. Taubman
lew—""
Glenn M. Taubman, Esq.

(D.C. Bar No. 384079)
William L. Messenger, Esq.*




c/o National Right to Work Legal
Defense and Education Foundation, Inc.
8001 Braddock Road, Suite 660
Springfield, VA 22160

(703) 321-8510

gmt@nriw.org

wim{@nriw.org

Attorneys for National Right to Work

Legal Defense and Education
Foundation, Inc.

* Motion for Admission Pro Hac Vice to
be filed

[A/5FTohn N. dabgugh
L)
hn'N. Raud}’gaugh, Esq.
.C. Bar No. 438943)
Nixon Peabody LLP

401 Ninth Street NW, Suite 900
Washington, D.C. 20004

(202) 585-8100
jraudabavgh@nixonpeabody.com
Attorney for National Federation of
Independent Business, Southeast Sealing,
Inc. and Racquetball Centers, Inc., d/b/a
Lehigh Valley Racquet & 24-7 Fitness
Clubs

DATED: September 16, 2011
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NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS
BOARD

29 CFR Part 104
RIN 3142-AA07

Notification of Employee Rights Under
the National Labor Relations Act

AGENCY: National Labor Relations
Board.

ACTION: Final rule.

summAaRY: On December 22, 2010, the
National Labor Relations Board (Board)
issued a proposed rule requiring
employers, including labor
organizations in their capacity as
employars, subject to the National Labor
Relations Act {NLRA] to post natices
informing their employess of their rights
as employees under the NLRA. This
final rule sets forth the Board's review
of and responses to comments on the
proposal and incorporates any changes
made ta the rule in response to those
comuments.

The Board believes that many
employees protected by the NLRA are
unaware of their rights under thae statute
and that the rule will increase
knowledge of the NLRA among
employees, in order to belter enable the
exercise of rights under the statute. A
hansficial side effect may well be the
premotion of statutory compliance by
employers and unions.

The final rule establishes the size,
form, and content of the notice, and sets
forth provisions regarding the
enforcement of the rule.
pATES: This rule will be eiffective on
November 14, 2011.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTAGT:
Lester A. Heltzer, Executive Secretary,
National Labor Relations Board, 1099
14th Street, NW., Washington, DC
20570, (202) 2731067 (this is not a toll-
free number), 1-B66-315-6572 (TTY/
TDD).

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

1. Background on the Rulemaking

The NLRA, enacted in 1935, is the
Federal statute that regulates most
private sector labor-management
relations in the United States.! Section
7 of the NLRA, 29 U.5.C. 157,
guarantees that

Employees shall have the right to seli-
organization, to form, join, or assist labor
orpanizations, Lo bargain collectively through
reprosentatives of their own cheosing, and to
angage in other concerted activities for the
purpose of collective bargaining ar other

! Labor-managemant relations in the railroad and
airfine industrios ars govoerned by the Roailway
Labor Act, 45 U.5.C. 151 & seq.

mulual aid or protection, and shall also have
the right to refsain fom any ar all such
activities{.|

In Section 1, 20 U.5,C. 151, Congress
axplained why it was necessary for
those rights to be protected:

The denial by some empioyers of the right
of employees to organize and the refusal by
some employers Lo accept the procedure of
collective bargaining lead to strikes and other
forms af industrial strife or unrest, which
have the intent or the necessary effect of
burdening or obstructing commerce[.] * = ~

x * - * *

Experience has praved that protection by
law of the right of employses 1o organize and
bargain collectively safeguards commerce
from injury, impairment, ar interruption, and
pramotes the flow of commearce by removing
cerlaln recognized sources of industrial strife
and unresl, by encouraging practices
fundamental to the friendly adjustmenl of
indusirial dispuins arising out of differences
as to wages, hours, or ather working
conditions, and by rastoring equality of
bargaining power halween employers and
employees.

* * * " *

ti is daclared to be the policy of the United
States 1o eliminate the causes of certain
substantial cbstructions to the free low of
commerce and to mitigata and eliminate
these obstructions whea they have occusrad
by encouraging the praclice and procacure of
collactive bargaining and by pratecting the
exercise by workers of full freedom of
assaciation, self-organization, and
designation of representatives of their own
choosing, for the purpase of negotiating the
terms and cenditions of their employmant or
other mutual aid or prolection.

Thus, Congress plainly stated that, in its
judgment, protecting the rights af
smployees to form and join unions and
to engage in collective bargaining would
beneflit not only the employees
themselves, but the nation as a whols.
The Board was established to ensure
that employers and, later, unions
raspect the exercise of employees' rights
under the NLRA.2

For employees to fully exercise their
NLRA rights, however, they must know
that those rights exist and that the Board
protects those rights. As the Board
explained in its Notice of Proposed
Rulemaking (NPRM]), 75 FR 80410, it
has reason to think that most do not.?

# Tho original NLRA did not include restrictions
an the actions of unions; those wora added in the
Labar-Management Relations {Taft-Hartley) Act of
1947, 29 UL5.C. 141 21 seq., Title L.

*Tho Board citnd thres law review articlos in
which the authors contended that American
waorkers arg largoly unaware of thoir NLRA rights,
that the Board can takae action to vindicale thoso
rights, and that this lack ol knowledge stands in the
way of omployees® effectively exercising their
rights. Poter £, DeChiara, ** The Riglit lo Know: An
Argument for Informing Emplayees of Theic Rights
under e Nativao! Labor Relations Act,” 32 Harv,
|. on Lagis. 431, 433-434 (£995); Charlos [. Moreis,

The Board suggested a number of
reasans why such a knowledge gap
could exist—the low percentage of
employess who are represented by
unions, and thus lack an impartant
source of information about NLRA
rights; the increasing proportion of
immigrants in the work force, who are
unlikely to be familiar with their
workplace rights; and lack of
information about labor law and labor
relations on the part of high school
students who are about to enter the
labor force.

Of greatest concern to the Board,
however, is the fact that, except in very
limited circumstances, no one is
raquired to inform employees of their
NLRA rights.5 The Board is almost
unique amang agencies and
departments administering major

"Renaissance at the NLAB—Cppartunity and
Praspect for Non-Legislative Proceducal Reform ai
the Labor Doard,” 23 Stetson L. Hev. 101, 107
[1993); Morris, "NLAB Protection in the Nonurion
Warkploce: A Glimpse at e General Theory of
Section 7 Canduct,” 137 U. Pa, 1. Rav, 1671, 1675
1676 (1989). 75 FR at 60411,

*id.

5 Tho Board requires that vmployees ha notified
of their MERA #ights in only the following narrow
circumatances: (1) For tho threo working days
befaro a Board-conduciod representation clection,
the amployer is requized to post o notice of election
includirg a brief dascription of amployee rights; sce
29 CFR 101,24, (2) When an employar or a union
has heon found to have violatad amployse rights
undar tho MLRA, it is required ta post a notice
containing a briel summary of thoso rights. (3]
Hefare a unien may soek 1o obligate nowly hired
nanmomber amployees to pay dues and fees under
a union-security clause, it must infarm them of
thair right under NLAB v. Genara! Motors, 173 L5,
734 (1863), and Communications Workers v. Beck,
407 (.8, 745 {1984]), to be or romnin nonmombery
and that nonmembers have the right to objoct 10
paying for unioa activitios wnrelated 1o 1he union's
dulies as the bargainiag reprasentative and to oblain
a reduction in duos and foes of such activitios,
California Saw & Knife Works, 320 NLRB 224, 231
[1995]), onfd. sub nom. Mochinists v. NLAB, 133
F.3d 1012 [#th Gir. 1994), cort. denied sub nom.
Strang v. NLAB, 525 U.5. 8113 (1998). The samo
notice must also be given to union members ifthoy
didt nat receive it when they enlerod the bargaining
unit. Paperworkers Locn! 1033 (Weyerhaeuser Paper
Co.J, 320 NLRB 344, 350 (1993], rev'd. on other
grounds sub nowm. Buzenius v. NLAD, 124 F.3d 780
{6th Cir. 1997), vacated sub nom. United
Paperworkers Intern. Uniont v. Buzenius, 523 U.5.
979 {1998). {4} Whan an employer veluntarily
recognizes a union, the Board has roquired that the
employer must post a notice infarming employees:
{i} That tho empioyor recognized the unios on the
basis of evidence that it was designated by a
majority of the unit amployees; {ii) the daie of
recognition; {iii} that nll employaes. including those
who previousty sigreed cards for the recognized
union, havo the right to be ropresonted by a labor
organization of their choice, or no union a1 all; (iv)
that within 45 days of the daie of the rotico a
docerdification or rival petition, supportod by 30
percent er more of the unit employoos, may be Rled
with tho Board and will ba processed lo an cloction;
and, (v} that if no petition is fled within 43 days,
the recognition will nat be subject to challenge for
un reasonable poriod to allow the cmployer and
unien to negotiate a coltective-bargaining
agrentnant. Dana Corp., 151 NLRB 434 {2007).
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Federal labor and employment laws in
not requiring employers routinely to
post notices at their workplaces
informing emplayees of their statutory
rights.® Given this common practice of
waorkplace notice-posting, it is
reasonable for the Board to infer that a
posting reguirement will increase
smployses’ awareness of their rights
under the NLRA.7 Further support for
that position is President Obama'’s
recent Executive Order 13496, issued on
January 30, 2009, which stressed the
need for employees to be informed of
thair NLRA rights. Executive Order
13496 requires Federal contractors and
subcontragtors to include in their
Government contracts specific
provisions requiring them to post
notices of employees' NLRA rights. On
May 20, 2010, the Departmant of Labor
issued a Final Rule implementing the
order effective june 21, 2010. 75 FR
28368, 29 CFR part 471.

After due consideration, the Board
has decided to require that employees of
all employers subject to the NLRA be
informed of their NLRA rights.
Informing employees of their statutory
rights is central to advancing the
NLRA's promise of "full freedom of
association, self-organization, and
designation of representatives of their
own choosing.” NLRA Section 1, 29
U.8.C. 151. It is fundamental to
employees' exercise of their rights that
the employees know both their basic
rights and where they can go to seek
help in understanding those rights.
Notice of the right of self-organization,
to form, join, or assist laboc
organizations, to bargain collectively, to
engage in other concerted activities, and
to refrain from such activities, and of
the Board's role in protecting those
statutory rishts is necessary to effectuate
the provisions of the NLRA.

The Board believes that the workplace
itself is the most appropriate place for
communicaling with employees about
their basic statutory rights as employees.
Ci. Eostex, Inc. v. NLRB, 437 U.S. 556,
574 (1978) ("[T]he plant is a particularly
appropriate place for the distribution of
[NLRA] material.").

Accordingly, and pursuant to its
rulemaking authority under Section 6 of
the NLRA, the Board proposed a new
rule requiring all employers subject to
the NLRA lo post a copy of a notice
advising employees of their rights under

¥ See, e.g. Title Vi of the Civil Rights Act of
1964, 42 U.S.C. 20000-10(a}; Age Discrimination in
Employment Acl, 26 U.5.C. 627; Family and
Muodical Leave Acl, 20 ULS.C. 2601, 2619(a); Fair
Labor Standards Acl, 29 £FR 516.4 [implementing
20 U.5.C. 211). 75 FR BD411.

T As sot Torth in the NPRM. 1wa politions warn
filad 1o address this anomaly. 75 FR 80411.

the NLRA and providing information
periaining to the enforcemeant of those
rights. 75 FR 80411. For the reasons
discussed more fully below, the Board
tentatively determined that the cantent
of the notice should be the same as that
of the natice required under the
Department of Labor’s notice posting
rule, 29 CFR part 471. [d. at B0412. Also,
as discussed at length below, the Board
proposed that failure to post the notice
would be found to be an unfair labor
practice—i.e,, to interfere with, restrain,
or coerce employees in the exercise of
their NLRA rights, in violation of
Section 8(a)(1) of the NLRA. Id. at
80414, The Board alsa proposed that
failure to post the notice could lead to
tolling of the 6-month statute of
limitations for filing unfair labor
practice charges, and that knowing and
willful failure to post the notice could
bs considered as evidence of unlawful
mative in unfair labor practice cases. Id.
The Board explained that the burden of
compliance would be minimal—the
notices would be made available at no
charge by the Board (both electronically
and in hard copy}, and employers
would only be required to post the
notices in places where they
customarily post notices lo employees;
the rule would contain no reporting or
recordkeeping requirements. Id. at
80412, Finally, the Board expressed its
position that it was not required to
prepare an initial regulatory fexibility
analysis of the proposed rule under the
Repulatory Flaxibility Act, 5§ U.S.C. 601
et seq., and that the notice posting
requirement was not subject to the
Paperwork Reduction Act, 42 U.5.C.
3501 et seq. fd. at 80415-B0416.

The Board invited comments on its
legal authority to issue the rule, the
content of the notice, the requirements
for posting the notice, the proposed
enforcement scheme, the definitions of
terms in the proposed rule, and on its
positions concerning the Regulatory
Flexibility Act and the Paperwork
Reduction Act. The Board stated that
comments would be accepted for 60
days following the publication of the
NPRM in the Federal Register, or until
February 22, 2011. The Board received
6,560 comments by February 22.
However, many late-filed comments
ware also submitted, and the Board
decided to accept all comments that it
received on ar before March 23,8

4 hMarch 23, 2011 was the dale that the Board

downloaded all of the alectronic and (pdL versions
of) hard copy comments il had received from
hitp:/fwavw regilations,gov and subsaquontly
uploaded inlo a text analytics {ool for ceding and
review.

A few commenters submitted thoir comments in
hotls elecironic and hard capy ferm. Because all

In all, 7,034 comments were received
from employers, employess, unions,
employer organizations, worker
assistance organizations, and other
concerned organizations and
individuals, including two members of
Congress. The majority of commaents, as
well as Board Member Hayes' dissent,
oppose the rule or aspects of it; many
oppesing comments contain suggestions
for improvement in the evant the Board
issues a final rule. Many comments,
however, support the rule; a few of
those suggest changes to clarify ar
strengthen the rule. The Board wishes to
express its appreclation to all those wha
took the time to submit thoughtful and
helpful comments and suggestions
concerning the proposed rule.?

Alter careful consideration of the
comments received, the Board has
decided to issue a final rule that is
similar to that proposed in the NPRM,
but with some changes suggested by
commanters, The most significant
change in the final rule is the deletion
of the requirement that employers
distribute the notice via email, voice
mail, text messaging or related
electronic communications if they
customarily communicate with their
employees in that manner. Other
significant changes include
clarifications of the employee notice
detailing employee rights protected by
the NLRA and unlawful conduct on the
part of unions; clarification of the rule's
raquirements for posting notices in
foreign languages; allowing employers
to post nolices in black and white as
well as in color; and exemption of the
U.S. Postal Service from coverage of the
rule. The Board's responses to the
commants, and the changes in the rule
and in the wording of the required
notice of employee rights occasioned by
Lhe comments, are explained below. (In
his dissent, Board Member Hayes raises
a number of points that are also made
in some of the comments. The Board's
responses to those comments should be
understood as responding to the dissent
as wall.) 10

comments recoivod aro includod in the numbers
cited in taxt abova, those numbars overstaio
somewhat the number of individuals, organizations,
etc. that submittod comments.

Y Many commants charge thet the Hoard s issuing
the rule for political reasons, to ancourage and
spread unionism, to discourage employers and
employecs from engaging in direct communication
and problem solving, to drive up unian
mombership in order to rotain agency staff, and
even to “line fits| packets.” The Board responds
that its reasons for issuing the rufe are sot forth in
this preamble.

W ho Hoard majority's reasoning stands on its
own. By il5 silence, the majority doos not adopt any
claractorization mede by $he dissont of the
majority's rationale or motives.
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I, Authority

Section 6 of the NLRA, 29 U.5.C. 156,
provides that *The Board shall have
authority from time to time to make,
amend, and rascind, in the mannar
prescribed by the Administrative
Procedure Act [5 U.5.C. 553], such rules
and regulations as may be necessary o
carey out the provisicns of this Act.” As
discussed in detail below, the Board
interprets Section 6 as authorizing the
rule.

A, The Board's Section 6 Rulemaking
Authority

Numerous comments dispute the
Board's statutory autharity to enact the
proposed rule. Many note the fact that
the Board's rulemaking is constrained
by Congressional intent as evidenced in
its enabling statute. For instance, the
American Trucking Association quotes a
Ninth Circuit case explaining that
Section 6 “does not authorize the Board
to promulgate rules and regulations
which have the effect of enlarging its
authority beyond the scope intended by
Congress,” 11 and similarly, the Motor &
Equipment Manufacturers Association
asserts, "' A regulation cannot stand if it
is conirary to the statute.” * The Board
agrees that it may not exercise its
rulemaking authority in a way contracy
to that intended by Congress, but {or the
reasons discussed below it also doss nat
believe that it has done so in this rule,

Several cormmenls assart that because
NLRA Section 6 is written in ganeral,
rather than specific, terms, the Board is
not empowered to enact the proposed
rule. Far example, Associated Builders
and Contractors argues that “the fack of
express statutory language under
Section 6 of the NLRA to require the
posting of a notice of any kind ‘is a
strong indicator, if not dispositive, that
the Board lacks the authority to impose
such a requirement * * *.""" 13 And the
Heritage Foundation likewise argues
that the Board's reliance upon its
general Section & rulemaking authority
does not suffice to meet the
Administrative Procedure Act's
requirement that the NPRM must

1 Gen. Eng's, fnrc. v. NLHB, 341 F.2d 167, 474
{1843).

2 Citing United States v, ("Hogon, 521 LLS. 842,
671 [1997). However, the Suprome Court actually
held thore that an agency’s interprotation of its
pnabling statuta must be givon "contralling waight
unloss it is arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly
conirary 4o tho statulo.” (quoting Chevron U.5.A.
Inc. v. Nnlural Res. Def. Council, Inc., 467 [1.5. 8317,
Haut (190843} Thore, the Court uphetd the rule and
found il was not arbitrary, capricious, or manilestly
cantrary to the stalute.

12 Queting Mernbar Hayes' dissent, 75 FR 40415,

“reference the legal authority under
which the rule is proposed,’ 11

The Board believes that these
comments ate in error bacause the
courts' construction of other statutes’
general rulemaking authority, as well as
Section 6 in particular, fully support its
reading of this statutory provision. In
fact, earlier this year, the Supreme Court
issued a decision in Moyo Foundation
for Medical Education and Research v.
United States 5 (discussed mora fully
below}, unanimously reaftirming the
principle that a general grant of
rulemaking autharity fully suffices to
confer legislative (or binding}
rulemaking authority npon an agen{:g.

Even prior to Mayo, a long line of both
non-NLRA and NLRA cases supported
reading Section 6 in the manner
suggested by the Board. Over forty years
8go, in Thorpe v, Housing Authority,s6
the Supreme Court found that the
expansive grant of rulemaking authority
in Section 8 of the Housing Act was
sufficient to grant legislative rulemaking
power to the Department of Housing
and Urban Devalopmenti. The Court
further noted that *'{s]uch broad rula-
making powers have been granted to
numerous other federal administrative
bodies in substantially the same
language." 17 A faw years later, in
Mourning v. Family Publication
Services,!® the Court reaffirmed its
stance in Thorpe:

Where the empowsring provision of a
statute states simply that the agency may
‘make * * * such rules and regulations as
may be necessary to carry out the provisions
of this Act,' we have held thal the validily
af a regulation promulgated thersunder will
be sustained so long as it is ‘veasonahbly
related to the purposss of the enabling
legislation.' 19

Following the Supreme Court's lead,
key circuit decisions then extended the

4 See 5 USC 553(b)(2). For this conclusian, the
Harilage Foundation cites Global Van Lines, Inc., v.
ICC, 714 F.2d 1290, 1297-86 {5th Cir. 1983). But
Globn! Ven Lines did oot find that a genaral
statement of authority con nover meot the APA's
requirements o spocify the legal autharity for the
rulp. Instead, the Fifth Circuit hold that that portion
ofthe APA is violated when ar agency choasos 1o
roly oo additional siatutory provisions in suppori
of its ruto for the first time onr appeal, and thoso
grounds do net appear elsowhaero in the
ndministrative racord. See id. a1 1208-99. Here, in
contrast, the grounds for the Board s rulo aro clearly
Inid oul in subseclion B, Statutary Authority,
below.

15131 S.Ct. 704, 71014 (2011}

W33 1.5, 268 [1969).

VI, at 277 n. 28 {citations amitted). Tho
rulemaking grant thare at issue provided that HUD
may. "'from time to time * * * make, amond, and
reseind such rules and regulations as may be
neeessary to carry out tho provisions of this Act,”
fd. at 277, quito similar to Soction 6 of the NLRA.

10477 U5, 356 (1973].

3 id. at 369 {quoting Thorpe, 393 .S, al 2Z60-61).

notion that broad grants of rulemaking
authority conveyed legislative
rulemaking power.?" Although the
Board had historically chosen to make
policy by adjudications, the Supreme
Court, consistent with the non-NLRA
case law, used a pair of Board
enforcement cases to unanimously
emphasize the existence of the Board's
legisiative rulamaking authority, NLRB
v. Wyman-Gordon Co.2' and NLRB v,
Bell Aerospace.®®

In 1991, after the Board enacted a rule
involving health care units, the
Supreme Court unanimously upheld
that rule in American Hospilal
Association v. NLRB.2? The Supreme
Court found that that the general grant
of rulemaking authority contained in
Section 6 of the Act “was
uaguestionably sufficient to authorize
the ruls at issue in this case unless
limited by some other provision in the
Act." 2+ As in AHA, there is no such
limitation here on the Board’s authority
to enact tha proposed Rule, as explained
further below. As Senator Tom Farkin
and Representative Georga Miller 25
emphasized in their comment, the
Supreme Court in AHA examined *'the
structure and the policy of the NLRA,”
in arder to canclude:

As a matter of statwtory drafling, if
Congress had intended {0 curtail in a
particular area the broad rulemoking
autharity granted ia §6, we would have
gxpectad it to do so in language expressly
daescribing an exception fram thal section ar
at least referring specilically to the section.?s

Thus, the Court could not have been
clearer that unless the Board is
“expressly” limited in some manner,
Section 6 empowers the Board to make
“such rules and regulations as may be
necessary to carry out the provisions of
this Act.” This point was underscored

*v Nat’l Ass'n. of Pharm. Mfrs, v. FTC, 637 F.2d
477, 860 (2d Cir. 1987] (“'this genorous construction
ol agency rulemaking autharily has boceme finmly
ontranchod"); Nat'f Petrofeam Aefiners Ass'n v,
FTC, 482 I.2d 672, 686 (1.C. Cir. 1973} ["plnin.
axpansive languape” of the rulomaking grant at
issus, logather with the “broad, undisputad
policios" moant to ba furtherad by Congress's
onaciment of the Federal Trade Commission Acl of
1914, sufficed to grant the FTC substantive
rulamaking nuthority).

21394 (1.5, 759, 764 {1969) {piurality opinion of
Fortas, |, joined by Warren, C.)., Stowart, J., and
White, J.), 770 {Blnek, ]., Marshall, ].. and Brennon,
1, 777, 779 (Douglas, ).}, 783 n. 2 {Harlan, [.}.

22416 U5, 267, 295 {1974) {majority opinion af
Powall, ]., and dissenting opinion of Whiio, ]. {and
thrao ather justicos}). -

20409 (.5, 606 (1991} [AHA).

24 Id, at §09-10 (omphasis added ).

25 (Heseafter, Harkin and Miler.) Senator Harkin
is tha Clairman of the Sonate Commities on Hoalth,
Education, Labor, ond Pessions. Represantalive
Milley is Ranking dviember on the Housa Commiitca
on Education and the Workfarcs.

2 id, at 613 (emphasis added).
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in a Wagner Act-era Senate hearing, as
cited by Americans for Limited
Governmant {(ALG), in which it was
acknowledged that the language of
Section & indeed srants “broad powers’
to the Board.2?

And in January of this year, a
unanimous Supreme Court, in Mayo
Foundation for Medical Education and
Research v. United States, affirmed this
key principle that a broad grant of
statutory rulemaking authority conveys
authority to adopt legislative rules,2s
Muyo concerned in part the question of
how much defarence a Treasury
Department tax regulation should
receive. In Maye, an amicus argued that
the Treasury Department's
interpretation should receive less
deference because it was issued undera
general grant of rulemaking authority, as
opposed to an interpretation issued
under a specific grant of authority.*®
The Court responded by first explaining
its earlier holding in U/.5. v. Mead, that
Chevron delerence is appropriate “when
it appears that Congress delegated
authority to the agency generally to
make rules carrying the force of law,
and that the agency interpretation
claiming delerance was promultgated in
the exercise of that authority." 32 Then,
in significant part, the Court observed:

Our inquiry in that ragard does not turn on
whether Congress's delegation of authority
was general or specific.

»

Tk * * * -

The Department issusd the full-time
employea rule pursuant to the explicit
authorization to “prescribe all needful rules
and regulations for the enforcentent’ of the
[nternal Revenue Code, 26 U.5.C. 7805{a). Wea
have found sueh “exprass congressional
outhorizations to engoge in the process of
rulemoking' 1o be “a very good indicator of
tlelegation meriting Chevron Lreatment.” 1

And so, all nine members of the
Supreme Court agreed on the following
key principle: an express, albeit general,
grant of rulemaking authority is fully
sufficient for an agency to receive
Chevron deference for its rulemaking. It
follows that a broad grant of rulemaking
authority will suffice for the agency to
engage in legislative rulemaking in the
first place. Thus, the Supreme Court's

47 Simtomont of Donakd A, Callahan, U.8. Senat
Committee an Education and Labor, March 29,
19133, Legisintive History of the Nationa! Labor
Aelations Acl, U.5, Government Printing Dffico,
1841, n. 2002,

2131 8, Ct. 704, 713-14 {2011L

#fdoat 713.

i, {guoting Unitad States v. Mend, 810 U.5.
218, 226~27 {2001]); see also Chevron, 467 LS. at
b4z~ [announcing twe-part framewark for
determining whaother ¢ourls should grant deference
1e ngoncy interprotalions of enabling staluies}.

I Mgy, 131 8. CL at 713-14 {omphasis added
and cilations omitied}

rulings continue to fully support a broad
construction of Section 6.

Disputing this conclusion, ALG
assarts that Section 6 was intended to be
used ‘'primarily” for procedural
rulemaking, and cites a Senate report
from the Wagner Act’s legislative
history. That Senate report explains:
"“[iln no case do the rules have the force
of law in the sense that criminal
penalties or fines accrue for their
violation, and it seems sufficient that
the rules prescribed must be ‘necessary
to carry out the provisions’ of the
act,'" 32 The Board disagrees. The cited
language merely proclaims the obvious,
that no criminal penalties or fines
accrue for violating the Board's rules.
Howaever, laws such as the NLRA that
do not impose criminal panalties or
fines for their violation can also have
the "'force of law'" (which is perhaps
why the Senate report used the limiting
phrase “in the sense of"'). The Supreme
Court has previously recognized that
final Agency orders under Sections 10
{e) and (0] of the Act, despite their non-
self enforcing nature, have “the force
and effect of law." 33 So too, do the
Board’s rules have the force and etfect
of law, as held by the Supreme Court in
AHA 4

Several comments discuss whather
Board Rule 103.20, which mandates the
posting of an election notice in a
workplace three working days prior to a
representation election, should be
considered analogous to the proposed
rule. The United Food and Commercial
Warkers International Union (UFCW)
comments that the election rule is, like
the proposed rule, oniy minimally
bhurdensome and further noted that it
has never been challenged.?s ALC
disagrees that the election rule should
be considered analogous herg, because
although in the election context a notice
posting is the most feasible means to
inform employees about an upcoming
election that is occurring at a specific

12 Sea Compasisen of 5. 2826 (71d Congress) and
5. 1958 {74th Congress) 24 (Comm. Prinl 1935],
repriniod in 1 Legislative History of tho National
Labor Rolatinns Act, 1935, (1949) at 1349.

I NLAB v. Sears, Aoebuck & Co., 421 U.5. 112,
153-54 (1975) (ordaring disclosure of such Agency
opinians under the FOLA, and quoling legislativo
history ol the FOLA to thal offect, H.FL Rep. No.
1497, p. 7, U.5, Code Cong, & Admin. Nows, 1966,
D, 2424).

4499 U.5. al 609-10. But even if ono were to
canstruo the repart inthe way advocaiod by the
camment. such reports themselves do not have the
foree and offoct of law, see Lincoln v, Vigil, 508 U.5,
162,192 (19493); AHA, 498 U.5. al 618, and thus al
best are only potential eviderca of logislativo intenl.

4 Howaver, it is incercoct that the rule has nover
Leen challonged: it has boen challengoed and
uphold. See Paanier Corg. v. NLIB, 120 F.2d 600,
606-07 (Ath Cir. 1997) {rojecting on as-applicd
challonge to Rule 103.2tH.

place and time, that is not the case in
the NLRA rights context, in which
employees can just search the Internet
to find out mare information. The Board
agrees with the UFCW that posting a
notice is a minimally burdensome way
to ensure that employees receive certain
information, although obvicusly, the
proposed notice will reach many more
employers over a much longer period of
time than do election notices. And
ALG's acknowledgment that a notice
posting in the workplace is in fact
sometimas the most feasible means to
inform employees of important
information supports the Board's haliel,
explained below, that workplace notice
posting is a more efficient way of
informing employees of their NLRA
rights than relying on information
available on the Internet.

A few comments argue that the Hoard
is a law enforcement agency only, and
should not be engaging in rulemaking
for that reason. One comment asserts
that “Congress did not intend to
“ampower the NLRB to be a rulemaking
body, but rather an investigatory/
enforcement agant of the NLRA,” 96 The
Board responds that by enacting Section
6, Congress plainly and explicitly
intended to, and did, "empower Lthe
NLRB to be a rulemaking hady.” And,
as shown above, AHA conclusively
found that the Board is empowered Lo
use its rulemaking powaers, as the Court
had previously indicated in Wyman-
Gordon and Bell Aerospace. 37

A joint comment submitted by
Douglas Holtz-Eakin and Sam Batkins
argues against the Board's assertion of
Section B authority here by asserting
that “the Supreme Court has
circumscribed NLRB rulemaking in the
past: “The daference owed to an expert
tribunal cannot be allowed to slip inta
a judicial inertia which results in the
unauthorized assumption by an ageacy
of major policy decisions properly made
by Congress.’”’ However, that comment
neglects to provida the citation for that
quotation, American Ship Building Co.
v. NLRA,3% which was not a rulemaking
case but an adjudication. In any event,
the Board does not agree that this rule
presumes to make a major policy
decision properly made by Congress
alane. As explained in subsection B,

A Comment of Manufacturors® Association of
South Ceniral Pennsylvania.

9 [ Natlonal Petroleum Refiners Ass'nv. FIC,
482 F.2d 672 (0.C. Cir. 19713}, the court rejected tho
argumant that the FTC's prosecutarial functions
rendered it unsuitable for issuing rules. By way of
example, it noted that the NLRB is similar to the
FTC in its methods of adjudication and
cnforcomant, but the Supreme Court had ropeatodly
encouraged the Board to utilize its rulemaking
powers, Id. ai G64.

a8 g0 U.S. 300, 318 (1965}
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Statutory Authority, below, the Board
believes that it has been Congressionally
authorized to make this regulatory
dacision in the interests of carrying out
the provisions of the Act.

Many comments argue that the Board
should heed the use of the word
“necessary” in Section 8. For instance,
the Portland Cement Association
comments that Section B requirss the
Board to demonstrate that: (1) The
specific rule being proposed is, in fact,
necessary, and (2} the adoption of the
proposed rule witl carry out one or more
specific provisions of the Act.39 The
Board believes, for the reasons
expressed in subsection C, Factual
Suppori, below, that the requisite
showing of necessity has been made.
And, as explained below, the adoption
of the proposed rule is consistent with
Section 1 and will help effectuata
Sections 7, 8, 9and 10 of the NLRA.

The Board, however, disagrees with
the Motor & Equipment Manufacturers
Association's assertion based upon the
case of West Virginia State Board of
Education v, Barnetie 0 that the Board
needs to show “a grave and immaediate
danger” before enacting a rule. First,
that case held that that very rigorous
standard of review is required only
where a First Amendmaent freedom is
alleged to have been infringed. The
Court Rurther noted that where the Fiest
Amendment is not implicated, the
government may regulate an area so
Ieng as it has a "rational basis™ for
doing so. As explained in subsectiorn B,
Statutory Authority, below, this rule
infringes upon no First Amendment
interests, and consequently, the rule
should be judged on & standard similar
to the “‘rational basis” test taic out in
Barnette. It was in fact just such a
deferential standard which the Supreme
Court used to examine the Board's
health care rule in AHA. There, the
Court found that even if it read Section
9 to find any ambiguity, it still would
have deferred to the Board's ""reasonable
interpretation of the statutory text,” and
found the Board authorized under
Sections 6 and 9 to enact the health care
bargaining urit rule at issue.t? No
“orave and immediate danger"” was
found to be required prior to the Board
anacting that rule. This ruling was also
consistent with the Supreme Court's
earlier holdings in Thorpe and
Mourning, in which regulations
promulgated under broadly phrased
grants of authority needed Lo be only

2 Sep alse comment of Amaricans for Limilad
Govenunent, citing o AFL-CI0 v. Choo, 409 F 1d
377. 291 [CLC. Cir. 2005] for the same principle.

119 1.5, 624, 619 {1943).

40409 U.5. at G14.

“reasonahly related to the purposes of
the enabling legislation.” *2 For the
reasons shown below, that standard is
muore than met in the present rule.

B. The Board's Statutory Authority To
Issue This Rule

The National Labor Relations Act
does nat directly addrass an employer's
obligation to post a notice of its
employees’ rights arising under the Act
or the consequences an employer may
face for failing to do so. However, as
stated, NLRA Section 6 empowers the
Board to promulgate legislative rules “as
may be necessary to carry ouf the
provisions' of the Act. 28 T1.5.C. 156. A
determination of necessity under
Section 6 made by the Board, as
administrator of the NLRA, is entitled to
deference. See Ragsdale v. Wolverine
Warld Wide, Inc., 335 U.S. 81, 86 (2002).

Furthermare, even in tha absence of
exprass rulemaking autharity, 'the
power of an administrative agency to
administer a congressionally created
* * * program necessarily requires the
formutation of policy and the making of
rules to fill any gap left, implicitly or
explicitly, by Congress."” Morton v. Ruiz,
415 U.5. 199, 231 (1974). Under the
well-known test articulated by the
Supreme Court in Chevron U.5.A. Inc. v.
Natural Resources Defense Council,
Ine., 467 U.S, 837 (1984), courts will
defer to the Board's reasonable
interpretation ol a gap left by Congress
in tha NLRA.

An examination of the provisions of
the whole law demonstrate how the
notice-posting rule is a legitimata
exercise of both legislative rulemaking
authorily under Section 6 and implied
gap-filling authority under Chevron, 467
U.S. at 843. Section 1 of tha NLRA
explains that Congress deliberately
chose the means of "encouraging the
practice and procedure of collective
bargaining' and “protecting the exercise
of workers of full freedom of
agsociation, self-organization, and
dasignation of representatives of their
own choosing” in order to combat the
substantial burdens on commerce
caused by certain employer and labor
union practices as well as by the
inherent “inequality of bargaining
power between employees * * * and
employers.”” 20 U.5.C. 151.%% Section 7

12 §lourning, 411 LS. at 369 [quoting Thorpe, 393
U.S. at 2BO-A1).

45 Theso rogulations are entirsly compatible with
tha natienal labor policy, as expressed in Soction
1, "to eliminalo the causes of certain substantial
phstructinns 1o tho free How al commerce and to
mitigate and eliminate thesa obstructions whon
thay bave occurred.” 28 U.S.C. 151 (fifth
paragraph). As explained bolow, the Board's ability
la eliminate” the causes of lnbar strife and
deprossod waga rates, “which have thoe jolent or

therefore sets forth the core rights of
employees “to self-organization”; “'lo
form, join, or assist labor organizations™,
“to bargain collectively”; and “‘to engage
in ather concerted activities”; as well as
the right "“to refrain from any or all such
activities.” Id. §157. Section 8 defines
and prohibits uttion and employer
“unfair labor practices™ that infringe on
employees’ Section 7 rights, id. § 158,
and Section 10 autharizes the Board to
adjudicate unfair labar practice claims,
id. § 160, subject to the NLRA's
procedural six-month statute of
limitations, see Zipes v. Trans World
Airlines, Inc., 455 U.S. 385, 395 n.11
{1982). Finally, Section 9 authorizes the
Board to conduct representation
elections and issue certifications. 29
U.S.C. 158.

Notahly, the NLRA does nol give the
Board or its General Counsel roving
invastigatory powers. Although the
Board is specifically empowered to
“prevent” unfair labor practices, id,
§160(a), “[tIhe Board may naot act until
an unfair [abor practice charge is filed
* * *alleging a violation of the Act.”

2 The Developing Labar Law 2683 {John
E. Higgins, jr. ed., Sth ed. 2008). In
addition, certification "pracedures are
set in mation with the filing of a
representation petition.” Id. at 2662, In
both instances, the initiating document
is filed by a private party. fd. at 2683
(citing 29 CFR 102.9); id. at 2662--63
(citing 29 U.5.C. 159(c)(1)(A), (B), and
(el{1)).

Enforcement of the NLRA and
effectuation of Congress's national labor
policy therefore depend on the
existence of outside actors who are not
only aware of their rights but also know
where they may seak to vindicate them
within appropriate timeframes. The
Department of Labor made a similar
finding in an analogous rulemaking
proceeding undsr the Fair Labor
Standards Act: “alfactive enforcement of
the [FLSA] depends to a great extent
upon knowledge on the part of covered
employees of the provisions of the act
and the applicability of such provisions
to them, and a greater degree of
compliance with the act has been
effected in situations where employees
are aware of their rights under the law.™
14 FR 7516, 7516 (Dec. 186, 19449), Given
the direct relationship between
employees’ timely awareness of their
rights under the NLRA and the Board's

necessary offect of burdening or obstructing
commorce.” id.. doprnds on workoers' knowledge of
their rights and the protections provided by the
NLRE, The Board therefore sejects the argument of
the Manufzcluror's Association of Soutls Central
Pennsylvania thal bath the notice-posting rule and
the Banrd's genocal assertion of rulemaking
autharity are inconsistent with Section 1.
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ability to protect and enforce those
rights, this rule is "necessary’ for
purposes of Section 6,

Aside from the rule's manifest
necessity, the notice posting
requirement [ills a Chevron-lype gap in
the NLRA's statutory scheme. Thus, as
discussed, the purpose of Section 1, as
implemented in Sections 7 and 8, is to
encourage the fres exarcise and
enforcement of the Act’s provisions, and
fulfillment of that purpose depends on
the private initiative of employees and
employers to commence Board
representation proceedings pursuant to
Sectinn 9 and Board unfair labor
practice proceedings pursuant to
Section 10. The effective working of the
NLRA's administrative machinery
therafore presupposes that workers and
their employers have knowledge of the
rights afforded by the statute and the
means for their timely enforcement. The
statute, however, has no provision with
raspect to making that knowladge
available, a subject about which the
statute is completely silant.

This statutory gap has always been
present but was of less significance in
earlier years when the density of union
organization was greater, since, as is
widely recognized, unions have been a
traditional source of infarmation about
the NLRA's provisions. See Lechmere,
fnc. v. NLRB, 502 U.5. 527, 531-32
(19892) (reaffirming that the Section 7
rights of employees interasted in union
organization depend to some extent on
their having access to unions); Harlon
Fuel Co., 8 N.L.R.B. 25, 32 (1938)
(holding that the rights guaranteed to
employees by Section 7 include **full
freadom to receive aid, advice and
infarmation from others concerning
[their sell-organization] rights"); cf.
Chambaer of Commerce of the United
States v, Brown, 554 U.8. 60, 68 (2008)
(observing that Section 7 “implies an
underlying right to receive
information'"). Moreover, as rates of
unionization have declined, employees
are less likely to have experience with
collective bargaining or to be in contact
with other employees who have had
such experience. The statuiory gap is
thus now important to the Board's
administration of the NLRA and its role
in enforcing employees’ rights.

As the Supreme Court has ohserved,

The responsibility to adapt the Act to
changing pattecns of industrial tife is
antrusted to the Board, * * * Itis the
province ol the Board, not the courts, to
datermine whether or not the "need" [for a
Board rule] exists in light of changing
industrial praclices and the Board's
cumulative sxperience in dealing with labor-
managemen! relations. For the Board has the
*special function of applying the general

provisions of the Act to the complexities of
industriai life," and its special competence in
this field is the justification for the defsrenca
accorded its determination.

NLAB v. J. Weingarten, Inc., 420 U.S.
251, 266 {1975} (citations omitted).
Consistent with this understanding of
the Board's role, the notice-posting
regulations represent an atiempt to
“adapt the Act” in light of recent
realities and "the Board's cumulative
experience.” [d. The rule is whaotly
consistent with the aims of the NLRA,
and the “need” for it now is heightened
given the “changing patterns of
industrial life." Id.

For all these reasons, this rule is
gntitled to deference regardless of how
it is characterized because it is
“reasonably related Lo the purposes of
the enabling legislation,” Thorpe, 393
U5, at 2B0—81, and constilutes a
“‘reasonable interpretation’ of the
enacted text,”" Mayo, 131 5. Ct. al 714
(quoting Chevron, 467 UI.5. at 844).

In response to the NPRM, a number of
arguments have been made challenging
the Board's statutory authority to
promulgate the notice posting rule. As
explained below, the Board does not
find merit in any of these arguments.

1. Limitations on the Board’s
Rulemaking Authority Implied by
Sections 9 and 10 of the Act

Of the comments that address the
Board's statulory authority to issue this
rule, many express agreement with the
dissenting views of Member Hayas that
were published in the NPRM. Member
Hayes criticized the basis [ar the rule
and questioned the Board’s statutory
authority to promulgate and enforce it.
See 75 FR 80415. He specifically
referred to Section 10 as an ohstacle to
the proposed rule, because it
“indicate[d] to [him] that the Board
clearly lacks the authority to order
affirmative notice-posting action in the
absence of an unfair labor practice
charge filed by an outside party."” Id.

Many comments submitted in
rasponse to the NPRM, such as those of
the Texas Association for Home Care &
Hospice and those of the Independent
Bakers Association, interpret Section 10
to prohibit the Board from ordering any
affirmative act thal does not address the
consequences of an unfair labor
practice. Although this proposition may
be true when the Board acts through
adjudication—the administrative
function to which Section 10 directly
applies—it does not perforce apply
when the Board specifies affirmativa
requirements via rulemaking under
Section 6. See Cliftan v. FEC, 114 F.3d
1309, 1312 (1st Cir. 1997) (" Agencies
are alten atlowed through rulemaking to

regulate beyond the express substantive
directives of the statute, 5o long as the
statute is not contradicted.”) (citing
Mourning). If it did, then the Board's
longstanding rule mandating that
employsrs post an election notice three
days before a representation election
would be subject to challenge on that
ground. See 29 CFR 103.20; see also
Pannier Corp., Graphics Div. v. NLRB,
120 F.3d 603, 606-07 (6th Cir. 1997)
(rejecting an as-applied challenge to
§103.20). Furthermora, under American
Hospital Association, tha Board's
exercise of its broad rulemaking
authority under Section 6 is presumed
to be authorized unless elsewhars in the
Act thare is “language sxpressly
describing an exception from that
section or at lsast referring specifically
to the section.” 499 U.5. at 613. Section
10 does nat refer to the Board's Section
6 authority.

Some comments, such as those of the
Coungil on Labar Law Equality
{COLLE), contend that the Board has no
authority whatsosver to administer the
NLRA unless a representation petition
or unfair labior practice charge has been
filad under Sections 9 or 10,
respectively. The Board declines to
adapt such a narrow view of its own
authority. Cerlainly, the Board cannot
issue certifications or unfair labor
practice orders via rulemaking
proceedings. But that is not what this
rule does. As explained above, by
promulgating the nolice-posting rule,
the Board is taking a modest step that
is "'necessary to carry out the
provisions” of the Act, 20 U.5.C. 156,
and that also fills a statutory gap left by
Congress in the NLRA.

Moreaver, the argument advanced by
COLLE and others fails to appraciate
that the Board's authority to administer
the Act is nat strictly limited to those
means specifically set {orth in the
NLRA. Rather, as the Supreme Court has
recognized, the NLRA impliedly
authorizes the Board to take appropriate
measures “to prevent frustration of the
purposes of the Act.” NLAB v. Nash-
Finch Co., 404 11.S. 138, 142 (1971). By
way of example, the Suprerne Court
pointed out that its decisions had
recognized the Board's implied
autharity to petition {or writs of
prohibition against premature
invocation of the review jurisdiction of
the courts of appeals, see In re NLRE,
304 U.S. 486, 496 (1938); to institute
contempt proceedings for violation of
enforced Board orders, see
Amalgamated Util, Workers v. Con.
Edison Co., 309 U.5. 261 (1940); and to
file claims in bankruptcy for Board-
awarded backpay, see Nathanson v.
NLRB, 344 1.5, 25 (1952). Relying on
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that precedent in Nash-Finch Co., the
Supreme Court concluded that the
Board also had implied authority “to
enjoin state action where [the Board's}
federal power preempls the fiald.” 404
U.S. at 144, Like these judicially
recognized powers, the notice-posting
requirement that is the subject of this
rulemaking has not been specifically
provided for by Congress. But the cited
cases demonstrate that Congrass need
not expressly list a power for the Board
to legitimately exercise it. Indead, the
notice-posting requirement is not even
an implied power of the Board in the
same sense as those previously
mentioned, Rather, it is the product of
the Board's exercise of express
rulemaking authority and inherent gap-
filling authority, both of which have
been defegated to tha Board by
Congress.

2. The First Amendment and Section
B(c) of the NLRA

A handful of commenters argue that
the notice-posting requirement violates
the First Amendment to the
Constitution, Section 8(c) of the NLRA,
or both. For example, the Center on
National Labor Palicy, Inc. maintains
that “compelling an employer to post its
proparty with a Notice that asserts the
statutary ‘rights’ and employer
obligations, runs counter to
constitutional views long protected by
the Supreme Court,” The Centar also
argues that the “proposed poster would
impede the employer's statutory right to
axpress ilself on its own property.”
Along these same lines, the National
Right to Waork Legal Defense
Foundation, Inc. and others on whaose
behalf it writes contend that “the
Board's proposal for forced speech
favaring unionization directly conflicts
with the First Amendment and
longstanding federal labor policy under
Section 8{c) that employers and unions
should be able to choose themselves
whal to say about unionization.” These
concerns were echoed by the National
Association of Wholesaler-Distributors.
In addition, two attorneys affiliated with
Pilchak Cohen & Tice, P.C., which they
describe as “'a management-side labor
and employment law firm,” argue that
the notice-posting requirement
"“tramples upon employers’ Free Speech
rights by regutating the content of
informaticn that employers are required
to tell employees and by compelling
them to post the Notice containing pro-
union NLRA rights, when it is almost
assuredly not the employers’ prerogative
ta do so.” The Independent Association
of Bakers goes further and characterizes
the regulation as an unconstitutional
“gag order’” that “prohibits the

employer from telling the truth about
the impact a union might pose fo his
business.” The Board rejects these
arguments.

As an initial matter, requiring a notice
of employee rights to be posted does not
violate the First Amendment, which
protects the freedom of speech. Indeed,
this rule does not involve employer
spaech at all. The government, not the
employer, will produce and supply
posters informing employees of their
legal rights. The government has sole
responsibility for the content of those
posters, and the poster explicitly states
that it is an “official Government
Notice™; nothing in the poster is
attributed to the employer. In fact, an
employer has no obligation beyond
putting up this governmeant poster.
These same considerations were present
in Lake Butler Apparel Co. v. Secretary
of Labor, 518 F.2d 84, 89 (5th Cir. 1975),
where the Fifth Circuit rejected as
“nonsensical” an employer's First
Amendment challenpge to the
Occupational Safety and Health Act
requirement that it post an “information
sign” similar to the one at issue here. As
in Loke Butfer, an employer subject to
the Board’s rule retains the right to
“differ with the wisdom of * * * this
requirement even to the point * * * of
challenging its validity. * * * But the
First Amendment which givas him the
Full right to contest validity to the bitter
end cannot justify his refusal to post a
notice * * * thought to be essential,”
Id.; see also Stockwell Mfg. Co. v. Usery,
536 F.2d 1306, 1309—10 (10th Cir. 1978)
{dicta) (rejecting a constitutional
challenge to a requirement that an
gmployer post a capy of an OSHA
citation).

But even if the Board's notice-posting
requirement is construed to compel
employer speech, the Supreme Court
has recognized that governments have
“gubstantial leeway in determining
appropriate information disclosure
requirements for business
corporations.” Poe, Gas & Elec, Co. v,
Pub, Utils. Comm’n, 475 U.S. 1,15 n.12
{1985). This discretion is particularly
wide when the government requires
information disclosures relevant to the
employment relationship. Thus, as the
D.C. Circuit has observed, "an
employsr’s right to silence is shaeply
constrained in the labor context, and
feaves it subject to a variety of burdens
to post notices of rights and risks."”
UAW-Labor Emplayment & Training
Corp. v. Chao, 325 F.3d 360, 365 (D.C.
Cir. 2003) (UAW v. Chao) (citing Loke
Bufler, 519 F.2d at 89). Accordingly, the
Board's notice-posting requirement is

not susceptible to a First Amendment
challenge.®s

The Board is equally satisfied that the
rule does not violate NLRA Section 8(c),
29 U.8.C. 158{c), which creates a safa
harbor for noncoercive speech in the
unfair labor practice area. Specifically,
Sectian 8(c) shields from unfair labor
practice liability “{tThe expressing of
any views, argument or opinion,”’
provided that “such expression contains
no threat of reprisal or force or promise
of benefit.”” Id. (emphasis added). A
government poster containing accurate,
tactual information about employees’
legal rights "maerely states what the law
requires.” Lake Butler, 519 F.2d at 89,
For that reason, “[tlhe posting of the
notice does not by any stretch of the
imagination veflect ane way or the other
on the views of the employer." {d.45

+ Tho docision of the intermaodiate state court in
Smith v. Fair Employment & Housing Comimnission,
40 Cal. Rptr. 2d 385 {Cal. C1. App. 1594}, rev'd on
other grounds, 913 P.2d 909 (Cal. 1946}, lends no
support ta arguments challonging 1hese reguiations
on First Amondment grounds. There, the California
Court of Appeal held that a landlord's right te
freadam of speech was “implicateld],” id. at 401-
£2, bry a stato fair housing agency's somedial ordos
roquiring har to sign, post, and distribute noticos
“selting out tho provisions af [the nir housing
stalula), the sutcome of thle] case, and the
statemont that [she] practices squal housing
opportunity.” 913 P.2d al 914. Tho Smith caso is
not persuasive hara bocause tha notice at issun in
Smith would not merely have set forth the rights
ol prespectivo buyers or renters but also would
have containod » signod statemont from tho
tondlard which would have givan tho Ffalse
appaarance that she agroed with the state's fair
housing “'coneepts and rutes,” despite her roligious
beliefs 1o tho contrary. 30 Cal. Rpte. 2d a1 401, That
featuse of the case has no paraliel hoea, Hore, by
contrast, employers ars not reguired to sign the
informational natice, and as noted, nothing in the
poster is attributed to thom, Tho Board furlher notos
that the Smith decision is not authoritative because
it was suparsaded by the Cafifornia Supreme
Court’s grant of roview in that case. See 913 P.2d
al916 n.".

45 The Employars Associstion of New [ecsoy i
therefors off the mark whon it arguos that tho
notice-posting roquiremoent is preomptod under tho
principlas of Lodge 75, Infernational Ass'n of
Machinists & Aerospace Workers v. Wiscansin
Employment Relations Comarission, 427 1.5, 132
{1976), a5 an attampt to regulate employer speech
“uhaut unionization and cotlective bargaining.” As
pxplained abave, tho omployer's choice whathar 10
oxpress its owrn viows, argumants, or opinions is
whally unaffected by a raquiroment to past a
government-provided notico summarizing what the
las raquires. Indesd, consistant with both
Muochinists and the policy of Section 8{c] ""lo
ancourage {zeo debate on issuas dividing labor and
managament,” Brown, 554 U.5. al 67 [quoting Linn
v. United Plent Guard Workers, Local 114, 381 U.S.
51, 62 (1966)), employers remain {roe under this
rulp—as thoy have in the past—Ia oxpross
noncoercive viaws regarding the exercise of these
rights as woll as others. See, e.g., United Techs.
Corp., 274 N.L.R.B. 604, 609, 516~-20, 62426
[1985), enforcod sub nom. ML v. Pratt & Whilrey
Air Craft Qiv.v., United Techs, Corp., 789 F.2d 121
{2d Cir. 1986); Warrenshurg Bd. & Paper Corp., 141
N.L.R.D. 298, 398-89 (1961), enforced, 350 F.2d 920
(2d Cir. 1965). For this reason, the Board finds it
unnccessary to adopt the proposal mado by 1he
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But even if the new rule is understood
to compel employer speech, Section 8(c)
*“merely implements the First
Amendment.”” Brown, 554 U.S. at 67
(quoting NLRB v. Gissel Packing Co.,
395 U.5. 575, 817 (1964)). Thus, ifa
First Amendment challenga to tha rule
must fail, so too must a challenge based
on Section 8{c}. Such was the holding
of the B.C. Circuitl in UAW v. Choo.
There, the court was presented with a
presmption argument, grounded in
Section 8(c), challenging a Federal
procurement regulation that required
contractors to post a notice informing
their employees of certain NLRA rights.
The D.C. Circuit interpreted Section B{c}
as coextensive with the scope.of free
speech rights protected by the First
Amendment and upheld the
procurement regulation in light of well-
established free speech jurisprudence in
the labor context. See 325 §.3d at 385.

3. Lack of Contemporaneity With the
Enactment of the NLRA

Several comments attack the notice-
pasting regulation for its lack of
contemporaneity with the enactment of
the NLRA, For exampie, many
comments criticize the regulation by
noting that “this is a new rule
interpreted into the Act 75 years after its
passage.” The Board rejects these
contentions for two reasons.

First, the Supreme Court has
repeatedly “instructed that 'neither
antiquity not contemporaneity with [a]
statute is a condition of [a regulation's]
validity.'” Mayo, 131 5. CL. at 712
(alterations in original) (quoting Smiley
v. Citibank (5.0.), N.A., 517 U.8. 735,
740 (1996)); sec alse Smiley, 517 U.S. at
740 (deferring to a regulation "issued
more than 100 years after the
enactment” of the statutory provision
that the regulation construed). Second,
the argument fails to consider that much
has changed since 1935, the year the
NLRA was enacted. Unionization rates
are one example. As pointed out in the
NPRM and as confirmed by comments
submitted by the Association of
Corporate Counsel’'s Employment and
Labor Law Committes, unionization
rates increased during the sarly years of
the Act, peaking at around 35 percent of
the workforce in the mid-1950s. But
since then, the share of the workforce
represented by labor unions has

Pilchak attarnoys to rovise the rulo to specify that
omployers “'may past o nolico of enual dignity
which advises employees of * * * additional rights
and roalities."” Alternatively, the Pilchak attarneys
propase that the Hoard amend the rule 1o pormit
nmployars to “*abier the Postor and include
additional rights.” Adopting this sugpestion would
campromiso Hue inlogrity of the nolice ns a
communicalion from the gevernment. It, teo, is
therefore rojected.

plummeted to approximately B percent.
As a regult, [ewer employees today have
direct, everyday access to an important
source of information regarding NLRA
rights and the Board's ability to enforce
those rights.

As naoted above, "[t]he responsibility
to adapt the Act to changing patterns of
industrial life is entrusied to the Board.
f. Weingarten, Inc., 420 U.S. at 266. [t
would therefora be an abdication of that
responsibility for the Board to decline to
adopt this rule simply because of its
recent vintage. Accordingly, the Board
[inds such arguments unpersuasive.

4. Comparison With Other Statutes That
Contain Notice-Posting Requirements

Many comments note, as the Board
did in the NPRM, that several other
labor and employment statutes enacted
by Congress contain express notice-
posting provisions. See 75 FR 80411
(listing such statutes). Though a few
such comments, such as these of the
International Brotherhood of Teamsters,
applaud the Board for "fill{ing| this
glaring and indefensible gap,' the bulk
of these comments instead argue that
the lack of a parallel statutary provision
in tha NLRA negates the existence of
Board authority to issue this ruls.

The Board notes that inferences
pleaned from side-by-side comparisons
to other statlutes have diminished force
when an agency uses its gap-filling
authority under Chevron. There are
many possible reasons why Congress
did not include an express notice-
paosting provision in the NLRA.
“Parhaps that body consciously desired
the [agency] to strike the balance at this
level = * *; parhaps it simply did not
consider the question at this level; and
perhaps Congress was unable to forge a
coalition on either side of the question
¥ * « " Chevron, 467 U.S. at 865. But,
“[for judicial purpases, it matters not
which of thesa things occurred.” fd.
Indeed, the central premise behind
Chevron and its progeny is that agencies
should be allowed reasonable latitude to
fill gaps arising from congressienal
silence or ambiguity. Accordingly, “the
contrast batween Congress's mandate in
one context with its silence in another
suggests not & prohibition but simply a
decision not to mandate any solution in
the second context, i.e., to leave the
question to agency discretion.” Cheney
R.R. Co.v. ICC, 902 F.2d 66, G9 {D.C.
Cir. 1990) (labeling the expressio unius
est exclusio alterius canon "an
especiatly feeble helper” in Chevron
cases).

Arguments contrasting the NLRA with
other federal enactments that contain
nolice-posting requirements might have
some persuasive force if there were

evidence that Congress had considered
and rejected inserting such a
requirement into the Act. However,
nothing in the legislative history of the
Act so indicates. Indeed, there is not the
slightest hint that the omission of a
notice-posting requirement was the
product of legislative compromise and
therefore implies congressional rejection
of the idea. Cf. Ind. Prot. & Advocacy
Servs. v. Ind. Family & Soc. Servs.
Admin., 603 F.3d 365, 384—85 (7th Cir.
2010} (en banc) (Pasner, J., concurring)
{inferring a private right of action from
statutory silence in a case where such
silence was not the product of
"legislative compromise”). For these
reasons, the Board rejects the Motor and
Equipment Manufacturers Association's
unsupparted suggastion that there has
been an affirmative “legislative
determination not to include a posting
requirement by employers that have not
violated the Act.”

A number of comments point out that
Congress included a general notice-
posting provision in the Railway Labor
Act (RLA), which predates the NLRA.
Given the relative proximity of these
bwo anactments, some comments regard
the absence of a notice-posting
provision in the NLRA as strong
evidence that Congress did not intend
for there to be one. For reasons just
explained, the Board does not find a
side-by-side comparison with the RLA
availing. [n addition, the Board notes
that although the NLRA and the RLA
share several common features, the
NLRA was not perfectly modeled after
the RLA. See Bhd. of A.H. Trainmen v.
Chi. River & Ind. R.R. Co., 353 U.S. 30,
31 n.2 (1957} (“The relationship of labor
and management in the railroad
industry has developed on a pattern
different from ather industries. The
fundamental premises and principles of
the Railway Labor Act are not the same
as those which form the basis of the
National Labor Relations Act* * *."').

Finally, the Board notes that other
federal departments and agencies have
not understood Conpress's failure to
include an express provision containing
a nolice-posting requiremend in a federal
labor or employment statute as & bar to
such a regulatory requirement. Like the
NLRA, the Fair Labor Standards Act
(FLSA), which was passed in 1938, does
not contain a provision requiring
amiployers to post a notice of pertinent
employee rights. Yet the Department of
Labor adopted a notice requirement now
codified at 29 CFR 516.4. Furthermore,
the Board is unaware of any challenge
to the Labor Department's authority to
promulgate or enforce the FLSA notice
requirement, which has been in effect
for over 60 years. See 14 FR 7516 (Dec.
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16, 1949), promaulgating 29 CFR 516.18,
the predecessor to 29 CFR 516.4.

5. The Teamsters 357 Dectsion

I response to the NPRM, the U.5.
Chamber of Commerce submitted a
comment that questions "how the
proposal can be said to he consistent
with" the Supreme Court's decision in
Lacal 357, International Brotherhood of
Teamsters v. NLRB, 365 UU.5. 667 (1961).
Specilically, the Chamber accuses the
Board of ipnoring the Court's
admaonition in that case warning that
“[wlhere * * * Congress has aimed iis
sanctions only at specific discriminatory
practices, the Board cannot go farther
and establish a broader, more pervasive
regulatory scheme." Id. at 675. The
Chamber reads this statement out of
context.

To undeestand why the Board
disagrees with the Chamber's view,
further explanation of Teamsters 357 is
necessary. In that case, the Supreme
Court rejected the Board's conclusion
that a union had committed an unfair
labor practice by operating an exclusive
hiring hall pursuant to an agreement
that contained a nondiscrimination
clause but not three additional clauses
that the Boarc had previously declared
in its Mountain Pacific decision to be
necessary to prevent ** ‘unlawful
encouragement of union membership.' "
Id. at 671 {guoting Mounlain Pacific
Chapter, 119 NLRB BB3, 897 (1958)).
The Court first noted that Cangress had
examined the operation of hiring halls
and had decided not to ban them. fd. at
673-74. Next, the Court observed that
NLRA Section 8(a)(3) ' 'does not outlaw
all encouragement or discouragemant of
mermbership in labor organizations; only
such as is accomplished by
discrimination is prohibited.' " Id. at
674-75 (emphasis added) (quoting
Radio Officers® Union v. NLAB, 347 U.5.
17, 42-43 (1954)}). Since the hiring hall
agreement at issue in Teamsters 357
“specifically provide(d] that there will
be no discrimination * * * because of
the presence or absence of union
membership,” the Court determined
that the Board was attempting to protect
against nondiscriminatory
encouragement of union membership.
Id. at 675, This was impermissible
because “{w|here * * * Congress has
aimed its sanctions only at specific
discriminatory practices, the Board
cannot go farther and establish a
broader, more parvasive regulatory
scheme." Id. at 676,

Properly understood, Teamsters 357
does not preciude the Board from
issuing the notice posting rule. The
union had not committed an unfair
labor practice in that case because its

hiring hall agreement did not encourage
or discourage union membership by
*discrimination.” See id. at 674~75. By
faulting the union for nol including in
its apreement clauses that the Board's
Mountain Pacific rule had declared
necessary to prevent " ‘unlawlil
ancouragement of union membership,' "
id. at 671 (quoting Mountain Pacific
Chapter, 119 NLRB at 897}, the Board
had attemnpted to regulate hiring halls in
a manner that was [acially inconsistent
with the discrimination requirement
embedded in NLRA Section 8(a){(3] and
(b)(2). Accordingly, the Chamber makes
toe much of the Court's statement
prohibiting the Board from
“establish[ing| a broader, morse
pervasive regulatory scheme' when
“specific discriminatory practices’ have
already been outlawed. Id. at 676. By
that, the Court simply meant to remind
the Board that it may not
administratively amend Section 8(a)(3)
and {b){2) to prohibit nondiscriminatory
activity that might be viewed as
undesirable because those statutory
sections are clearly aimed only at
“specific discriminatory practices.”
Id.se

This rulemaking does nat involve
those provisions of the NLRA that
Teamsters 357 addressed. Accordingly,
the Board does not view that case as
controlling the outcome of this
proceeding.

6. Miscellaneous Matters

The Center on National Labor Policy,
Ine., argues that the Board “must be
mindful of tha Supreme Court's
admonition in Lechmere], fnc./ v. NLRB,
502 U.S. 527, 534 (1992), that an
employer possesses First Amendment
rights to its property.” The Board
disagrees that the property rights
discussed in Lechmere emanate from
the First Amendment, see Thunder
Basin Coal Co. v. Reich, 510 U.5. 200,
217 1,21 (1994) ("“The right of
employers to exclude union organizers
from their private property emanates
from state common law * * *."), and to
the extent that the Center’s reference to
the First Amendment asserts a conflict
between these regulations and
employers’ right to iree speech, that
arguiment is rejected for reasons
explained above. After quoting
extensively from Lechmere, the Center
next contends that "if a union has na
access to company property lo
communicate with employses, neither

46T the extent that tho Board espoused o
conlrary view of Teamnsters 337 in a prior
relemaking procoeding, that view is abandoned. See
Unian Dues Regulation, 537 FR 43815, 41617--18
{Sapi. 22, 1982), withdrawn, 61 FR 11167 (Mar, 19,
1096).

doas the Board without Section 10{c)
authorily.” The Board rejecis this
arsument because it fails to recognize
the important substantive difference
betweer the conduct at issue in
Lechmere, which involved " 'trespassory
organizalional activity' "' by
nonemployees on the employer's
grounds, id. at 535 (quoting Sears,
Roebuck & Co. v. San Diego Dist.
Council of Carpenters, 436 U.5. 180, 205
(1978)), and the regulations here which
involve nothing more than the
employer’s responsibility to post an
official notice of legal rights.

The Portland Cement Association
[PCA) comments that the Board’s failure
ta place the three law review articles

_that tha Boaed cited to the NPRM 47 in
“the administrative docket is arbitrary

and capricious. Although the Board
provided the legal citations for thesse
articles, PCA believes that it should not
have to pay an electronic legal reporting
sarvice to access the material. The Board
has placed these articles in the hard
copy docket, but has not uploaded these
articles to the electronic dockel at
http:/fwww.regulations. gov, because
such an action eould vialate copyright
lawsg. 8

Finally, one comment contends that
requiring employers to set aside wall
space lor posting the notices violates the
Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment
to the U.5. Constitution, The comment
cites no authority for this proposition,
which would seem to invalidate the
notice-posting requirements under afl
other Federal and state workplace
statutes. Accordingly, the Board rejects
this contention.

In conclusion, the Board believe that
it has fully demaonstrated that it
possesses sufficient statulory authority
to enact the final rule, and therefore that
it is not "in excess of statutory
jurisdiction” or “short of statutory
right” within the meaning of the
Administrative Procedure Act, Section
706(2}{C}, 5 U.5.C. 706(2)(C).

C. Factual Support for the Rule

As stated above, the Board {ound that
the notice posting rule is needed
because it believes that many employees
ara unaware of their NLRA rights and
therefore cannot effectively exercise
those rights. The Board based this
finding on several factors: the
comparatively small parcentage of
private sector employees who ars
represented by unions and thus have
ready access to information about the

47 See NPRM, 78 FH 86411 and [n. 3 abovo.

44 The Board haos also placed the ather non-case
malerials cited 1o in this {inal rule into the hard
copy docket.
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NLRA; the high perceniage of
immigrants in the labor force, who are
tikely to be unfamiliar with workplace
rights in the United States; studies
indicating that employees and high
school students about to enter the work
force ara ganerally uninformed shout
labar law; and the absence of a
requirement that, except in very limited
circumstances, employers or anyone
else inform employees about their
NLRA rights. 75 FR 80411,

A large number of comments contend
that the Board failed to demonstrate the
necessity of the notice posting rule.
They challenge each of the premises
(except the last) underlying the Board's
belief that employees are generally
unaware of their NLRA rights.

Many comments assert that, contrary
to the Board's belizf, the right to join a
union is widely known and understood
by employeses. For example:

—1I balieve the majarity of employees know
about labor unions and how to form a
union, and this poster is unnecessary,4®

-~[1]t is hard to imagine thal there are many
in the US who do not know that they can
try lo join a union,

—The fact of the matter is that if a group of
employees are upsel enough with their
current managemeat thal they fzel they
nesd union representation, they already
know what they need to do as a recourse.
And if they do not immediately know how
to respand, there are plenty of resources for
them.5¢

—We, the employees, know the unions exist,
* * * [[ lhe employees wanl io know ahoul
unions, they should research it themsstves.
It is ot as though the information is not
readily evailahle.

Some posit that comparatively few
private sector employees are
represented by uniens not because
employees do not know that they can
join unions, but because they have
consciously rejected union
representation for any number of
reasons (e.g., they do nat believe that
unions can help them; they do not want
to pay union duas; they deem union
representation unnecessary in light of
other workplace protection statutes). For
example:

—Is il not just as probebla that people clearly
understand unjons, and they have decidad
they want no part of them?

—Labor unions charge approximately 1.3%
af pre-tax earnings for monthly dues. Many
workers, especialiy those wha lost thair
good paying jobs during this recession and
have found new jobs at 510.00-511.00 per
hour wages, nesd the dues monay
themselves, in order to support their
families.

* Comment of the Employors Assaciation.
#Comment of Mall-O-Meal Company (Malt-G-
Meal).

—Meimbership is down because so many of
the good things unions fought for a long
time ago have been legislated, at either the
Federal or State level, and so the need for
unions has daclinad. 5!

—[M]ost employess are very aware of their
rights lo unionize and many smployees
chooese not to do so becauss of the rights
they already have under our federal and
state laws.

—In facl, one could say that the NLRA and
other employmenl laws have succeeded to
the degree that unions are NOT necessary
in loday's work eavironment.52

A few comments question the Board's
belief that immigrant warkers are
unfamiliar with their workplace
rights.5* Sevaral comments argue that
the NLRA has been in effect for nearly
76 years, which is sufficient time for
employess to learn about its
provisions.54

A number of comments argue that the
studies cited in the NPRM are from the
late 1980s and early 1980s and are
theraefore out of date %% (and also, some
say, poarly supported}.5% Moreover,
those studies, whatever their value
when published, predate the wide use
of the internet. Now there are many
online sources of information
concerning unions and union
organizing, including the Board's own
Web site, According to these comments,
it should not be necessary to require
employers to post notices of NLRA
rights because employees wha are
interested in learning about unions can
guickly and easily find such
information online.*” One comment,
like some others, argues that “[f il is so
important that employees know their
rights under the NLRBH it should be ths
government or union whase
responsibility it is to inform them.” s8
Two comments suggest that the Board
conduct a mass media informational
campaign to that end, and one notes that
the Board has in fact recently increased

A1 Commont of Tocton Products.

5* Comment of Printing and Imaging Assaciation
of MidAmerica (Printing and Imaging Ass'n).

51 8gg, g.g., camment of the Printing end Imaging
Ass'n.

it See, e.g., commenl of Coalition for a
Democratic Workplaca.

55 See, e.g., comments of Printing industrics of
Amarica and the Portland Coment Association.

5% See, e.g., commants of Cass County Electric
Cooporative and Pilchak Cohon & Tics, P.C,

7 As ono porson states, “The inlernet has long
apn replaced tunch room butletin board postings as
the means by which employees learn of and
exercisn their rights.”

54 Such cammaonts appear le misunderstand that
by this rule, the Board is indeed scoking to inform
emiployaes of the provisiens of the NLRA, using the
maost aceessible venuns ta reach them, thair
warkplaces.

Othar commants quostion why this rule docs not
mandate natice pasting by govarnmentaf employers.
The NLRA does not cover such omployers, See
Soclion 2(2), 29 U.5.C. 152[2).

its public information efforts.s® One
comment urges the Board to conduct a
study to ascertain current emplayees’
level of NLRA knowladge hefore
imposing a notice posting requirament.

In contrast, as discussed in more
detail below, numerous comments from
individuals, union organizers, attorneys
representing unions, and worker
assistance organizations agree with the
Board that most employees are
unfamiliar with their NLRA rights.
Immigrant rights organizations state that
immigrant workers largely do not know
about their rights.

After careful consideration of the
comments on both sides of this issue,
the Board believes that many employees
are unaware of their NLRA rights and
that a notice posting requirement is a
reasonable means of promoting greater
knewledge among employees. To the
extent that employees' general level of
knowledge is uncertain, the Board
believes that the potential benefit of a
notice posting requirement outweighs
the modest cost to employers. Certainly,
the Board has been presented with no
evidence persuasively demonstrating
that knowledge of NLRA rights is
widespread among employees.

The comrments asserting that the right
to join a union is widely known cite
little, if any, support for that assertion.
By contrast, many of the comments
contending that employees are
unfamiliar with their NLRA rights base
their statements on personal experience
or on extensive experience reprasenting
ar otherwise assisting employees. Many
individual workers, cemmenting on the
rule, indicate their personal experiences
with the lack of NLRA knowledge and
concurrent strong support for the rule.
For example:

—TFven thouph most of my coworkers and
supervisors were highly intelligent people,
il is my experience that mosl workers are
almast totally unaware of their rights under
the NLRA.

—HKnowing that thers is a federal agency out
there that will protect the rights of working
people to organiza is essential to tha
exercise of those rights.

—I had no idea that | had the right Lo join
a union, and was olten lold by my
employer that [could not do so, * * * [
think amployers should be requiced Lo post
notices so thal all employess may make an
informed decision about their rights (o join
& union B0

—Workers have righits and they have the
right to know them.&1

—I[Tlhere is a lol of ignorance among young
workers and veteran workers alike with
regard to knowledge of their right to

3 Comment of Fishor & Phillips, LLP.

S0 Comment of Mamber, Local 150, Operating
Enginoers.

Gt Commant of Organizar, IBEW.
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organize, This is not a cure for employer
irtimidation, * = * but it is a step in the
right direction.

—As an employee at will, [ was not awars
of my rights to form a union ar any rights
thal i may have had under lhe NLRA.R?

—! worked in the construction materials
lesting industry for about eight years,
During that time [ had no idea [ had the
right Lo join a union.™

—is a warking class citizen, [ am well aware
of just how rare it is for my fellow workers
to know their rights. For that reason, this
is a rule that is extremely overdue, * * *,

A sampling of comments from labar
attornays, workers' organizations, and
labor organizations is consistent with
these employees’ comments:

~[t is my experience that upwards of 95%
of employees have no idea what their
rights are with respect lo lebar unions,®

—In fact, I have had many employees over
the years tell me that their employers have
told them thal they do not allow unions at
thair workplaca.53

—Warkers loday do not know what their
rights ave under the NLRA. Asa Union
organizer wilh more than 20 years af
pxperienca, withow exceplion, every
worker [ encaunter Lhinks that it is
pecfectly legal fur their smployer to fira
them simply for saying the word union, or
aven 1o speak with other employees at
wark aboul general warking conditions.
The protactions alforded workers to engage
ian protected concerted activity around
workplace issuses is unknown to the
majorily of workers today. 84

-IL is the experience of {Service Employees
International Union (SEIU) Local 615] Lhal
many employses are woefully unaware of
their rights under the NLRA and that that
fack of knowledge innkes employees
vulnerable whaen they desire to address
their wagas and working coaditions with
the employers.t*

—1I have participated in hundreds of
arganizing campaigns involving thousands
of employees. [n my experience, most
people had ne idea what their rights were
to organize or join #nions.tt

Some unions also assert thal even
unienized employees often do not have
a clear understanding of the NLRA. One
union stafl repressntative writes that
“there seems to be a disconnect, most of
our membership does not know a thing
about NLRA." %3 Anpther union steward
comments similarly:

I sew how union members were often
unawara of their rights unless the union

82 Commoent of [nternational Staff Hepresentative,
Steelwaorkars.

I Comment ot Momber, Local 150, Operating
Engineers.

' Commenlt of Organizor, Local 150, Oparating
Enginsgors.

53 Commond of Strokofl asd Cawden.

tComment of Orpaaizer, Teamsters, Local 117,

¥ Comment of SEIU Local 615.

" Cornunant of Financial Secrotary, Local 150,
Gperating Engincers.

49 Commont af S1il Represcalative, Steelworkars,

spucifically did outreach and membar
education, or unless the employee ran inla a
problem and came to a steward {or
assislance. = * *

Notice to employees, howsver, could
provide a starting point for those employess
to Lry 1o assert rights thal they currently have
on paper but aften do nol have in practice.

Several immigrant workers’
organizations camment on the difficulty
that this population has in
understanding their rights and accessing
the proper help when needed.?0 These
organizations note that laws in the
immigrants' home countries may be
quite differsnt from those of the United
States, and the high barrier that lack of
fluency in English creates in making
these persons awara of their rights
under the NLRA.7* These organizations
also contend that because guestworkers
in particular can work only for the
employer that requested their visa, they
are extremely vulnerable to labor
violations, and that these employers
routinely misrepresent the existence of
NLRA rights.”2 The National Day
Laborers Organizing Network claims
that “most workers are not aware of
their right to organize.”

One immigrant construction worker,
commenrting favorably on the propased
rule, explains that she learned English
alter coming to the United States from
Poland: “While working as a testing
technician, I had no idea [ had the right
to join a union.” She writes:

Ithink a government written notice posted
in the waorkplace would be a eritical source
of information for employees who wani lo
join a union, Especially in this industry
whare many peaple like myself are foreign
born, there is a language barrier that adds to
the difficulty in understanding our lagal
rights. [ take povernmenl! posted naotices
ser{’og_?!y and balieve other people do as
weiL"

Significantly, the Board received
numerous comments opposing the rule
precisely because the commenters
beliave that the notice will increase the
level of knowledge about the NLRA on
the part of employess. Specifically, they
predict that the rule will lead to
increased unionization and create
alleged adverse eftects on employers
and the economy generally. For
example, Baker and Baniels LLP
comments that as more employees
become aware of their NLRA rights, they
will file more unfair labor practice

™ See e.g., commenis of National tmmigration

Law Center and Laling Justice.

7' Sge, e.g., commant of Friends of Farmworkers,
Inc.

T2 Cammen! of Alliance of Guestworkers for
Bignily.

71 Comment of lnstrucior, Apprenticeship and
Skill lmprovement Program, Local 150, Operating
Engineers.

charges and elect unions to serve as
their collective-bargaining
representatives. But fear that employees
may exercise their statutory rights is not
a valid reason for not informing them of
their rights.

Moreaver, the NLRA protscts the rigit
to join a union and to refrain from doing
so and the notice so states. In addition,
the NLRA confers and protects other
rights besides the right to join or refrain
trom joining unions. Section 7 provides
that employees have the right *'to engage
in other concarted activities for the
purpose of collective bargaining or other
mutual aid or protectioni.]" Such
protected concerled activities include
concertedly complaining or petitioning
to management concerning their terms
and conditions of employment; 74
concertedly petitioning government
cancerning matters of motual interest in
the workplace; 75 and concertedly
refusing to work under poor working
conditions.”® Few il any of the
comments centending that employess
know about their NLRA rights assert
that employees are aware of the right to
engage in such protecied concerted
activities in the nonunion setting. By
contrast, as shown above, many
comments favoring the rule report that
nonunion employees are espacially
unlikely to be aware of their NLRA
rights.

Although some comments contend
that the articles cited by the Board in
suppori of its belief that employees are
largely unaware of the NLRA rights are
old and inadequately supported,”” they
cite no more recent or better supported
studies to the contrary. In addition, the
percaentage of Lthe private sector
waorkforce represented by unions has
declined from about 12 percent in 1988,
about the time the articles cited in the
NPRM were published, to 8 percent
prasently; 78 thus, to the extent that lack
of contact with unions contributed to
lack of knowledge of NLRA rights 20
years ago, it probably is even more of a
factor today.79

™ North Caroling License Plale Agency #18, 146
MLRB 293 [2006), onl’d. 243 F. Appx. 771 [41h Cir.
2007) {unpublishod).

*5 Eaglex, Inc. v. NLASR, abovae, 437 U.5. at 565-
5G67.

TENLIAR v, Washington Aluminum Ce., 170 1.5,
9, 14 {1662).

77 Sez camment of Cass Counly Eloctric
Cooparative. For oxamplo, Professor Mogris, author
of two of the articlos cited by the Bonsd {as “'soe
alsn”) listed no authority lo support his assertion
that employees lack knowledgo aboul the NLRA.
See Charlos |. Morris, * Renceissance af the NLRtE,"”
above at {n. 3; Morris, ""NLRT Prolection in the
Nenunion Workplece,” above at n. 3.

74 Sce DaChiara, “Tho Right 1a Know," above at
fn. 1; 75 FR H9411 [n. 4.

7#The Prinling and Imaging Association
discussed theso declining rates of unionization, and
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In support of their contention that
NLRA rights are widely known among
employees, several comments observe
that the Board's processes for holding
representation elections and
investigating and remedying unfair
labor practices are invoked tens of
thousands of time a year.8¢ That is true.
However, the civilian work foree
includes some 108 million workers
potentially subject to the NLRA.Bt Thus,
the number of employees who invoke
the Board's processes make up only a
small percentage of the covered
workforce. Aceordingly, the Board does
not consider the number of times the
Board's processes are invoked to be
persuasive evidence that workers
generally are aware of their NLRA
rights.

Finally, remarks in multiple opposing
comments stroapgly suggest that the
commenters themselves do not
understand the basic provisions of the
NLRA:

—II'my employees want to join 8 union they
need to took for a job in a union
company.d?

—I[a]nytime one of aur independent
tradesmen would like to join the union
they are free to apply and be hired by a
union contractor.

—I[{a person 50 desires to be employed by
a union company, they should take their
ass to a union company and apply fora
unian job,

—Belonging to a union is a privilege and a
preference—not a right.B

—If they don't like the way [ treal tham, then
go get another job. That is what capilalism
is about. &

cited Prafessor Kato Bronfohbrennar's doctoral
dissartation, " Soeds of Resurgence: Successfud
Urion Strategies for Winning Certification Eloctions
and First Contracts in the 19505 and Beyoad,”
{availablo at hutp://digitalcommons.ifr.cornell.edu/
cgifvisweontent.cgifarticle= 10026 context=reports6
sei-radir=1#search="Kata+Bronfenbrenner,
+Uneasy+tarrain:+ The+
impoctofteapitolvmobilityrons
warkers, +wages, +and+union') to argue that the
higher win rates for unions in elections invelving
both immigrant and older workers argued against
tho necd far the proposed rula.

Tho Board is not addressing the many debatod
causes of the daclining rates of privato sactor
unionization in the Uniled Stales. This rute simply
accopls those rates as given, and seeks to increaso
tho knowlodge of NLRA provisions nmong thoso
without readily available sources of reliable
information on these provisions.

"0 Sge, g, commont of Dosert Terrace Healthcare
Cenler,

At Sge Burenu of Labor Statislics, Economic News
Relensa, Table B-1, “Employees on nanlarm
payrolls by industry soctor and selectod indusiry
detail,” May 3, 2011 [seasenaily adjusted data for
March 201%) http://data.bls.gov/timeserios
LNS113000007yvears_option=specific_years
ginclude graphs=trug&to_yeor=2010
Efrom_year=1944 {last visitod June 6, 2011).

vz Commont of P & L Fieo Peatection, [nc.

" Comment af OKC Toea Party,

i Camment of Montana Records Management,
L.

—We are nol anti-union; but feei as
Americans, we must prolect our right not
to be signatory to a third party in our
business.ns

—if one desires to be a part of a union, he
or she is free to apply to those companies
that operate with that form of
relationship.2»

—I also believe employees already have such
netice by understanding they vetain the
right to change employers whenaver they
so choose.n?

These comments reinforce the Board's
beliaf that, in addition to informing
employees of their NLRA rights so that
they may better exercise those rights,
posting the notice may have the
heneficial side effect of informing
employers concerning the NLRA's
requirements.bs

As to the contention that information
concerning unions is widely available
on the internet, including on the Doard's
Web site, the Board responds that not all
employees have ready access to the
internet. Mareovar, it is reasonable o
assume that an employes who has no
iclea that he or she has a right to join a
union, attempt fo organize his
employer's workforce, or engage in
other protected concerted activilies,
would be less likely to sesk such
information than one who is aware of
such rights and wants to learn more
about them. The Board is pleased that
it has received a large number of
inquiries at its Web site seeking
information concerning NLRA rights,
but it is under no illusion that that
information will reach more than a
small fraction of the workforce in the
foreseeable future.

Several comments assert that, in any
event, requiring the posting of notices

S Comment of Humphrey & Associates, Inc.

86 Comment of Madina Excavating, Inc.

V7 Comment of Olsen Tool & Plastics, Co.

8 And as ono union official writes:

Having Lbsen aclive in labor calationg [or 30 years
I can assuro you that both empioyees and smployers
are confused about thoir raspactive rights under the
NLRA. Even union officers often do not understand
thair righis. Members and non-memhers rarely
understand thair rights. Olton labor managoment
disputes arise because one or both sides are mis-
informad about theis rights. Often the smployer
takes an action it truly beliavos is within its rights
whan il is not,

Commeat of Civil Service Employees Association.

¥ Thus, the many comments that assert thal
employoes can just use Internet seazch angines to
find out aboul wninns (s, #.2.. comments of
Winseda Corp. Homestoad Village, Ine.),
misapprohend tho breadth of the rights of which the
Honrd secks 10 apprise all omployoes. As stated
above, Section 7 is nol moroly about the right 1o join
or rafrain from jaining a Jabor organizatian, but
more broadly pratects the right of employeas to
cngage in "concerled activities” for tha purpose of
"mulual aid or protection.” it s this right thal is
the most misunderstood and simply not subjoect 1o
an cosy [nternot search by employees who may have
na idea of what terms to use, or even thal such a
right might be protocied at all.

will not be effective in informing
employees of their rights, because
employees will simply ignore the
notices, as the comments contend they
ignore other workplace postings.
"'Posters are an ineffective means of
educating workers and are rarely read
by employees.” %0 Other comments
argue that adding one more notice to the
many that are already mandated under
ather statutes will simply create more
“visual clutter” that contributes to
employees' disinclination to pay
attention to posted notices. As one
employer stated, "My bulletin boards
are filled with required notifications
that nobody reads. In the past 15 years,
not ane of our 200 employees has ever
asked about any of these required
postings, [ have never seen anyone ever .
read one of them.” " Anather wruote,
“Employers are already required to post
50 many notices that these notices have
lost any semblance of effectiveness as a
governmental communication channel.”

To these comments, the Board
responds that the experiences of the
commenters is apparently not univarsal;
other comments cited abave conlend
that employees are more knowledgeable
about their rights under statutes
requiring the posting of notices
summarizing those rights than about
their NLRA rights. Moreover, not every
employee has to read workplace notices
for those notices to be effective. [f only
one employee of a particular employer
reads the Board's notice and conveys
what he or she has read to the other
employses, that may be enough to pique
their interest in learning more about
their NLRA rights. In addition, the
Board is mandating electronic natice to
emplayees on an internet or intranet
site, when the employer customarily
communicates with its employees about
personael rules or policies in that way,
in order to reach those who read paper
notices and those who read electronic
postings. As for the comment that
argues that tha Board can use public
service announcements or advertising to
reach employess, the Board believes
that it makes much more sense to seek
to reach directly the persuns to whom
the Act applies, in the location wherse
they are most likely to hear about their
other employment rights, the
workplage.#2

it Comment of Rivarbend Cammunity Montal
Health.

1 Commaent of Farmers Couperative Compress.

vz Printing [ndusteies of Americe uses clection
tlatn to argue that the Labor Department’s notice
pasting rele far Fodaral contractors has not boen
effective becouse the rate of elections has not
incrossed. i is wncloar whothor any meaningful
coaclusion can bo drawn from elaction data for only

Continuail
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Some comments argue that the
Board's notice posting rule does not go
{far enough to elfectuate the NLRA. One
labor attorney argues that the Board
should require annual trainings for
supervisors and captive audiance
meetings where employses are read
their rights by supervisors and Board
agants and the employees would hava to
acknowledge receiving those notices.®?
The same comment suggests banning
captive audience meetings by
employers. The comment concludes that
the NFRM “‘doesn't go anywhere near
far enough. It is, however, an important
and worthwhile advancement,” 94
Another comment also suggests that
annual, manclatory training classes for
employees would be desirable.®s The
Board beligves that this Rule strikes the
peoper balance in communicating
necessary information about the NLRA
to employees,

For all the foregoing reasons, the
Board is persuadad that many private
sector employees are unaware of their
NLRA rights. b6

HIi. Summary of Final Rule and
Discussion ol Related Comments

The Board's rule, which requires
employers subject to the NLRA to post
natices of employes rights under the
NLRA, will be set forth in Chapter 1,
Part 104 of Volume 29 of the Coda of
Federal Regulations (CFR). Subpart A of
the rule sels cut definitions; prescribes
the size, form, and content of the
employee notice; and lists the categories
of employers that are not covered by the
rule. Subpart B sets out standards and

a few months, aspeeiatly since the number of
cantractars coverad by the Labor Departmont's rulo
is only a small fraction of tho number of employers
subject ta the NLRA, in any cvent, tho Board does
not beliove thal thal is the proper criterfon by
which la measure the rule's cffoctivenass. The
parpose of requiring tha posting of such noticos is
ta inform employces of their rights so that thoy may
sxarcise tham more affectively, not to chiain any
particular result such as the filing of more election
potitions,

The same comment also cites a couple of
textbooks which it assarts are popularly uscd in
high schools today to argue that labor history is
being taught to today's studants. The Baard is
unable 1o assess the trulh of that assoriion, but
ruaardless, it is unclear whother studonls
nocessarily connect Lhis history to their future
rishis as employoos,

#1Comment of Weinberg, Roger & Rosenfold.

4 l’d.

% Cpmment of Staff Representative, Sieelworkers.

% Aceordingly, the Beard finds it eancrossary to
conduct a study to determing the axtonl of
employees” know ledge of NLRA rights, Tho Board
further ohserves that even ifoaly 10 percent of
workers were unaware of those rights, that would
still meun that more than 10 millios warkers fackad
knowledge of one of their most basic workplace
rights. ‘The Board bolioves thal thers is o questian
that at Jeast a similar perceniago of omployess are
unawire of the rights explained in the notice. In the
Board's viow, that justifios issuing the rule.

procedures related to allegations of
noncompliance and enforcement of the
rule, The discussion below is organized
in the saime mannar and explains the
Board's reasoning in adopting the
standards and procedures contained in
the regulatory text, including the
Board's responses to the comments
raceived.

Subpart A—Definitions, Requirements
for Employee Notice, and Exceplions
From Coverage Definitions

A. The Definitions

For the most part, the definitions
proposed in the rule are taken from
those appearing in Section 2 of the
NLRA, 29 [J.5.C. 152. No comments
were received concerning those
definitions, and they are unchanged in
the final rule. A number of commants
were received concerning the definition
of other terms appearing in the rule.
Those comments are addressed below.

B. Requirements for Employee Notice

1. Content Requirements

The notice contains a summary of
employee rights established under the
NLRA. As explained above, the Board
believes that requiring notice of
employee rights is necessary to carry out
the provisions of the NLRA.
Accordingly, § 104.202 of the proposed
rule requires employers subject to the
NLRA la post and maintain the natice
in conspicuous places, including all
places where notices to employees are
customarily posted, and to take
reasonable steps to ensure that the
notices are not altered, defaced, or
cavered by any other material, or
otherwise rendered unreadable.

As stated in the NPRM, the Board
considered the substantive content and
level of detail the notice should contain
regarding NLRA rights. In arriving at the
content of the notice of employee rights,
the Board proposed to adopt the
language of the Department of Labor's
final rule requiring Federal contractors
to post notices of employees’ NLRA
rights. 28 CFR part 471. In the NPRM,
the Board explained that it lentatively
agreed with the Department of Labor
that neither quoting the statement of
employee rights contained in Section 7
of the NLRA nor briefly summarizing
those rights in the notice would be
likely 1o effectively inform employees of
their rights, Rather, the language of the
notice should include s more detailad
description of employee rights derived
from Board and court decisions
implementing those rights. The Board
also stated that it saw merit in the
Department of Labor's judgment that
including in the notice examples, again

derived from Board and court decisions,
of conduct that violates the NLRA will
assist employees in understanding their
rights. 75 FR 80412.

Priar to issuing the NPRM, the Board
carefully reviewed the content of the
notice required under the Department of
Labor's final rute, which was modified
in response to comments from
numerous sources, and tentatively
concluded that that notice explains
employee rights accurately and
effectively without going into excessive
or confusing detail. The Board therefore
found it unnecessary, for purposes of
the proposed rulemaking, to modify the
language of the notice in the Department
of Labor's final rule. Moreover, the
Board reasoned that because the notice
of employee rights would be the same
under the Board's proposed rule as
under the Department of Labor's rule,
Federal contractors that have posted the
Department of Labor's required notice
would have complied with the Board's
rule and, so long as that notice is
posted, would not have to post a second
notice, Id,

The proposed notice contained
examples of general circumstances that
constitute violations of employee rights
under the NLRA. Thus, the Board
proposed a notice that provided
employees with more than a
rudimentary overview of their rights
under the NLRA, in a user-friendly
format, while simultaneously not
overwhelming employess with
information that is unnecessary and
distracting in the limited format of a
notice. As explained below, the Board
also tentatively agreed with the
Department of Labor that it is
unnecessary for the notice to include
specifically the right of employees wha
are not union members and who are
covered by a contractual union-security
clauss to refuse to pay union dues and
fees for any purpose other than
collective bargaining, contract
administration, or grievance adjustment.
See Communications Workers v. Beck,
487 U.S. 735 (1988). Id. at 80412-80413.

The Board specifically invited
comment on the statement of employes
rights proposed for inclusion in the
required natice to employees. In
particular, the Board requested
comment on whether the notice
contains sufficient information of
employee rights under the NLRA;
whether it effectively conveys that
information to employees; and whether
it achieves the desired balance between
providing an overview of employee
rights under the Act and limiting
unnecessary and distracting
information. Id. at 80413,
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The proposed Appendix to Subpart A
included Board contact information and
basic enlorcement procedures to enable
employees to learn more aboul their
NLRA rights and how to anforce them.
Thus, the required notice confirmed that
unlawful conduct will not be permitted,
provided information about the Board
and about filing a charge with the
Board, and stated that the Board will
prosecute violators of the NLRA. The
notice also indicated that there is a 8-
month statute of limitations for filing
charges with the Board alleging
violations and provided Board contact
information. The Board invited
suggested additions or deletions to these
provisions that would improve the
content of the notice of employee rights.
Id.

The content of the proposed notice
received more comments than any other
single lopic in the proposed rule. But of
the thousands of comments that address
the content of the notice, the majority
are either very general, or identical or
nearly identical form letters or
"*postcard” comments sent in response
to comment initiatives by various
interest groups, including those
representing employers, unions, and
employee rights organizations. Many
comments [rom both individuals and
organizations offer general support for
the content of the proposed natice,
stating that employee awareness of basic
legal rights will promote a fair and fust
workplace, improve employee morale,
and foster workforce stability, among
other henefits.9? More specifically, one
comment asserts that the proposad
notice “contains an accurate,
understandable and balanced
prasentation of rights.” 9% The United
Transportation Union contends that the
"“natice presents an understandable,
concise and extremely informative
recitation of warkers' rights, without
petting bogged down in extraneous
fanguage, incomprehensible lagalese or
innumerable caveals and exceptions.”

Other comments were less supportive
of the content of the praposed notice
and the notice-posting requirement in
general. A significant number of
commants, including those from many
individuals, employers, and employer
industry and interest groups, argue that
the content of the notice is not balanced,
and appears to promote unionization
instead of employee freedom of
assaciation. In particular, many
comments state that Section 7 of the

"7 Spe commaents of the National immigration Law
Center, Service Employees Intoraational Union, and
Whoinborg, Rogor & Rosenfeld.

" Gomment of David Fusco, a labor and
emgloymont attornoy,

NLRA includes the right to refrain from
unijon activity, but claim that this right
is given little attention in comparison to
other rights in the proposed notice,
Several comments also argue that the
proposed notice excludes rights
associated with an anti-union pasition,
including the right to seek
decertification of a bargaining
representative, the right to abstain from
union mambership in “right-to-work”
states, anxl rights associated with the
Supreme Court's decision in
Communications Workers v. Beck.9?
Comments also suggest that the notice
should include a warning to employees
that unionizing will result in a loss of
the right to negatiate directly with their
smployer.1U Many of these comments
argue that a neutral government position
on unionization would be more
inclusive of anti-union rights, 101

A number of comments address the
issue of complexity, and argue that the
Board's aitempt to summarize the law is
flawed because the Board's decisional
law is too complex to condense into a
single workplace notice.192 Some of the
comments addressing this issue note
tiat NLRA law has been developed over
75 years, and involves interpretations by
both the NLRB and the Federal courts,
sometimes with conflicting results. The
Chamber of Commerce cites the
*NLRB's Basic Guide to the National
Labor Relations Act: General Principles
af Law Under the Statute and
Procedures of the National Labar
Relations Board” [Basic Guide to the
NLRA} (1997), available at http://
wivw.nlrb.gov/publications/brochures,
to make their point about legal
complexity. in the Foreword to the
Basic Guide to the NLRA, the Board's
General Counsel states that “[a]ny effort
to state basic principles of lawina
simple way is a challenging and
unenviable task. This is especially true
about labor law, a relatively complex
field of law.” The thrust of these
comments about legal complexity was
that the NLRA is complex, dynamic,
and nuanced, and any attempt to
summarize it in a workplace notice will
result in an oversimplification of the
law and lead to confusion,
misundarstanding, inconsistencies, and
some say, heightened labor-management
antagonism. Moreover, some commenlts
express concern that Board member
turnover could result in changes Lo the

W Sge eomments of Pilchak, Cohen & Tice,
Ameorican Trucking Association, and Electrical and
Mechanical Systems [ne.

10 Spg, g8, camment of the Heritage Foundation,

10t Sea, 0.8, comment of Lhe National Right to
Work Commilies.

Wi Spe, p.g., commoni of COLLE, Retail Industry
Leaders Association.

law, which may raquire frequent
updates to the notice.102

Many comments suggest that the
required notice should include only the
specific rights contained in Section 7 of
the NLRA or, at most, the rights and
obligations stated in employes
advisories on tha NLRB's Weh site. The
comments favoring a more general
notice supgast that the detailed list of
rights far exceeds the “short and plain”
description of rights that the Board has
found sufficient to *‘clearly and
effectively inform employees of theic
rights under the Act' in unfair labar
practice cases.'0 See [shikawa Gasket
America, Ine,, 337 NLRB 175 (2001),
enfd, 354 F.3d 534 (6th Cir, 2004), A

“comment from Fisher & Phillips LLP

argues that, under the Board's current
remedial practices, only an employer
that egregiously vielates the Act on
numerous oceasions is required to post
such an inclusive list of rights,

Finally, a number of comments
suggest that the notice should include a
list of employer rights, namely the right
to distribute anti-union literature and
the right to discuss the company's
posifion regarding unions.

In addition to the general comments
about the proposed notice, many
comments ofter suggestions for specific
revisions te individual provisions
within the five sections of the proposed
notice: the introduction, the statement
of affirmative rights, the examples of
unlawful conduct, the collective-
bargaining provision, and the coverage
information. The following discussion
presents the comments related to
individual provisions of the notice,
followed by the Board's decisions
regarding the content of the final nolice
made in response to those comments.

a. Comments Regarding the Introduction

The introduction to the notice of
rights in the proposed rule stated:

The National Labor Relations Act (NLRA)
guarantess the right of employees to organize
and bargain collectively with their
employers, and to engage in other pratectad
conceried activity. Employess coverad by tha
NLRB are protecled [rom certain types of
employer and union misconducl. This Notice
gives you general information about your
righls, and aboul the obligations of smployars
under Lhe NLRA. Contact the National Labor
Relations Board (NLRBJ, the Faderal agency
that investipates and resolves complaints
under the NLRA, using the conlact
informalion supplied below, if you have any
quastions aboul specific rights that may
apply in your particular workplace.

193 Spe comment of Capital Associated Industries,
[nc. and National Associstion of Manufacturers.

11 Seg g.g. comments af COLLE and Coalition for
u Domoeratic Warkplace.
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75 FR 80418-80419 (footnote omitled).

The Board received a few suggestions
for changes to the introduction of the
notice. The first comment suggests
including language stating that
employees are required to contact their
“executive manager'” or “administrative
team™ before contacting the NLRB and
suggests that the NLRB refuse to process
employeas’ complainis until the
employees first raise the issue with his
or her “management team."” The second
comment, from COLLE, urges the Board
to add language ir the intraduction
alerting employees that they also have
the right to refrain from engaging in
union activity. The comment suggests
that by not including the right to refrain
from union activity in the introduction,
the Board is showing a bias toward
union oeganizing. The comment argues
that a more neutral notice wouli
include both the right to engage and not
engage in union activity at the
beginning of the document, rather than
wait to first mention the right to refrain
in the affirmative rights section.

The Board does not agres with the
propesal that employeas ba required to
contact management officials as a
prerequisite to contacting the Board,
Such a procedural requirement is not
contemplated in the NLRA and could

. discourage employees from exercising
or vindicating their rights.

‘The Board agrees, howsver, that the
introduction should include both the
rights to engage in union and other
concertec activity and the right to
refrain from doing so. The Board
believes that adding ths right to refrain
to the introduction will aid in the
Hoard's approach to present a balanced
and neutral statement of rights.
Accordingly, the first sentence in the
introduction to the notice in the final
rule will state:

The Nalional Labor Relalions Act (NLRA)
guarantees the right of employess to organize
and bargaia collectively with thair
employers, and to engage in olher protected
concerted activily or to refrain from engaging
in any of the above activily.

b. Comments Regarding Affirmative
Statement of Rights

The proposed notice contains the
following statement of affirmative
rights: Under the NLRA, you have the
right to:

QOrganiza a union io negotiate with your
employsr concerning your wages, houss, and
clher torms and conditions of employment.

Form, join or assist 2 union.

Bargain collectively through
representatives of employees’ own choosing
for a contract with your employer setting
your wages, bensfits, hours, and other
working canditions.

Discuss your lerms and conditions of
employment or union organizing with your
co-workers or a unian.

Take action with one or more co-workers
ta improve your working conditions by,
among other means, raising work-related
complaints directly with your employer or
with a governmant agency, and seeking help
from a union.

Strike and picket, depending on the
purposa or means of the sirike or the
picketing,

Chouose nol te do any of these activities,
including joining or remaining a member of
a unionm.

75 FR 80419,

The majority of comments addressing
the affirmative rights section were
ganeral and did not specifically address
the language of the individual
provisions. Generally, labor
organizations and employse advocate
groups favor the Board's language. A
comment from the United Food and
Commercial Workers [nternational
Union asserts that the approach
“achieves an appropriate balance
between providing sufficiently clear
information about employee's basic
statutory rights and limiting
unnecessary and confusing information
about peripheral rights.”” On the other
hand, comments {rom employer groups
do not favor the Board's language. Mare
specifically, employer groups argue that
the notice is biased toward union
organizing. Generally, the comments
argue that the right to refrain from
engaging in union activity should have
a more prominent place on the notice,
rather than being the last of the rights
tisted on the poster. Many of these
comments contend that the notice
should include the right not to engage
in specific union-related activities.

Other commeats about the notice's
statement of affirmative rights are
directed at individual provisions of the
notice. A discussion of those comments
is set out in more detail below,

i. The Right To Organize and the Right
Ta Form, Join and Assist a Union

A few comments generalty state that
the notice should include the
cansequences of exercising the right to
organize, join or form a union.193 For
example, several comments argue that
employees should be informed that if
they join a union they give up the right
to deal directly with their employers.
Another comment argues that
employees should be informed of the
cost of organizing a union, including the
cost of dues and the patential for the
company to shut down because of
increasac labar costs associated with a
unionized workforce. Other comments

s Spg, .., comment of Pilchak Cohes & Tige.

suggest including language informing
employees that they can be fired for not
paying their union dues.

The Board rejects those suggestions.
The notice is intended to inform
employees of the rights that they have
under the NLRA and does not include
the benefils or consequences of
exercising any of the enumerated rights.
Adding the consequences of one right
would require revising the entire notice
to include potential consequences——
both positive and negative—of alt the
protected rights. For example, the notice
would need to include the
consequences of refraining from joining
a uniorn, such as not being permitted to
vole on contract ratifications or attend
union membership meetings. The
necessary additions to the notice would
create a notice that is not a concise list
of rights, but more likely a pamphlel-
sized list of rights and explanations. In
addition, the consequences of
unionization are unique to each
unionized workplace, so it would be
impossible to include a list of general
consequences that could apply
uniformly to all uniorized workplaces.
If employees have questions about the
implications of any of their rights, they
can contact an NLRB regional office.

Assisted Living Federation of America
(ALFA) suggests that the affirmative
rights section should be revised to
reflect the anti-union position. For
example, rather than the current
pravision that states that employees
have a right to “{o]rganize a union to
negotiate with your employer
concerning your wages, hours, and other
terms and conditions of employment,”
the comment suggests the following
provision: “you have the right to
organize with other employees in
opposition to a particular union or
unions,” And “you have the right to:
refuse to form, join, or assist a union,
including the right to refuse to sign a
union card, attend a union meeting or
supply a union with information
concerning you, your co-worker or your
job," rather than "[you have the right tof
[florm, join or assist a unien.” The
Board disagrees. The Board's proposed
notice languags reflects the language of
the NLRA itself, which specifically
grants afficmative rights, including
nearly all of those listed in the notice.
Also, the notice, like the NLRA, states
that employees have the right to refrain
from engaging in all of the listed
activities. The Board therefore sees no
need to recast the notice to further
emphasize the right to oppose unions.

ii. The Right To Bargain Collectivaly

Two comments suggest that the
collective-bargaining provision is
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misleading and vague. The [irst
comment, from COLLE, argues that the
provision is misleading because it fails
to acknowledge that an employer doas
not have an obligation undar the NLRA
to consent io the establishment of a
collective-bargaining agreement, but
instearl only has the statutory duty to
“meet at reasonable times and confer in
aood faith with respect to wages, hours,
and other terms and conditions of
employment.” 20 [1.5.C. 158(d). The
comment also argues that the failure io
reach an agreement is not per se
unlawful, and the finding of an unfair
labor practice depends on whather tha
parties engaged in good-faith bargaining.
This comment suggests that the notice
should instead note that the NLEA
requires partias to bargain in good faith
but does not compel agreement or the
making of concessions, and that, in
some instances, a bargaining impasse
will result, permitting the parties to
exercise their economic weapons, such
as strikes or lockouts. The second
comment, made generally by more than
a [ew organizations and individuals,
suggests that the notice add a statement
indicating that employers and unicns
have an obligation to bargain in good
faith,

The Board Finds it unnecessary to add
the suggesled amplifications. For one
thing, the notice daoes state that
employers and unions have a duty to
bargain in good faith, “in a genuine
effort to reach a written, binding
agreement setting your terms ancl
conditions of employment.” In the
Board's view, the statement that the
parties must make a “genuine effort” to
reach agreement necessarily implies that
they are not, in the end, required to
reach one. The Board deerns the notice
language to be adequate on this point.
Finally, for the reasons already
discussed, the Board rejects the
contention that the notice should
discugs the implications or
consequences of unsuccessful
bargaining.

iii. The Right To Discuss With Co-
Waorkers or Union

A comment from the National
[mmigration Law Center suggests that
the use of the phrase *terms and
conditions of employment'" is unciear
especially to employees who are
unawara of their rights under the NLRA.
The commenl recommends that, in
order to clarily, the Board add the
phrase “including wages and benefits.”
The suggested language would read,
“you have the right to: discuss your
terms and conditions of employment,
including wages and benefits, or union

organizing with your co-workers or a
union."”

The Board agrees that adding the
suggested language would clarify the
provision. The list of affirmative rights
uses the terms "wages, hours, and other
terms and conditions of employment” to
describe what unions may negotiate.
The notice then uses the terms "wages,
benefits, hours, and other working
conditions to describe the right to
barzgain callectively for a contract. Those
statements make it clear that "“terms and
conditions of employment” includes
wages and benefits. Bul then
immaediately following those two
statements, the notice states that
employses may discuss “terms and
conditions of employment,” but does
not include any clarifying language. [n
orcder, to create a more uniform notice
and clarify the extent to which
employees may discuss their terms and
conditions of employment the final
notice will read, ' Under the NLRA, you
have a right to: Discuss your wages and
benefits and other terms and conditions
of employment or union organizing with
your ca-workers or a union.”

iv. The Right To Strike and Picket

The notice's reference to the right to
strike and picket received a few
comments from law firms and other
arganizations representing employers’
interests. The comments suggest that the
provision is flawed because of the
absence of further limitations,
exceptions, and distinctions,108
Generally, the comments argue that not
all strikes and pickets are protected.
COLLE argues that the notice should
inform employees of the timilations of
strikes encompassed by '"depending on
the purpose or means of the strike or
pickets'—for example, whether the
strike is [or recognition or bargaining,
whether the strike has a secondary
purpose, whether pickeling involves a
reserved gate, whether the strike is a sit-
down or minority strike, whether the
conduct is a slowdown and not a full
withholding of work, whather the strike
is partial or intermittent, whether the
strike involves violence, and whethar
the strike is an unfair labar practice
strike or an economic strike. ALFA
argues that employees should be
informed that if the employar is a
healthcare institution, "employaes do
not have the right to participate in a
union-initiated strike or pickel unless
the union has provided the emplayer
and federal and state mediation agencies
with the required 10 days notice.”

i Spp commonts of ALFA. Carrellien Health and
Rehakilitntian Center, and COLLE,

The Board disagrees. By necessity, an
11x17-inch notice cannot contain an
exhaustive list of limitations on and
exceptions to the rights to strike and
picket, as suggested by employers.
However, because exercising the right to
strike can significantly affect the
livelihood of employses, the Board
considers it impartant to alert
employees that there are some
limitations to exercising this right. The
Board is satisfied that the peneral
caveat, “depending on the purpose or
means of the strike or the picketing,”
together with the instruction to contact
the NLRB with specific questions about
the application of rights in certain
situations, provides sufficient guidance
to employees abput the exercise of their
rights while still staying within the
constraints set by a necessarily brief
employee natice.

v. The Right To Refrain From Union or
Other Protected Concerted Activity

All the comments that discuss the
right ta refrain from engaging in union
activity criticize what they contend to
be its lack of prominence. ALFA accuses
the Board of "burying” the provision by
placing it last, below the other rights to
engage in union and other concarted
activity. The U.5. Chamber of
Comrmerce stggests that the notice
include “or not" after each of the
enumerated rights. For example, "“you
have the right to; form join or assist a
union, or not.”’ (Emphasis added.} Other
suggesied revisions to amplify the
prominence of the provision include
stating that employees have the right to
refrain from protected, concerted
agtivities and/or union activities; stating
that employees’ right to refrain includes
the right to actively opposs
unionization, to not sign union
authorization cards, to request a secret
ballot election, to not be a member of a
union or pay dues or fees (addressed
further befow), or to decertify a union
(also addressed below); and stating that
employees have the right to be fairly
represented even if not a member of the
union, One employer suggests that il the
notice retains its current emphasis
favoring union activity and disfavoring
the freedom to refrain from such
activity, employers will need to post
their own notices that smphasize and
elaborate on the right to refrain.

The Board received at least four
comments that argue that the notice, as
written, may make employees believe
that the employer is encouraging
unionization. Two of those comments
suggest that an employer is protected
from compelled speech by Section 8(c)
of the NLRA. (tThe Board has already
rejected the latter argument; see section
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Il, subsection B, 'Statulory Authority,”
above.)

The contention that the right to
refrain from engaging in union activity
is “buried” in the list of other
affirmative rights or that the Board is
biased in favor of unionization because
of the choice of placement is without
merit. The list of rights in the proposed
natice is patterned after the list of rights
in Section 7 of the NLRA, 29 U.5.C. 157,
Section 7 lists the right to refrain last,
after stating several other affirmative
cights before it. In addition, the Board’s
remedial notices list the right to refrain
last. See [shikawa Gasket America, Inc.,
above. So does the Buard's Notice of
Election. [n addition, the notice
required by this rule states that it is
illegal for an employer to take adverse
action against an employee “because
{the ernployee] choosels] not to engage
in any such funion-related| activity.”
The Board has revised the introduction
of the nolice to include the right to
refrain—this addition further highlights
an employee's right to refrain from
union activily. Finally, the Board
believes that people understand a right
as different from an obligation and thus
will, for example, understand that the
right to organize a union includes the
right not to do so. Accordingly, the
Board concludes that the notice
sufficiently acdresses the right to refrain
among the list of statutory rights. In
addressing the numerous comments
questioning the Board's nautrality, the
Board points out that in Section 1 of the
NLRA, Congress declared that it is the
pelicy of the United States to mitigate
or eliminate obsiructions to the free
flow of commaerce “'by encouraging the
practice and procedure of collective
bargaining and by protecting the
exercise by workers of full freedorm of
association, self-organization, and
designation of representatives of their
own choosing, for the purpose of
negotiating the terms and conditions of
their employment or other mutual aid or
protection.” 29 U.5.C. 151. Thus, by its
own terms, the NLRA encourages
collective bargaining and the exercise of
the other affirmative rights guaranteed
by the statute. In doing so, however, the
NLRA seeks to ensure employee choice
both to participate in unton or other
protected concerted activity and to
refrain from doing so.

Turning to the issuas ol whether the
notice creates the impression that the
employer is encouraging unionization
and whether an employer can be
compelled to post the notice which
contains information the employer
would otherwise not share with
employees, the Board disagrees with
both arguments. Firest, the notice clearly

states that il is from the government.
Second, in light of the other workplace
notice employeas are accustomed to
seeing, employess will undarstand that
the notice is a communication to
waorkers from the government, not from
the amployer. Finally, as discussed
above, NLRA Section 8{c) protects
employers’ right to express any "views,
argumaent, or opinion” "if such
gxpression conlains na threat of reprisal
or force or promise of benefit.” The rule
does not affect this right. Therefore, if
an employer is concerned that
employees will gat the wrong
impression, it may legally express its
opinion regarding unionization as long
as it does so in a noncosrcive mannee.
Crities of the notice contend that the
notice should contain a number of
additional rights and also explanations
of when and how an employes may opt
out of paying union dues. Thus, most
employer groups argue that the notice
should contain a statement regarding
the right to decertify a union. A number
ol those comments state that the notice
should provide detailed guidance on the
process for decertifying a union. Others
suggest that the notice should contain
instructions for deauthorizing a union
security clause. A majority ol employers
and individuals who filed comments on
the content of the notice urge the Board
to include a notice of employee rights
under Communications Workers v.
Beck. Baker & McKenzie suggests
adding a provision informing employees
that for religious purposes an employee
may opt out of paying dues to a
union.’9? A few comments also suggest
that the notice add any rights that
employees may have in "'right-to-work”
states. As indicated previously,
flumerous comments suggest the
inclusion of other rights of employess
who do not desire union representation.
Baker & MeKenzie suggests a list of 26
additional affirmative rights, most of
which only affect employees in a
unionized setting and are derived from
the Labor-Management Reporting and
Disclosure Act, the Labor-Management
Relations Act, or other Federal labor
statutes enforced by the Department of
Labor. The proposed list also includes

107 NLRA Seclion 19 provides that “*Any
omployoo who is a member of and adheres 10
pstablishad and traditional tunats or toachings ol o
bona fide religion, body, or sect which has
histarically held consciontious cbjections to joining
or fimneially supporting lobar organizations shall
nat be required to join or financially support any
labar arganization as a condition of employmaent;
oxcopi that such emplayce may bao roquired ina
conlricl belween such employee’s employor and a
labor organizatios in lieu of periadic dues and
initiation fess, o pay sums opual to such dues and
initiation feas to n nonroligions. noalabor
organization charitable fund axempt from
taxationf.]” 29 U.5.C. 1649.

soma rights coverad by the NLRA such
as "'the right to sign or refuse to sign an
authorization card,” “the cight to
disguss the advantages and _
disadvantages of union representation
or membership with the employer,” and
“the right lo receive information from
the employer regarding the advantages
and disadvantages of union
representation.”

The Board has determined that the
inclusion of these additional items is
unnecessary. As discussed above, the
NLRA itself contains only a general
statement that employess have the right
nat to participate in union and/or other
protected concerted activities. Section
19 does specifically set forth the right of
certain raligious objactors to pay the
equivalent of union duss to a tax-
exempl charity; however, this right is
implicated only when an employer and
union have entered into a union-
security arrangement. Because the
notice does not mention or explain such
arrangements, the Board finds no reason
to list this narrow exception to union-
security requirements. [n sum, the
Board is not persuaded that the notice
needs to expand further on the right to
refrain by including a list of specilfic
ways in which employees can elect not
to participate or opt out of paying union
dues. Employees who desire more
information regarding the right not to
participate can contact the Board.

The Board does nat balieve that
further explication of this point is
necessary. However, because so many
commentis argue that the notice should
include the right to decertify a union
and rights under Commuanication
Warkers v. Beck, the Board has decided
ta explain specifically why it disagrees
with sach contention.

Concerning the right to decertify, the
notice states that employees have the
right not to engage in union activity,
“including joining or remaining a
member of a union.” Moreover, the
notice does not mention the right (o
seek Board certification of a union.
Indeed, contrary to the numerous
commants suggesting that the praposed
notice is a "roadmap” for union
arpanizing, the notice dees not even
mention the right to petition for a union
representation election, possibly leading
to union certification; rather, it merely
states that employees have the right 1o
“prganize a union” and “form, join or
assist a2 union.” The notice does not give
any Further instructions on how an
employee can exercise those rights.
Similarly, the notice states that
employees may choose not to remain a
member of a union without further
instructions on how to exercise that
right. To include instructions for
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exercising one right and not the ather
would upset the balanced recitation of
rights. [l employees have questions
concerning how they can exetcise their
rights, the notice encourages them to
contact tha Board.

The Board has also determined that
the addition of Beck rights in the final
notice is unnecessary. Those rights
apply only to employees who are
rapresented by unions under collective-
bargaining agresrments containing
union-security provisions. As stated in
the NFRM, unions that seek Lo obligate
employees to pay dues and fees under
those provisions are required to inform
those employees of their Beck rights.
See California Saw & Knife Works,
above, 320 NLRB at 233. See 75 FR at
80412-80413. The Board was presented
with no evidence during this
rulemaking that suggests that unions are
not generally complying with their
notice obligations. In addition, the
Notice of Election, which is posted days
before employeas vote on whether to be
represented by a union, contains an
explanation ol Beck rights. Moreover, as
the Board stated in the NPFRM, only
about 8 percent of all private sector
employess are represented by unions,
and by no means are all of them subject
te union-security clauses. Accordingly,
the numbar of employees to whom Beck
applies is significantly smaller than the
number of employees in the private
sector covered by the NLRA. /d. at
80413. Indeed, in the “right-to-work”
states, where union-security clauses are
prokibited, no employees are covered by
union security clauses, with the
possible exception of employees who
work in a Federal enclave where state
laws do not apply. Accardingly, because
Beck does not apply to the
avarwhelming majority of employees in
today's private sector workplace, and
because unions already are obliged to
inform the employees to whom it does
apply of their Beck rights, the Board is
not including Beck notification in the
final notice,

The Board also disagrees with the
commert frorn Baker & McKenzie
contending that an exhaustive list of
additional rights should be included in
the notice. In addition to the reasons
discussed above, the Board finds that it
would not be appropriate to include
those rights, most of which are rights of
union members vis-a-vis their unions.
For example, the comment suggests
including the "right for each union
member to insist that his/her dues and
initiation fees not be increased * * *
except by a majority vote by secret
ballot = * *,” the “right of each
employee in a bargaining unit to receive
a copy of the collective bargaining

agreement,” and the “right to nominate
candidates, to vote in elections of the
labor organization, to attend
membership meetings, and to
participate in the deliberations and
vating upan business properly before
the meeting.” Those rights are not found
in the NLRA, but instead arise from
other Federal labor laws not
administered by the NLRB. See Labor-
Management Reporting and Disclosure
Act 0f 1959, 29 U.5.C. 401 et seq
{LMRDA}. The Board finds that it would
be inappropriate to include those
additional rights in a notice informing
employees of their rights under the
NLRA.

vi. Other Comments

The Board has also considered, but
rejected, the contention that the notice
contain simply a “short and plain”
description of rights such as that used
in remedial notices. See [shikawa
Gasket America, Inc., abave. The two
notices have different purposes: one
looks back; the other, forward. As
explained in the NPRM, the principal
purposs of a remedial notice is to
inform employess of unlawful conduct
that has taken place and what is being
done to remedy that conduct.
Accordingly, although a remedial notice
cantains only a brief summary of NLRA
rights, it also contains examples of
unlawful actions that have been
committed. To the extent that such a
notice generally increases employess’
awareness of their rights, the unlawful
conduct detailed adds to that awaranass,
The proposed notice, by contrast, is a
notice intended to make employess
aware of their NLRA rights generally. It
normally will not be posted against a
background of alrsady-committad unfair
labor practices; it therefore needs to
contain a summary both of NLRA rights
and examples of unlawful conduct in
order to inform employees effectively of
the extent of their NLRA rights and of
the availability of remedies for
violations of those rights. Moreover, as
the Board explained in the NPRM, the
ganeral notice of rights posted in the
pre-eleclion notice is sufficient because
at least one union along with the
employer is on the scene to enlighten
employees of their rights under the
NLRA. 75 FR 80412 [n.19.

The fundamental rights described in
the notice are well established and have
been unchanged for much of the Board's
history. Accordingly, the Board does not
share the concern expressed in some
comments that a new notice will have
to be posted each time the composition
of the Board changes.

Finally, the Board rejects the
contention that the notice should

address certain rights of employers. The
notice is intended to inform employees
af their rights, not those of their
employers.

For all the foregoing reasons, the
Board finds it unnecessary to modify the
section of the notice summarizing
employees’ NLRA rights.

c. The Examples of Unlawful Employer
Conduct in the Notice

The proposed notice contained the
following examples of unlawful
conduct:

Under the NLRA, it is illegal [or your
smployer to:

Prokibit you from soliciting for a union
during non-work time, such as before or after
work ar during break times; or from
distributing union literature during non-wark
time, in nen-work areas, such as parking lots
or hreak rooms.

Questian you about your union support ar
activities in a manner that discourages you
from engaping in that activity.

Fire, demate, or transfer you, or reduce
your hours or change your shift, or otherwise
take adverse action against you, or threaten
to take any of these aciions, because you jpin
or support a union, or because you engage in
coencerled activity for mutual aid and
protection, ar because you choose not to
engage in any such activity,

Threalen ta close your workplace if
workers choose a union to represent them.

Promise or grant promaotions, pay raises, or
other benelits to discourage or encourage
union support.

Prohibit you from wearing union hats,
bultons, t-shirts, and pins in the workplace
excepl under special circumstances.

Spy on or videatape peacelul union
activities and gatherings or pretend to da sa.
75 FR 60419

The Board received limited comments
on six of the seven examples of
unlawful employer conduct. As a
general matter, some comments contend
that the number of examples of
employer misconduct is
disproportionate compared to the
examples of union misconduct.12® Most
of the comments refer to the number of
paragraphs devated to illegal employer
vonduct (7) and the number of
paragraphs devoted to illegal union
conduct (5). Several comments indicate
that when one compares the employer
misconduct listed in Section 8(a) of the
NLRA with union misconduct listed in
Section 8(b), no such imbalance appears
in the text of the statute. Several
comments provide additional examples
of union misconduct that they say
should be included.

As with the notice's statement of
affirmative rights, some of the

vl Sep, g, comments of COLLE, Baker &

McKanzie, Nationat Associntion of Manufaciurers,
and American Trucking Association.
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individual provisions in this section of
the notice received numerous comrents
and suggestions for improvement, The
vast majorily of the comments about the
specilic provisions are from
representatives of employers. Those
comments gererally contend that the
provisions are overgeneralizations and
do not articulate the legal standard for
evaluating allapations of unlawful
conduct or indicate factual scenarios in
which certain employer conduct may be
lawful.

After reviewing all of the comments,
the Board has decided to revise one of
the examples of unlawful employer
conduct contained in the NPRM. Ths
Board concludas that the other
provisions, as proposed, are accurate
and informative and, as with the notice
as a whole, strike an appropriate
balance between being simultaneously
instructive and succinct,

Furthermaore, the Board sees no reason
to add or subtract from the employer or
union illegal activity to make the two
sections contain an equal number of
paragraphs. The comment that argues
that no imbalance exists in the statute
is correct, but the majority of violations
under Saction &{k) concern union
conduct vis-a-vis emplaoyers, not
conduct that impairs employees’ rights.
The notice of rights is intended to
summarize smployer and union
violations against employees;
accardingly, there is no need to alter the
list to include ualawful union activity
against employers,

i. No-Solicitation and No-Distribution
Rules

The Board received a few comments
that were eritical of the proposed naotice
language stating that an employer
cannot lawfully prohibit employees
from “soliciting for the union during
non-work time or distributing union
literatureg during non-work time, in non-
work argas."” The Service Employees
International Union comments that
“solicitation’" has a narrow meaning and
involves asking someone to join the
union by signing an authorization card,
which is subject to the restrictions
suggasted in the notice. The comment
submits that the notice should state that
an employer cannot prohibit employees
from “talking" about a union. The
commaent suggests that “talking” is both
mare accurate and is easier for
employees o understand than
“soliciting.”

The remaining comments criticize the
provision for failing to note any
limitations on employees’ rights to
solicit and distribute, such as the
limited rights of off-duty employees,
and limitations in retail and health care

gstablishments. One comment, in
particular, suggests the notice should
advise healthcare employees that they
do not enjoy a protected right to solicit
in immediate patient care areas ar
where their activity might disturh
patients. See Beth [srael Hosp. v. NLRB,
437 U.S. 483 (1978). The comment
proposes to include a qualiftication that
a hospital or other health care emplayer
may prohibit all solicitation in
immediate patient care areas or outside
those areas when necessary to avoid
disrupting health care operations or
disturhing patients. Another comment
susgests that the law in this area is so
complex that no meaningful but
succinct provision can be constructed,
and therefore recommends deleting it
entirely.

The Board disagrees with those
comments. The Board appreciates that
under case law, employeas’ right to
engage in solicitation and distribution of
literatura is qualified in certain settings
and accordingly that employers may, in
some situations, legally prohibit
solicitation or distribution of literature
even during employees’ nonworking
time. Given the variety of circumstances
in which the right to solicit and
distribute may be limited, however, the
Board has determined thal limitations
on the size and format of the notice
preclude the inclusion of lactual
situations in which an employer may
lawfully limit such activity. As stated
above, employees may contact the NLRB
with specific questions about the
lawhilness of their employers’ rules
soverning solicitation and literature
distribution.

Turning to the suggastion that the
notice should be modified to remove the
reference to union solicitation in favor
of a reference only to the right lo engage
in union talk, the Board agrees in part.
The Board distinguishes between
soliciting [or a union, which generally
means enceuraging a co-worker to
participate in supporting a union, and
union talk, which generaily refers lo
discussions aboul the advantages and
disadvantages of unionization. Scripps
Memorial Hosp., 347 NLRB 52 (2006).
The right to talk about terms and
conditions of amployment, which
would necessarily include union talk, is
encompassed more specifically by the
“discussion” provision in the
affirmative rights section of the notice.
‘That provision indicates that employess
have the right to “discuss your terms
and conditions of employment or union
organizing with your co-workers ora
union.” In order to maintain
consistency and clarity throughout the
natice, the Board agrees thal some
change is necessary to the solicitation

provision. Accordingly, the final notice
will state that it is itlegal for an
employer to "prohibit you from talking
about or soliciting for a union during
non-work time, such as before or after
work or during break times; or from
distributing union literature during nan-
work time, in nen-work areas, such as
parking lots or break rooms.”

ii. Questioning Employees About Union
Activity

The Board received one comment
concerning this provision, suggesting
that it was confusing. The Board
believes the existing language is
sulficiently clear.

iii. Taking Adverse Action Against
Employees for Engaging in Union-
Related Activity

The Board did aot receive any
specific comments regarding this
pravision.

iv, Threats To Close

A few comments from employer
groups criticize the perceived
overgeneralization of this provision.
Those comments note that, as with
unlawful interrogation, a threat to close
is evaluated under a totality of
circumstances, and that an employer is
permitted to state the effects of
unionization on the company so long as
the statement is based on demonstrably
probable consequences of unionization.

The Board agrees that the law in this
general area is complax and that
predictions of plant closure based on
demanstrably probable consequences of
unionization may be lawful. NLEB v.
Gissel Packing Co., 395 U.8. 575, 618
(1969}, However, the example in the
proposed notice is not such a
prediction; rather, the notice states that
it is unlawiul for an employer to
“threaten to close your workplace if
workers choose a union to reprasent
them." Such a statemant, which clearly
indicates that the employer will close
the plant in retaliation against the
employees {or choosing union
representation, is unlawful. fd. at 618—
619. Thus, the Board finds it
unnecessary to modify or delete this
pravision of the notice.

v. Promising Benefits

The Board received one comment
addressing this provision. The comment
argues that the provision is "“troubling”
because it may be interpreted by a
reader to mean “anytima their employer
seeks to make such improvements it
discourages union support because
improved wages and benafits may
reduce employee's interest in a union.”
Tha Board does not think such an
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interpretation would be reasonable,
because it is contrary to the plain
language of the notice. The notice states
that promises or granis of benefits “to
discourage or encourage union support'’
are unlawful. It would make little sense
to use such language if the Board had
meant that any promises or grants of
benefits were unlawful, rather than only
those with the unlawful stated
purposes. And stating that such
promises or granis to * * * encourage
union support are unlawful necessarily
implies that nat all promises and grants
of benelits discourage union support.

vi, Prohibitions on Union [nsignia

A few comments suggest that the
provision fails to illuminate the
canditions under which *special
circumstances' may exist, including in
hotels or retail establishments where the
insignia may interfere with the
emplayer’s public image, or when the
insignia is profane or vulgar. Another
comment indicates that the provision is
overly broad because it does not reflect
that a violation depends on the work
anvironment and the content of the
insignia. All the comments addressing
this provision suggest either adding
moare detail to the provision to narrow
its meaning, or striking the provision
entirely.

Again, the Board disagrees.
Employees have a statutorily protected
right to wear union insignia unless the
employer is able to demonstrate
“special circumstances” that justify a
prohibition. Republic Aviation Corp. v.
NLRAR, 324 U.5. 793 (1945}. For reasons
of format, the notice cannot
accommuodate those commants
suggesting that this pravision specify
cases in which the Board has found
“special circumstances," such as where
insignia might interfere with production
or safety; where it conveys a message
that is obscene or disparages a
company's product or service; where it
interferss with an employer's attempts
to have its employees project a specific
image to customers; where it hinders
production; where it causes disciplinary
problems in the plant; where it is in an
immediate patient care areas; or where
it would have any other consequences
that would constitute special
circumstances undar settied precedent.
NLAB v. Mead Corp., 73 F.3d 74, 79 (6th
Cir, 10986), enfg. Escanaba Paper Co.,
414 NLRB 732 (1994).

Given the lengthy list of potential
special circumstances, the addition of
one or lwo examples of special
circumstances might mislead or confuse
employees into thinking that the right to
wear union insignia in all other
circumstances was absolute, And

including an entire lisl of special
circumstances, concerning both the
wearing of union insignia and other
mallers {e.g., striking and picketing,
soliciting and distributing union
literature}, would make it impossible Lo
summarize NLRA rights on an 11x17
inch poster. In any event, the Board
finds that the general caveat that spacial
circumstances may defeat the
application of the general rule, coupled
with the advice to employees to confact
the NLRB with specific questions about
particular issues, achieves the balance
required for an employes notice of
rights about wearing union insignia in
the workplace.
vii. Spying or Videotaping

Aside from the few comments that
suggest the provision be stricken, only
one comment specifically addresses the
content of this provision. The comment
states that the langnage is confusing
because a “‘supervisor might believe it
would be permissible to photograph or
tape record a union meseting. Another
might say that their video camera
doesn't use tape so it's okay to use.” Thae
Board has determined that no change is
necessary. [n the Board's view, it is
unlikely that a reasonable supervisor
would construe this notice language
{which also says that it is unlawful to
“spy on” employees’ peaceful union
activities} as indicating that it is
unlawful 1o videotape, but lawful to
tape record or phatograph, such
activities. Supervisars are free to contact
the Board if they are unsure whether a
contemplated response to union activity
might be unlawlul.

viii. Other Suggested Additions to
Nlegal Employer Conduct

The Heritage Foundation supgasts that
the Board aded language to the notice
informing employees that if they choose
to be represented by a union, their
employer may not give them raises or
bonuses for good performance without
first bargaining with the union. The
comment suggests that the Board add
the following provision “if a union
represents you and your co-workers,
give you a pay raise or a honus, or
reduce or dock your pay, without
negotiating with the union.” The Board
rejects this suggestion for the same
reason it rejects other comments
contending that the notice should
include the consequences of
unionization in the summary of NLRA
rights, above.

The National I[mmigeation Law Centar
suggests that the Board add the
following lo the notice poster:

Under the NLRA, it is illegat for your
amployer to: Reporl you or Lthreaten o report

you ta immigration and Customs
Enforcemant {ICE) or 1o other law
enforcement autharities in order to
intimidate or retaliate against you because
you join or suppoert & union, or bacause you
engage in concerted activily for mutnal aid
and proteclion.

The Board finds it unnecessary to add
this statemment. The notice states that it
is unjawful for an employer to “fire,
demote, or transfer you, or reduce your
heurs ar change your shift, or otherwise
take adverse action against you, or
threaten to take any of these oclions,
because you join or support a union, or
because you engage in concerted
activity for mutnal aid and protection
{emphasis added) [.]” Reporting or
threatening to report an employee in the
manner described in the commant
would be a form of adverse action or
threat thereof, and the Board beliavas
that it would be undersicod as such,

d. Examples of legal Union Activity

The proposed nolice contained the
following examples of unlawful union
conduct:

Undar the NLRA, it is illegal for a
union or for the union that represents
you in hargaining with your employer
ta:

Threaten you that you will lose your job
unless you supporl the union.

Refuse 1o process a grievance because you
have criticized union officials or because you
are not a member of the union.

lse or maintain discriminatory standards
or procedures in making job referrals from a
hiring hall.

Cause or altempt to cause an employer to
diseriminate against you becausa of your
union-related activily.

Take other adverse aclion against you
hased on whether you have joined or suppaort
the union.

75 FR 80419.

There were only a few comments
addressing specific changes to the
language in this section of the notice.
ALFA criticizes the provision that states
that a union may nat "threaten you that
you will lose your job unlass you
support the union,” because the
proposed language "fails to capture
Section 8{b)(1}{A}'s broader prohibition
against restraint and coercion.” The
comment suggests revising the language
to state that a union may not “*[r|estrain
or coerce you in the exercise of your
right to refrain from joining a union by
threatening to inflict bodily harm or
following you to your home and
refusing to leave unless you sign a
union card.” That comment also
suggests adding a provision stating that
it is unlawful for a union to “promise
to waive your union initiation fee if you
agree to sign a union card before & vole
is taken.”
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Another comment argues that the
illegal union conduct portion of the
notice fails to fully inform employees of
their rights as union members.?"9 In
contrast, another comment states a
different position—that the list of illegal
union conduct "ostensibly relates only
to restraint or coercion by a unionina
untonized gnvironment.” 110 The
comment further states that the Board
should have included examples of
“union restraint or coercion in an
organizing setting" but gives no specific
examples.

ALFA supgests three changes to the
unlawful upion activity section. First,
rather than say that the union may not
“threaten you that you will lose your
job,” & mare comprehensive statement
would be “threaten, harass, or coerce
you in order ko gain your support for the
unicen.'’ The Board agrees, except as
regards "harass," which is sometimes
used to characterize almost any sort of
union solicitation. Accordingly, the
statement will be modified to read
“threaten or coerce you in order to gain
your support for the union.” Second,
the comment suggests changing “cause
or altempt to cause an employer to
discriminate against you'' ta
“discriminate or attempl to discriminate
against you because you don't support
a union.” The Board disagrees, because
the suggested changs would shift the
focus of the provision away from the
sort of conduct contemplated in the
rule. See NLRA Saction 8(h)(2), 20
U.5.C. 158(b}(2). Third, the comment
suggasts changing “take other adverse
action apainst you based on whether
you have joined or support the union”
to “take adverse action against you
because you have not joined or do not
support the union.”” The Board agrees
and will medily this provision of the
notice accordingly.

Baker & McKenzie urges that a variety
of other examples of unlawful union
conduct be acddad to the notice,
including requiring nonmembers to pay
a fee to recelve contract benefits,
disciplining members for engaging in
activity adverse to a union-reprasentad
grigvant, disciplining members for
refusing to engage in unprotected
activity, engaging in careless grievance
handling, failing to notify employees of
their Beck rights, requiring employees to
agree to dues checkeff instead of diract
payment, discriminatorily applying
hiring hall ritles, and conditioning
continued employment on the payment
of a fine or dues in “right-to-work™
states.

M Spe commonl of National Associalion of
Manufaciurers.
1 Sge commont of ALFA.

As with the examples of unlawful
employer activity, the Boacd concludes
that the provisions concerning unlaw/ful
union activity, as proposed, are accurate
and informative, and, as with the notice
as a whole, strike an approgriate
balance between being simullansously
instructive and succinct. Moreaver, the
Board finds it unnecessary to include
additional examptles of unlawful
conduct so that the lists of employer
and union activity are the same length
because the notice describes the central
forms of unlawful conduct engaged in
by each type of entity. 5till less is it
necessary to add a host of additional
examples of unlawful union conduct,
with the result that the list of such
conduct would be much longer than the
list of unlawfu! employer conduct. In
the Board's view, the list of unlawiul
union cencuct in the proposed notice
fairly informs employees of the types of
conduct that a union is prohibited from
engaging in without providing
unnecessary of confusing examples.
Employess may contact the NLRB if
they believe a union has violated the
NLRA.

e. Collective-Bargaining Provision

The collective-bargaining provision of
the NPRM states that il you and your
co-workers select & union to act as your
collective bargaining representalives,
your employer and the union are
required to bargain in good faith and in
a genuine effort to reach a writlen,
binding agreement setting your terms
and conditions of employment. The
union is required to fairly represent you
in bargaining and enforcing the
agreement.”’ 75 FR B0419.

The Board received only a few
comments on this provision of the
notice. Notahly, COLLE requests the
inclusion of a limitation on the
provision that employees have the right
to bargain collectively, in order to
clarify that tha employer's obligation is
only to bargain in good faith and not
necessarily to reach an agreement. A
second comment sugpasts that the
notice inform employees that they have
the right to *'sue a union for unfairly
representing the employee in
bargaining, contract administration, or a
discrimination matter,”

"The Board has decided that no
changes are necessary to the duty to
bargain paragraph. The Board is
satisfied that the proposed collective-
bargaining provision provides sufficient
guidance to employees abput the
exercise of thase rights while still
staying within the constraints set by a
necessarily brief employee notice. As to
the first comment, the notice states that
an employer and union have a duty to

“bargain in good faith and in a genuine
effort to reach a written, binding
agreement.” As discussed above, by
referring to 2 “genuine effort” to reach
agreement, the natice necessarily
implies that the parties are not obliged
to actually reach one. The duty to
bargain in good faith has many
companents. See NLRB v. Katz, 369 U.S.
736 (1962). And the sugpestion that
employers do not have lo agree to
certain proposals, although correct, does
not account for the line of cases that
suggest that an important ingredient in
good faith bargaining is a willingness to
compromise. See Phelps Dodge, 337
NLRB 455 (2002).

Turning to the suggestion that the
notice include language informing
employees of their right to “'sue” the
union if it fails to represent them fairly,
the Board has concluded that the notice
sufficiently apprises employees of their
right to fair representation and of their
right to file unfair labor practice charges
with the Board should a union fail to
fulfill that duty. The rights that
employees have to sue unions directly
in court without coming to the Board
are beyond the scope of this rulemaking.

f. Coverage Provision

In regard to coverage under the NLRA,
the proposed notice states:

The National Labor Relations Act covers
most private-sector employers. Excluded
from coverage under the NLRA are public-
seclor employess, agricultural and domestic
workers, independent contractors, workers
employed by a parent or spouse, employees
af air and ratl carriers covered by Lthe Railway
Labor Act, and supervisers {although
supervisors thal have been discriminated
against for refusing to violate the NLRA may
be covered}. 75 FR 80419.

A comment from the National
[mmigration Law Center suggests adding
the following language: *“The NLRA
protects the above-enumerated rights of
all emplayees, irrespective of their
immigration status. That protection
extends to employees without wark
authorization, though certain remedies
in those circumstances may be limited.
Employers cannot threaten you or
intimidate you on the basis of you
imtrmigration status to prevent you from
joining or supporting a union, or
engaging in concerted activity for
mutual aid aad protection.”

The Board has decided not to amend
the coverage provision in the final
notice. Although the Board understarnds
that many immigrant employees may be
unsure whether they are covered by the
NLRA, the nolice does not include a list
of covered employees. Including
specific coverage of immigrants, but not
other classes of employses, may cause
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confusion for many employees.
Currently, the language in the notice
tracks statuiory language and provides
only the list of employees excluded
from coverage. As a result, those
amployees not listed under the
axclusions will reasonably believe they
are covered employees under the
statute. Any employees who are unsure
of their status should contact a regional
office of the NLRB.

The final notice as modified is set
forth in the Appendix to Subpart A of
this rule.

2. Posting [ssues

The Board propoesed thai the notice to
amployees shall be at least 11 inches by
17 inches in size, and in such colors and
type size and style as the Board shall
prescribe. The proposed rule further
provides that employers that chowse to
print the notice after downloading it
from the Board's Web site must print in
color, and the printed natice shall be at
least 11 inches by 17 inches in size.

Proposed § 104.202(d) requires all
rovered employers to post the emplayee
notice physically "in conspicuous
places, including all places where
notices to employees are customarily
posted.” Employers must take steps to
ansure that the natice is not altered,
defaced, or covered with other material.
Proposed § 104.202{e) states that the
Board will print the notice poster and
provide copies to employers on request.
[t also states that employers may
download copies of the poster from the
Board's Web site, hitp://www.alrb.gov,
for their use. [t further provides that
smployers may reproduce exact
duplicates of the poster supplied by the
Board, and that they may also use
commerctal poster services to provide
the employee notice consolidated onto
one poster with other Federatly
mandated lahor and employment
notices, as long as consolidation does
not alter the size, color, or content of the
poster provided by the Board. Finally,
employers that have significant numbers
of employees who are not proficient in
Engtish will be required te post notices
of emplayee rights in the language or
languages spoken by significant
numbers of those employees, The Board
will make available posters containing
the necessary translations.

In addition to requiring physical -
posling of paper notices, proposed
§104.202(f) requires that natices ha
distributed electronically, such as by e-
mail, posting on an intranet or an
internet site, and/or other electronic
means, if the employer customarily
communicates with its employess by

such means.''" An employer that
customarily posts notices to its
employees on an intranet or internet site
must display the required employee
notice on such a site prominently—i.e.,
no less prominently than other nolicas
to employees. The Board proposed to
give employers two options to satisfy
this requirement. An employer may
gither download the naotice itself and
post it in the manner described above,
or post, in the same manner, a link to
the Board's Web site that contains the
full 1ext of the required employes
notice. [n the latter case, the proposed
rule states that the link must contain the
prescribed introductory language from
the poster, which appears in Appendix
to Subpart A, below. An employer that
customarily communicates with its
employees by e-mail will satisfy tha
electronic posting requirement by
sending its employees an e-mail
message conlaining tha link described
above.

The proposed rule provides that,
whera a signilicant number of an
employer's employees are not proficient
in English, the employer must provide
the required electronic notice in the
language the employees spaak. This
requirement can be met either by
downloading and posting, as required in
§104.202(f), the translated version of
the notice supplied by the Board, or by
prominently displaying, as required in
§104.202(M), a link to the Board’s Web
sile that contains the full text of the
poster in the language the employees
speak. The Board will provide
translations of that link. 75 FR 80217,

Section 104.203 of the proposed rule
provides that Federal contractors may
comply with the requirements of the
rule by posting the notices to employeas
required under the Department of
Labor's notice-posting rule, 29 CFR part
471. Id.

The Board solicited comments an its
proposed requirements for both physical
and electronic notice posting. In
addition, the Board solicited comments
on whether it should prascriba
standards regarding the size, clarity,
Iocation, and brightness of the
electronic link, including how to
prescribe electronic postings that are at
least as large, clear, and conspicuous as
the employer's ather postings.

The Board received numerous
comments cancerning the technical
requirements for posting the notices of
employee rights. Those comments
address the locations where notices
would be physically posted, physical
characteristics of the posters,

V1t See [, Picial Floaring, 156 NLRB No. 9, slip op.

at 6 {200l

requirements for posting in languages
pthar than English, details of the
requirement for electronic pesting of
notices by employers that customarily
communicate with their employees
electronically, and "safe harboe'”
provisions for Federal contractors that
are already posting the Department of
Labor's notice of NLRA rights.

a. Location of Posting

Section 104.202(d) of the proposed
rule requires that the notice be posted
“in conspicuous places, including all
places where notices 1o employses are
customarily posted.” Some employers
and their representatives, including law
firm Baker & McKenzie, comment that
the proposed rule does not define
“customarily.” The Board responds that
the term is used in its normal meaning
of “ordinarily’ or “usually,” as it has
been used in the Board's remedial
orders for decades.'*? This standard is
consistent with the posting
requirements in the regulations and
statules of other agencies.2*? Baker &
MeKenzie's comment contends that the
guoted phrase should read instead
“where other legally-required notices to
employees are customarily posted.” The
Board disagrees. As under the
Departient of Labor's notice posting
requirament,'t the Board's final rule
clarifies that the notice must be posted
wherever notices to employees
regarding personnel rules and policies
are customarily posted and are readily
seen by employees, not simply where
other legally mandated notices are
posted.

A number of comments from
employers 1'% and individuals take the
position that it is time to move away
from paper posters and to encourage
employees to inform themselves of their
rights through the Internet. Many
comments object that the posting
requirement will add to already
cluttered bulletin boards or necessilaie
additional bulletin boards.!'¢ The Board
responds to these comments above in
section I, subsection G, Factual Suppart
for the Rule. The Gouncil of Smaller

12 Spg, e.g., The Golub Corporatien, 159 NLREB
155, 369 {19G66).

113 Spp, e.z., 28 CFR 1500.2 [Occupational Salfaty
and Hoslth Act); 20 CFR 1601.30 {Title Vil of tho
Civil Rights Act of 1964); 42 U.5.C. 2000e-10(a)
[Americans with Disabilities Ac1); 20 U.5.C. 2619{al
[Family nod Muodical Leave Act).

114 75 FR 28386.

115 Seg, e.g., commonts of Buffalo Wild Wings;
Associstod Milk Producers, Inc.; Smitty's, Inc.
National Gracers Association; and Sorenson/Wille,
inc.

118 Spe, g.g., comments af Dr. Popper Snapplo
Group; Georgia Caremaster Modical Services:
Homestead Village, loe.; Exodus flosigns &
Surfaces; Bonnio Dedmore State Farm,
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Enterprises further maintains that the
requiremertt to ensure that the notice is
conspicuous and not altered or defaced
imposes an unnecessary burden on
employers. Caramaster Meadical
Services' comment asks whether
periodic inspections of the notices will
be conducted and, if so, by whom.
Specifically, this comment expraesses
concern that employers will be forced to
permit union officials to enter their
facilities to inspect the notices. The rule
does not provide for such inspectious or
aller currant standards regarding union
access to employers’ premises. Rather,
the Board contemplates that an
employer’s failure to comply with the
rule will be brought to the attention of -
‘tha employer or the Board by employees
or union reprasentatives who are
lawfully on the premises.

The International Union of Operating
Engineers comments that the rule needs
to apply to the marina construction
industry, in which employees work at
remote sites and do not necessarily see
a posting in the office. Another
comment similarly states that the rule is
not practical for small employers with
dispersed employees, .., trucking or
insurance companies.''? Similarly, one
comment contends that the recquiremant
is burdensome for cunstruction
employers, whose employees report to
various worksites.1t® The Board
racognizes that certain work situations,
such as those mentioned in the
comments, present special chatlenges
with regard to physical posting.
However, the Board cancludes that
these employers must nonetheless post
the required notice at their work
premises in accordance with the
propased rule. Electronic posting will
also aid the employers in providing the
notice to their employees in the manner
in which they customarily communicate
with them.

TLC Companies contends that
professional employer organizations
(PEQs) such as itseif should be exempt
from the rule’s requirements. It explains
that PEOs are “'co-employers” of a client
amployer's employees, providing
payroll and other administrative
services. However, it asserts that PEOs
have no control over the client
employer's worksite. Accordingly, TLC
Companies is concerned that a PEO
could be found liable for its client's
failure to post the notice. The Board
contemplates that employers will be
required to physically post a notice only
on their own premises or at worksites
where the employer has the ability to

117 Comment of TLC Companics.
1 Comment of NAI Electrical Contraclors.

post a notice or cause a notice Lo be
posted directed to its own employees.

Retail Industry Leaders Association
asks whather the rula would apgply to
overseas employees of American
employers. The answer to thal question
is generally “no’ the Board's
jurisdiction does not extend to
American employees engaged in
permanent employment abroad in
locations aver which the United States
has no legislative control. See Computer
Sciences Aaytheon, 318 NLRB 966
(1995). Employers of employess who are
working abroad only temporarily are not
raquired to post the notice in foreign
waorkplacas.

b. Size and Form Requirements

Many comments from organizations
and individuals abject to the 11x17-inch
size prescribed by the proposed rule.1t?
They acgue that most employers do nat
have the capacity to make 11x17-inch
color copies and will have to use
commercial copy services, which some
contend are expensive. A human -
resources official also asserts that other
required naotices are smaller, and that
the larger poster will be mora eye-
catching, implying that NLRA rights are
mare important. Other comments
support the proposed 11x17-inch size,
stating that the notice should stand out
and be in large print, with one comment
specifying that the title should be
larger.220 The AFL-CIO argues that
employers should not be permitted to
download the notice from the Board's
Web site if their limited printing
capacity would make it less eye-
catching.

A few comments contend that the
prescribed size will make it difficult to
include in consolidated posters of
various statutary rights, as the proposed
rule permits.t?t One comment urges the
Board to follow the 3’ rule,” according
to which a notice is large enough if it
can be read from a distance of 3 feet,22
and another suggests anly a legibility
requirement,®? One comment states
that minor deviations, such as % inch,
should not be deemed violations. 124
Another commant expresses a concern
that a large, prominent poster could
cause a few unhappy employees to
begin activity that could result in
divisiveness in a small facility.125

3% Spp, o4, comment of Associated Geonoral
Contractors {AGC) of lowa,

120 Sgg, p.g. comments of AFL-CIO and three
Georgotown University Law Centlor stuclonts,

121 Spe, .g., comment of Sinnissippi Centers,

122 ARG of [own,

'3 Sinnissippi Conters.

124 National Council of Agricultural Emplayars.

125 Norcy Contar Nursing Unit [nc,

The Board has decided to retain the
11x17-inch poster size. As the NPRM
states, the Board will furnish paper
copies of the natice, at no charge, to
employers that ask for them. Emplayers
that prefer to download and print the
notice from the Board's Web site will
have two formats available: a ona-page
11x17-inch version and a two-page 8
Yax11-inch version, which must be
printed in landscape format and taped
together to form the 11x17-inch poster.
In response to the comments objecting
to the added expense of obtaining color
copies through outside sources, the
Board has revised tha rule to delete the
requirement that reproductions of the
notice be in color, provided that the
reproductions otherwise conform to the
Board-provided notice. Accordingly, the
Board concludes that ohtaining copies
of the notice will not be difficult or
expensive [or employers,

The Board linds no merit to the other
objections to the 11x17-inch postar size.
Contrary to some comments, the Board
does not believe that employees would
think that NLRA rights are more
important than other statutory rights,
meraly because the notics of NLRA
rights is somewhat larger than notices
prescribed under same other statutes, It
would seem that, upon learning of ail of
their rights in the workplace, employees
will datermine from their understanding
of the rights themselvas, rather than the
size of the various posters, which rights
{if any) are more important to them than
others. In the Board’s view, adopting a
subjective 3" rule” or a “legibility
standard’” could lead to disagreaments
over whether a particular poster was
“legible” or could be read at a distance
of 3 feet. In addition, if, as some
comments contend {without citing
specifics), the size of the Board’s notice
will pose a problem for manufacturers
of consolidated posters to include it
with posters detailing other workplace
rights, that would seem to be a problem
best left to those manufacturers to solve.

c. Language Issues

The proposed rule requires that,
“[wlhere a significant portion of an
employer's workforce is not proficient
in English, the employer must provide
the natice in the language the
employees speak.” This is the same
standard applied in the Department of
Labar's notice of NLRA rights for federal
contractors (29 CFR 471.2{d)) and in tha
notice required under the Family and
Medical Leave Act (29 CFR 825.300(4)).
Many comments supporl the
requirement and availability of
translated notices, particularly as an
essential way of informing immigrant



Federal Register/Vol. 76, No. 168/Tuesday, August 30, 2011/Rules and Repulations

54029

employees about their rights,’20 But
several comments complain that the
rule does not define “significant.” 127
Baker & McKenzie proposes that the
standard be 40 percent specifically of
the employer’s production and
maintenance workforce, while Lhe
National Immigration Law Center
proposes a 5 pegcent standard. Another
comment urges that translated notices
be required whenever any of the
employees are not praficient in
English.'#8 The U.S. Chamber of
Commerce asserts that a safe harbor is
needed for employers when a notice in
a particular language is not yet available
from the Board. Moreover, 2 few
comments contend that the Board
should also provide Braille notices for
vision-impaired employees, as well as
audio versions for illiterate employess,
and versions of the notice that are
adaptable to assistive technologies, !
One individual proposes that the rule
marndate that employers read the notice
to employees when they are hired and
to all employees annually.

Having carefully considered the
comments, the Board has decided to
define “'significant” in terms of foreign-
language speakers as 20 percent or more
of an employer's workforce. Thus, il as
many as 20 percent of an employer's
amployees are not peoficient in English
but speak the same foreign language, the
employer must post the notice in that
lanzuage, bath physically and
electronically (if the employer is
ctherwise required to post the notice
electronically). If an employer’s
workforee includes two or more groups
constituting at least 20 percent of the
workforce who speak ditferent
languages, the employer must either
physically post the notice in each of
those languages or, at the emplayer’s
option, post the notice in the language
spoken by the largest group of
employees and provide each employee
in each of the other language groups a
copy of the notice in the appropriate
language. If such an employer is also
required to post the notice
electranically, it must do so in each of
those languages. [f some of an
employer’s employees speak a language
not spoken by employees constituting at
least 20 percent of the employar’s
workforce, the employer is encouraged,
but not required, either to provide the

116 Spp, e.g., comments ef Nattonai Immigration
Law Center, Logal Aid Society—Employment Law
Canter, and La Roza Contra Logal: Filipino
Atvacales for Justice,

147 Spp, g.p., comments ef COLLE; Foud Masketing
Instilute [FMI).

124 Gporgelown law students.

349 Spe. p.g., Bakor & McKenzia: Horiluge
Foundation; Georgetown law students,

notice to those employses in their
respective language or languages or to
direct them to the Board's Web site,
http://www.nirb.gov, where they can
obtain copies of the notice in their
respective languages. Tha Board has
also decided to add to the notice
instructions for oblaining foreign-
language translations of the notice.

Employers will be required to request
foreign-language notices from the Board
or obtain them from the Board's Web
site in the same manner as the English-
language notice. If an employer requests
from the Board a notice in a particular
language in which the notice is not
available, the requesting employer will
not be liable for non-compliance with
the rule until the notice becomes
available in that language.

With respect to employees who are
vision-impaired or those who are
illiterate, employers may consuli the
Board's Regional Office on a cass-by-
case basis for guidance on appropriate
methods of providing the required
notice, including by audio recording.

d. Electronic Posting

Many employer comments oppose the
requirement for elactronic notice. The
Coalition for a Democratic Workplace
points out that other agencies do not
require both electronic and physical
posting and asserts that only one
method is necessary. For example, the
Coalition notes that the Family and
Medical Leave Act notice obligation is
satislied by electronic posting alone,
and other statutes do not mantion
electronic posting. The National Couneil
of Agricultural Employers urges the
Board to require electronic posting only
if the employer posts other statutory or
ragulatory notices in that fashion.
Another proposes that employers be
permitted to choose either physical or
electronic posting. The National
Association of Manufacturers remarks
that the propesed rule breaks new
ground for using an employsr's email
system to communicate information
about “union membearship.” The U.S.
Chamber of Commerce suggests that this
aspect of the rule would chill
employers’ use of new technologies. On
the other hand, the AFL-CIO and
saveral other commenters 3% suppart
electronic as well as physical posting;
tha Center for American Progress Aclion
Fund, among others, points out that
electronic communications at work ara
standard now.

After carefully considering these
comments, the Board concludes that
electronic posting will substantially

110 Sgg, a.g., commenis of Gibsow, Duan, Cohon,
Leifor & Yollig, P.C.; Beeson, Tayer & Bodine.

assist in providing the prescribed notice
to employees. As some comments state,
electronic communication is now a
routine practice in many workplaces
and the source of much informalion
from emplayers to their employees.
However, the Board has clarified the
final rule to mandlate only that, ifan
employer customarily communicates
pecsonnel rules or paolicies to its
employees in that manner, it must also
do so with respect to the notice of
employee rights under the NLRA. The
concern that the rule will discourage
employers from using new technaologies
is apparently not widely sharad and, in
the Board's view, is implausible,
Although the Board recognizes that
some other statutes and regulations do
not require electronic notice, it notes
that they generally predated the routina
use of electronic communications in the
workplace. Having only recently begun
ordering electronic posting of remedial
notices,!3t the Board has limiled
experience in this area, and emplayers
are ancouraged to contact the local
Regional Qffice with questions about
this provision. The Board does not agree
that employers shoutd be permitted to
choose whether to provide physical or
alectronic notice, hecause some
emplayers could select the less effective
of these alternatives, thus undermining
the purpose of the rule. Finally, the
rights stated in the notice are not
accurately described as pertaining solely
to union membership, and the notice is
not intended to promote union
mambership or union representation.
Rather, the notice addresses a broad
range of employee legal rights under the
NLRA, which involve protected
concerted aclivity as well as union
activity in both organized and
unorganized workplaces, and also the
right to refrain from any such activity.
Many employer comments note that
the proposed rule also does not define
“customarily” as it pertains to
elactronic posting in § 104.202(f), i.e.,
the type and degree of communication
that triggers the requirement, 92
Numercus employers also participated
in a postcard campaign objecting,
among other things, that employers use
a wide variety of technology to
communicate with employees and that
the rule could require themn to use all
methods to convey the notice.’3? For

131} Picini Flooring, 156 NLRB No. 9 (2010).

182 Spp, a4, cotnunants of [nternational
Foodsorvico Disteibutors Association (IFOA)
Associated Buiklers and Cantractors; Los Angeles
County Business Federation; National Roofing
Contractors Association.

133 See, g.g., commonts of American Homo
Furnishings Aliiance: Seawright Custom Frocusl;

Continued
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example, they ask whether an employer
that occasionally uses text messaging or
Twitter to commuunicate with employees
would have to use those technologies
and, if so, how they would be able to
comply with the rule, in view of the
length restrictions of these media. The
U.S. Chamber of Commerce raises the
same issue regarding faxing, vaice mail,
and instant messaging. The National
Roofing Contractors Association notes
that some employers use email to
communicate with certain employees,
while other employees have no access to
email during their work day. As to email
communication itself, an individual
observes that many employees changs
jobs every 3 to ¢4 years, and an email
reaches only those in the workforce at

a specific time. The same comment
notes that the proposed rule does not
state when or how often email notice
should be provided. Three Georgetown
law students recommend that the rule
mandate email as well as intranet notice
to employees when it goes into affect
and written notice lo new employees
within a week of their starting
employment.

The Board responds that, as discussed
ahove regarding the location of posting,
“customarily' is used in its normal
meaning. This provision af the rule
would not apply to an employer that
only occasionally uses electronic means
to communicate with employees.
Howavaer, in view of the numerous
comments expressing concern over the
proposed rule's email posting
requirements, the Hoard has decided not
to require employers to provide the
notice to employess by means of email
and the other forms of electranic
communication listed in the pravious
paragraph. In the Board's judgment, the
potential for confusion and the prospect
of requiring repeated notifications in
order to reach new employees outweigh
the benefits that could be derived at the
margin from such notifications. All
employers subject to the rule will ba
required lo post the notice physically in
thair facilities; and employers who
custemarily post notices to employees
regarding personnel rules or policies on
an internst or intranet site will be
required to post Lhe Board's notice on
those sites as well. Moreover, those
notices {unlike the Board's election and
remedial notices) must remain posted;
thus, it is reasonable to expect that even
though some employees may not see the
notices immediately, more and more
will see them and learn about their
NLRA rights as time goes by.
Accordingly, the only electronic

Mount Sterling, Keatucky Chamber of Gommerco;
U.8. Xpress, Inc.

postings required under the final rule
will be those on internet or inlranet
sites.

Many comments acdress the
characteristics of electronic posting, as
prescribed in § 104.202(f}. In the NPRM,
tha Board proposed not to prescribe the
size, clarily, location, or brightness of an
electranic notice or link to the notice,
but rather require that it be at least as
prominent as other elecironic notices to
employees, as the Department of Labot's
rule requires. No commenis §uggest
more specific requirements; the
Michigan Health & Hospital Association
argues that such requirements would
result in inadvertent noncompliance.
The Board has decided to adopt the
Department of Labor's approach, as
proposed in the NPRM,

Baker & McKenzie urges that the title
of the link in the proposed rule be
changed to "Employee Rights under the
National Labor Relations Act” rather
than “Important Notice about
Employees Rights to Organiza and
Bargain Collectively with Their
Employers.” The Board agrees and has
revised the rule accordingly.

A comment from Vigilant states that
a link to the Board's Web site, which is
ong means of electronic posting, should
not be required to include the
introductory language of the notice. The
Board agrees, noting that the
Department of Labor takes this
approach, and will not require that
glectronic links to the Board’s Web site
include the introductory language.

Far the foregoing reasons, the Board
has decided to relain the posting
requirements as proposed in the NPRM,
modified as indicated above.

e. Compliance With the Department ol
Labor's Rule

Several comments opposing the
proposed rule urge that, if the rule
becomes final, the Board should retain
the "safe harbor" provided for Federal
contractors that comply with the
Department of Labor's notice posting
rule,’?¥ However, the U.S. Chamber of
Commerce states that some employers
post the Department of Labor’s notice at
facilities whare it is not required or
where Federal contract work is
performed only sporadically. It
questions whether such employers must
replace the Depariment of Labor's notice
with the Board’s when no contract work
is being performed, or whether they can
comply with the Board's rule by leaving
the Department of Labor's naotice in
place. The Chamber proposes that

v See, ey, comments of IFDA; Bsles; Thoe Sack
Company: Notional Roofing Contractors
Associalion,

employers be allowed to choose Lo
maintain the Department of Labor's
notice, although another comment
asserts that employees might think that
the natice is no longer applicable
because of the lack of a current coniract.
Another comment raises the possibility
that either the Board or the Department
of Labor could decide to change its
notice and emphasized that they need to
be identical in order to provide the safe
harbor. The Board respands that a
Fadaral contractor that complies with
the Department of Labor's notice-
posting rule will be deemed in
compliance with the Board’s
requiregment.t3s

3. Exceptions

The rule applies only to employers
that are subject to the NLRA. Under
NLRA Section 2(2), “"employer”
excludes the United States government,
any wholly owned government
corporation, any Federal Reserve Bank,
any State or political subdivision, and
any person subject to the Railway Labor
Act, 45 U.5.C. 151 et seq. 28 U.5.C.
152(2). Thus, under the proposed rule,
those excluded entities are not required
to post the notice of employee rights.
The proposed rule also does noi apply
to entities that employ oaly individuals
who are not cansidered “employees”
under the NLRA. See Subpart A, beiow;
29 U.5.C. 152(3). Finally, the proposed
rule does not apply to entities over
which the Board has been found not to
have jurisdiction, or over whieh the
Board has chosen through regulation or
adjudication not to assert
jurisdiction.13% The Board propesed that
all employers covered under the NLRA
wuotuld be subject to the notice posting
rule. 75 FR 80413,

The Coalition for a Democratic
Workplace argues that the final rule
cannot be applied to religiously-
affiliated employers. The Coalition
argues thal assertion of jurisdiction
would “substantially burden [such
employers’] exercise of religion in
violation of both the First Amendment
and the Religious Freedom Restoration
Act.” Similarly, Seyfarth Shaw contends
that religiously-affiliated healthcare

s A few commonts ask whetber the Baard's rule
would preempt the Departmoat of Lalor's rule.,
Because the answer to that quastion would not
affect tha validity of the Board's rule, the Board
finds it unnocnssary to tako a position an that issue
in this proceoding.

14 Tho propased rule excludes small businesses
whose impact on inforstate commerce is de atinimis
ur 5o slight that thoy de not meet the Boacd's
diserelienary jurisdiction requiremonts. Soc
genatally An Outling of Law and Procedure in
Hepreseniation Cases, Chaptoer 1. found on the
Board's Web site, http://oww.nirh.gov, and casos
citod thercin.
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institutions should be excluded from
caverage if they are nonprofit and hold
themselves out to the public as being
religious.

The Board examines jurisdictional
issues on a case-by-case basis, and the
Board's jurisdiction jurispruclence is
highly complex. The Board has asserted
jurisdiction over some religiously-
affiliated employars in the past, but has
declined to asserl jurisdiction over other
religiously-affiliated employers. See,
e.g., Ecclesiastical Maintenance Service,
320 NLRB 70 (1995), and St Edmund'’s
High School, 337 NLRH 1260 [2002). In
Ukiah Valley Medical Center, the Board
found that neithar the First Amendment
nor the Religious Restoration Act
precludes the Board from asserting
juristiction over a raligiously-affiliated
employer. 332 NLRB 602 (2000). I[f an
employer is unsire whether the Board
has jurisdiction over its operations, it
tnay contact the Board's regional office.

[n its comment, the United Stated
Postal Service points out that it has
different statutory rules [rom those
covering other private sector employeas.
Laber relations in the Postal Service are
governed by Chapter 12 of the Poslal
Reorganization Act of 1970, 39 U.5.C.
1201 et seq. Section 1209(a) of the
Postal Rearganization Act generally
makes the NLRA applicable to all
employee-management relations “to the
extent not inconsistent with the
provisions of this title.” As raised by the
comment, thare are indesd several areas
in which the Postal Reorganization Act
is inconsistent with the NLRA. The
principal differences are that an agency
shop is prohibited {id. section 1209(a))
and that postal employees may not
strike. Id. Section
410(b)(1){incorporating 5 U.S.C. 7311).

In light of thase differences, the Board
agrees that a postal worker-specific
notice is necessary. The Board,
however, does not wish to create a
notice without the hensfit of specific
public comment on this issue.
Accordingly, the Board will exclude the
United States Postal Service from
coverage under the final rule; the Board
may, at a later date, request cormments
on a postal worker-specific notice.

Subpart B—Enforcement and
Complaint Procedures

Subpart B of the rule contains
procedures for enforcement of the
employee notice-posting requirement. In
crafting Subpart B, the Board was
mindful of the need to identify an
affective remedy for noncompliance
with the notice-posting requirement.
The Board gave careful consideration to
several alternative approaches to
enforcing the rule’s notice-posting

requirements. Those alternatives, not all
of which are mutually exclusive, were
(1) Finding the failure to post the
required notices to be an unfair labor
practice; {2) tolling the statute of
Himitations for filing unfair labar
practice charges against employers that
fail to post the notices; (3) considering
the willful failute to post the notices as
evidence of unlawful motive in unfair
iabor practice cases; (4) voluntary
compliance. 75 FR B0413-80414.

As explained in the NPRM, the Board
considered but tentativaly rejected
ralying solely on voluntary compliance.
This option lagically would appear to be
the least conducive to an effective
enlorcement of the notice-posting
requirement, and the Board's limited
experience with voluntary posting of
notices of employee rights seems to
confirm this. When an election petition
is filed, the Board's Regional Office
sends the employer Form NLRB-3492,
Natice to Employees, together with a
leaflet containing significant '‘Rights of
Employees." See the Board's
Casehandling Manual, Part Two—
Representation Procesdings, Section
11008.5, found an the Board's Web site,
http://www.nirb.gov. The Regional
Qffice also asks employers to post the
notice of employee rights in the
workplace; however, the Board's
experience is that the notices are seldom
posted. [d. at 80414, Moreover, bacause
the natice is voluntary and thera is no
enforcement scheme, there is no remedy
to [ix the problem when the notice is
not posted. The Board has found
nothing in the comments to the NPRM
that would give it reason to believe that
voluntary compliance would be any
mare effactive under the present notice
rile. Therafore, the Board has decided
not to rely on voluntary compliance.
Instead the final rule provides that
failing to post the notice may be found
to be an unfair labor practice and may
also, in appropriate circumstances, be
grounds for tolling the statute of
limitations. In addition, a knowing and
willful failure to post employee notices
may be found to be evidence of
unlawiul motive in an unfair labor
practice case. (As the Board also
explained in the NPRM, it did not
consider imposing monetary fines for
noncompliance, because the Board lacks
the statutory authority to impose
““penalties or fines.” See, e.g., Republic
Steel Corp. v. NLRB, 311 U.5. 7, 10-12
(1940).) These provisions have two
purposes: to ensure that any violations
of the notice-posting requirement that
occur may be remedied where
necessary, and to describe how
violations of the notice-posting

requirement may affect other Board
proceedings.137

The Board received several hundred
comments regarding the proposad
means of enforcing the notice posting
requirement. Those that favar
implementing the rule also favor the
proposed enforcement mechanisms, 138
Those opposing the rule genarally
oppose all three enforcement
mechanisms.

A. Noncompliance as an Unfair Labor
Practice

The rule requires employers to inform
employaes of their NLRA rights because
the Board believes that amployees must
know their rights in order to exercise
them effectively. Accordingly, the Board
may find that an employer that fails or
refuses to paost the required notice of
employee rights violates Section B(a)(1}
of the NLRA, 20 U.S.C. 158(a)(1} hy
“interfer[ing] with, restrain[ing}, or
coerc(ing] employees in the exercise of
the rights guaranteed in section 7 {29
U.S.C. 157)."

As it explained in the NPRM, the
Board expects that most employers that
fail to post the required notice will do
so simply because they are unaware of
the rule, and that when it is called to
their attention, they will comply
without the need for formal
administrative action or litigation.
When that is not the case, the Board's
customary procedures for investigating
and adjudicating alleged unfair labor
practices may be invoked. See NLRA
Sections 10 and 11, 29 U.5.C. 160, 161;
29 CFR part 102, subpart B.19% When the
Board finds a violation, it will
customarily order the employer to cease
and desist and to post the notice of

137 The 1olling and animus provisions are noi
ramadias in the usual sense of the \erm; however,
thess provisions inferm the public of the impact
that vinlatisns af the natice posting abligaiion may
hava in other NLRB procoodings. As described
below, these impacts sre nat a "punishment” for
nopcompliance. To the contrary, the tolling
pravisien is intondod to ensury thal noncompliance
with the notice posting requiremont does not
prajudice innecont employeas. And the animus
provision is intendod ta inform the public that
knowing and willful violations of the rule may
suppaort an inference of animus toward NLRA
rights.

148 Seg, a.g., Harkin and Mitlor, National
Employment Law Project, Public Justico Centar, inc.

v Tho Board's Ganeral Counsel has
unreviewablo discretien as to whother to issur a
complaint in an unfair labor practice procoediag.
See, e.g., Voca v. Sipes, 186 U.5. 171, 182 (1967).
‘The General Counsel has exercised that discretion
to refuse |6 proceed with merilorious charges when
it would not sorve the purpases of the Acl. Soo
General Counsel memoranda 02-08 and 95-15. This
diseretion includes dismissing any charge filad
against an crmployer that is not covered by the
Board's jurisdictionai requircments.
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employee rights as well as a remedial
notice. 130 75 FR 80414,

The comments opposing this proposal
make three principal arguments. First,
only Congress, nat the Board, has the
authority to “‘create a new unfair labor
practice.” 141 Second, even if the Board
possesses such authority, it has not
identifiad the Section 7 rights that
waould be interfered with by an
amployer's failure to post the notice, 42
Third, “interfer[ing} with, restrainlingl,
or coercling]’’ employees within the
meaning of NLRA Section B(a)(1}
necessarily invalves action, not failure
to act; tharefore, failure to post the
notice cannot violate Section 8(a)(1).142
‘The Board finds no merit in any of these
contentions.

Ta begin with, it is incorrect to say
that the Board lacks the authority to find
that failure to post the notice violates
Section 8(al{1] without Congressional
approval. [t is true, as the Socisty for
Fluman Resource Management states,
that *Section 10(a) of the Act
specifically limits the NLRB's powers Lo
preventing only the unfair labar
practices listed in Section 8 of the Act.
Section 8 is silent regarding any notice
posting requirement {emphasis in
original}.” However, as the Supreme
Court remarked long ago,

Tha [NLRA] did not undertake the
impossible 1ask of specifying in precise and
unmistakable language each incident which
would constitute an unfair labor practice. On
the contrary that Act left Lo the Board the
wark of applying the Acl's general
prahibitory language in the light of the
infinile combinations of events which might
be charged as vialative of its terms. Thus a
“rigid scheme af remedies" is avoided and
administrative flexibility within appropriate
statutoey limitations obtained Lo accomplish
the dominant purpose of the legislation.

Republic Aviation Corporation v. NLAB,
324 U.8. 793, 798 [1945]} [citation
omitted). Accordingly, since its
creation, the Board in interpreting
Section 8(a)(1) has found numerous
actions as to which *Section 8 is
silent’'—e.g., coercively interrogating
employees about their protected
concerted activilies, engaging in

vinConsistent wilh precodent, it wiil be unlawiul
tor an employer to threalen or cotaliale against an
employea for filing charges or testifying in 2 Board
procending involving an afloged vielation ol the
notico-posting raguiremont. NLRA Sections a[a)(E),
Bia){4), 29 U.5.C. t58{aj(1}, (4); Remar Aefuse
Hemovel, 314 NLRB 656 {1994].

it Spg, p.g., commants of FMI, Assislod Living
Federation of America {ALFA)

132 Beg, p.g., cominont af U, 5. Chamber of
Commnrca,

143 Sge, e.g., commenls of Employmont and Labor
Law Committea. Association of Corporate Counsel
{*'ACC™); California Chamber of Commerce
{California Chamber); aad Natioual Council of
Apricubtural Employers (INCAE),

surveillance of employees’ union
activities, threatening employees with
retalialion for engaging in protected
activities—to violate Sectior: 8{a)(1} by
“interier[ing| with, restrain[ing], or
coerc[ing] employees in the execcise of
the rights guaranteed in section 7" of
the NLRA. Section 8 is equally silent
concerning unions' duty to inform
employees of their rights under NLRB v.
General Motors, above, and
Communications Workers v. Beck,
above, before attermpting to obligate
them pursuant to a union-security
clause, yet the Board finds that a
union's failure to provide that notice
restraing and coerces employees in
violation of Section B(b}{1)(A).
Galifornia Saw & Knife Works, above,
320 NLRB at 233, 259, 261,144

Because, as described in detail abave,
notice posting is necessary to ensure
effective exercise of Section 7 rights, a
refusal to post the required notice is at
least an interference with employses’
exercise of those rights. For these
reasons, in finding that an employer's
failure to post the required notice
interferes with, restrains, or coerces
employees in the exercise of their NLRA
rights, in violation of Section 8(a}(1), the
Board is acting consistently with its
settled practice. Some comments claim
that the Board has not identified any
specific Section 7 right Lo justify this
remedy. But such specificity is not
neaded, because all Section 7 rights are
implicated by an employer's failurs to
post the required notice. As previously
statad, there is a strong nexus between
knowladge of Section 7 rights and their
free exercise. 1t therefore follows that an
employer's failure to post this notice,
which informs employees of their
Section 7 rights, reasonably tends io
interfere with the exercise of such
rights.

Finally, although most violations of
the NLRA involve actions rather than
failures to act, there are instances in
which a failure to act may be found to
interfere with, restrain, or coerce
employees in the exercise of their
Section 7 rights. Thus, a union's failure
to provide the required notices under
NLAB v. General Motors, above, and

+4 See Harkin and Millor. Although the Board
suggestod in a foetnote in Celifornie Saw thal these
was no obligation to inform emplayaos of their
Soction 7 rights, 320 NLRB at 232 ni. 42, this dicla
merely indicated that no such obligation had yoi
beon recognized in that particular context. To tho
oxtont it could be read as denying that such an
obligation may oxist, il is the considered view ol the
Doard thot this roading must be rejoctad, Similarly.
tho statemen! in (.5, Postal Service, 241 N.L.R.I.
141, 1532 [1978), roegarding afficmative notice
obligations is limiled to Weingorten rights, and, in
any ovent, doos nal sugsest that natice of NLRA
rights may nover be reguired.

Communications Workers v. Beck,
above, violates Section 8{b}(1}{A) of the
NLRA. California Saw & Knife Works,
ahove, 320 NLRB at 233, 2549, 261. An
employer that fails or refuses to execute

" an agreed-to collective-bargaining

agresment on request of the union
violates Section 8(d}, B{(a){5) and,
derivatively, Section 8(a){1). An
employer that fails to provide relevant
information requested by the union that
represents the employar's amployees
violates Section 8{a}(5) and [1). See, e.g.,
NLRB v. Truitt Mfg. Co., 351 U.5. 149
(1956).

The NLRA’s recognition that a failure
to perform a legal duty may constitute
unlawful interference, coercion or
restraint is not unique. Courts have
expressly held that the failure to paost
notice required by regulation can be an
“interference’ with employee Family
ancd Medical Leave Actrights. [na
provision that "largely mimics thle
language of] § 8(a){1) of the NLRA,”
Bachelder v. Am. W. Airlines, 259 F. ad
1112, 1123 {9th Cir, 2001), the FMLA
states that “[i]t shall be unlawful for any
employer to interfere with, restrain, or
deny the exercise of or the attempt to
exercise, aity right provided under this
title.”" 29 U.5.C. 2615(a}{1). In
interpreting this languags, the
Department of Labor's regulations
specifically state that failure to post the
required notice of FMLA rights “may
constitute an interfersnce with,
restraint, or denial of the exercise of an
employee’s FMLA rights” under section
2615(a)(1). 29 CFR 825.300(e). Courts
have agreed, finding that the failure to
provide FMLA natices is an “adverse
action” against the employee that
supports a prima facie case of
interference. Greenwell v. Charles
Machine Works, Inc., (W.1). Ok. April
15, 2011); Smith v. Westchesler County,
(S.D.N.Y. February 14, 2011).
Accordingly, the Board finds no
impediment to declaring that an
employer's failure to post the required
notice will violate Section 8(a)(1}.19%

As it explained in the NPRM,
however, the Board expects that, in
practice, few violations will be found
for failures to post the notice. The Board
anticipates that most employers that fail
to post the notice will do s0 because
they are unaware of the rule, and that
when they learn about the rule, they
will post the notice without the need for
formal administrative action or
litigation. 75 FR 80414. To that end,
§104.212(a) of the rule states that if an

145 ALFA contends that failure to post a Board-

requirad aotico Is aot an unfair labos practico, but
tha autharities cited do not supporl that
proposition,
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unfair labor practice charge is filed
alleging failure to post the notice, “the
Regional Director will make reasonable
efforts to persuade the respondent
employer to post the * * * notice
expaditiously,” and that “*{i|f the
employer does so, the Board expects
that there will rarely be a need for
further administrative proceedings.” 75
FR 80419,

Numerous comments assert that
finding the failure to post the notice to
be an unfair labor practice is too harsh
aremedy, especially for small
employers that are more likely to be
excusably unaware of the rule.146 As
just stated, in practice it should almost
never be necassary for proceadings to
reach that point. For the few employers
that may ultimataly be found to have
violated Section 8{a}{1) by failing to post
the notice of employee rights, the only
certain consequences will be an arder to
cease and destst and that the notice and
a remedial notice be posted; those
remedies do not strike the Board as
severe.

Michigan Health & Hospital
Association urges that an employer be
allowed to correct an initial failure to
post the natice without further
consequernces; Fireside Distributors, Inc.
agrees and asks that technical violations
of the rule not be subject to a finding of
a viglation. The Heritage Foundation
backs the same approach for inadvertent
failuces to post. The Board disagress. To
repeat, the Board anticipates thal most
employers that inadvertently fail to post
the notice will do so on being informed
of the posting requirement, and that in
those circumstances further proceedings
will rarely be required. Hawaver, the
Board believes that this matter is best
handled through the General Counsel’s
traditional exercise of prasecutorial
discretion in accordance with the
directions given here.

California Chamber and NCAE
contend that the Board should specify
the “reasonable efforts" a Regional
Director will make (o persuade an
employer to post the notice when a
charge alleging a failure to post has been
filed. They propose that the rule be
amencled to state that the Board will
send the employer at least two mailed
letters, with the notice enclosed,
requesting that the employer post the
notice within a specified period of time,
preferably 30 days. They also assert that
the Board must specify the
citcumstances in which additional
praceadings will be appropriate. The
Heritage Foundation urges that
§104.212(a) be modified to state that if

Mk Sap, g.g., comments of 5t Mar Enterprises, inc.
aril MNational Federation ef Indepondont Business,

an employer promptly posts the notice,
there will be no further administrative
proceedings, unless the Board has
information giving the Board reason to
beliave that the preceding failure to do
so was intentional.”” The Board rejects
these supgestions because they would
create unnecessary obstacles to effective
enforcement of the notice requirement.
That requirement is straightforward, and
compliance should be a simple matter.
The Board believes that the General
Counsel should have discretion to
address particilar cases of non-
compliance sfficiently and
appropriately, depending upaon the
circumstances,

B. Tolling the Section 10(b] Statute of
Limitations

NLRA Section 10(b} provides in part
that “no complaint shall issue based
upon any unfair labor practive oceurring
more than six months prior to the filing
of the charge with the Board[.]" 29
U.S.C. 160(h). Howevar, as the Board
stated in the NPRM, the 6-month filing
period does not begin to run until the
charging party has acinal or constructive
notice of the allegedly unlawful
canduct. See, e.g., John Morrell & Co.,
304 NLRB 836, 899 (1991), review
denied 998 F.2d 7 (D.C. Cir. 1993)
(table}. 75 FR 80414. This makes
intuitive sense, because it would be
unfair to expect charges to be filed
befare the charging party could
reasanably have known that the law was
violated. Similar concerns for fairness
justify tolling the statute of limitations
where an employee, although aware of
the conduct in question, is excusably
unaware that the conduct is unlawful
because mandatory notice was not given
to the employee. The Board found that
widespread ignorance of NLRA rights
justified requiring notice to be posted.
The Board cited the obssrvation of the
U.5. Court of Appeals for the Third
Circuit in a case involving the failure to
post the notice required under the
ADEA, that “[t/he [ADEA] posting
requirement was undoubtedly created
because Gongress recognized that the
very persons protected by the Act might
be unaware of its existence.” Bonham v.
Dresser Industries, 569 F.2d 187, 193
(1977}, cert. denied 439 G.S. 821 (1978).
Accordingty, the Board proposed that
talling the 10(b) period for filing unfair
labor practice charges might be
appropriate where the required notice
has not been posted. 75 FR 80414. For
the reasons discussed below, the Board
adheres to that view.

Section 18(b} is a statute of
limitations, and statutes of limitations
are presumed Lo include equitable
tolling whenever the statute is silent or

ambiguous an the issue. frwin v. Dep’t
Veterans Affairs, 498 U.S, 89, 94-96
{1990); Zipes v. Trans Warld Airlines,
Ine., 455 U.S. 385, 392-98 (1982); see
Young v. United States, 535 U.5. 43, 44
{2002) (“1t is hornbook law that
limitations periods are customarily
subiject to equitable tolling, unlass
tolling would be inconsistent with the
text of the relevant statute.” [quotations
and citations omitted)); Hallstrom v.
Tillamook County, 493 U.S. 20, 27
(1989) (“The running of such statutes is
traditionally subject to equitable
tolling.”); Honda v. Clurk, 386 U.S. 484,
501 (1967} Glus v. Brookiyn E.D.
Terminal, 359 U.S. 231, 232-33 (1959)
(equitable tolling of statutes of
limitations is "'[d]eeply rooted in our
jurisprudence’); Holmberg v.
Armbrecht, 327 11.5. 392, 396--07 (1946)
(equitable tolling is “read into avery
federal statute of limitation").

[n Zipes, the Supreme Court held that
the timeliness pravision of Title VII's
charge-liling requirement was “'subject
to waiver, estoppel and equitable
toiling.” 453 U.S. at 392-98. The
Supreme Court expressly analogized to
the NLRA, and stated that Sectian10(h}
was not jurisdictional: “[T]he time
requirement for filing an unfair labor
practice charge under the National
Labor Relations Act nperates as a statute
of limitations subject to recognized
equitable doctrines and not as a
restriction of the jurisdiction of the
National Labor Relations Board.” fd. at
n.11. Zipes strongly supports the
proposed rule. The analogy betwesn
Title VII and the NLRA is well
established, and neither the holding of
Zipes regarding Title VII nor Zipes'
characterization of 10(b) has ever been
called into doulbt,

Notices of employment rights are
intended, in part, to advise employees
of the kinds of conduct that may violate
their rights so that they may seek
appropriate remedies when violations
occur. Failure to post required notices
deprives employees of both the
knowledge of their rights and of the
availability of avenues of redress.
Accordingly, a substantial majority of
the courts of appeals—including the
First, Third, Fourth, Fifth, Sixth,
Seventh, Eighth, and Eleventh
Circuits—have adopted the doctrine that
the faiture to post required employment
law notices may result in equitable
talling of the statute of limitations.
Mercado v. Ritz-Carfton San Juan Hotel,
410 F.3d 41, 47-48, 95 FEP Cases 1464
{1st Cir. 2005} (Title VII); Bonham v.
Dresser Industries, abave, 569 F.2d at
193 (ADEA): Hommerv. Cardio Medical
Products, [ne., 131 Fed. Appx. 829, 831-
832 (3d Cir. 2005]) (Title VIl and ADEA);
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Vance v. Whirlpoal Corp., 716 F.2d
1010 (4th Cir. 1983) (describing notice
posting tolling as "the prevailing view
of the courts"); Elliot v. Group Med. &
Surgical Serv., 714 F.2d 556, 563-64
(5th Cic. 1983); EEOC v. Kentucky State
Police Dept., B0 F.3d 1086, 1096 (Gth
Cir. 1996), cert. denied 519 U.S. 963
{(19496); Posey v. Skyline Corp., 702 F.2d
102 (7th Cir. 1983}; Schroeder v. Copley
Newspaper, 879 F.2d 266 (7th Cir.
1888); Kephart v. Inst, Gas Tech., 581
F.2d 1287, 1289 (7th Cir. 1978);
Beshears v. Asbill, 830 F.2d 1348 (8th
Cir. 1991); McClinton v. Alabama By-
Prods. Corp., 743 F.2d 1483 {11th Cir.
1984}; see also Henchy v. City of
Ahsecon, 148 F. Supp. 2d 435, 239 (D.
N.J. 2001); Kamens v. Summit Stainless,
Inc., 586 F. Supp. 324, 328 (E.D. Pa.
1984) (FLSA). 147 (But see Wilkerson v.
Siegfried Ins. Agency, Inc., 683 F.2d
344, 347 (10th Gir. 1982) ("the simple
fatlure to post [Title VII and ADEA]
notices, without intent to actively
mislead the plaintiff respecting the
cause ol action, does not extend the
time within which a claimant must file
his or her discrimination charga.”)}

After careful consideration, the Board
is persuaded that the prevailing judicial
view should apply in the NLRA contaxt
as well.748 As an equitable concept,
equitable tolling is a matter of fairness,
The Board has determined thal many
employees are unaware of their NLRA
rights and has devised a minimally
burdensome means of attempting to
rectify that situation—requiring
employers to post workplace nolices
informing employees of those rights. To
bar an employee who is excusably
unaware of the NLRA from seeking a
remedy for a violation of NLRA rights
hecause he or she failed to file an unfair
laboe practice charge within the 10(b}
period, when the employer did not post
the required notice, would unfairly
deprive the employee of the protection
of the Act because of the employer's
failure to comply with its legal
responsibilities. To deny equitable
tolling in such circumstances “would
grant to the employee a right to be
informed without redress {for violation."
Bonham v. Dresser [ndustries, above,
569 F.2d at 193,149

17 See commenlts of Flarkin and Miller, AFL-CIO,

and Sorvice Employses iaternational Union (SEIU).
114 The Board has broad discration to interprot
1ti{h), includiag equitable 1olling, in aceordance

with its oxperionce administoring the Act. Lodge 64,

1AM v, NLRB, 8940 F.2d 441, 444 (0.C. Cir. 1991)
{deforring o the Baard's interprelation af 10{b)
cruilable excoptions).

¢ ndar the tinal rule, the Board could alsa find
the failure 10 post the notice to be an unfair laber
practice, and could, it appropriate, consider a
willful failura to post to br evidonce of unlawiul
motive in an unfaiz lsbor prociice case. However,

The Board received many commants
opposing this proposed rule provision.
Several comments assert that, when a
charging party is unaware of the [acts
supporting the finding of an unfair labor
practice, the Board tolls the 10(b) perioad
only when the charged party has
fraudulently concealed those facts from
the charging party.50 Thal is not so.
The Board has long held, with court
approval, that the 10(b) period begins to
run only when the charging party has
notice that the NLRA has been violated.
The party asserting the 10(b) defense
has the burden to show such notice; it
may. do so by showing that the charging
party had either actual or constructive
knowledge of the alleged unfair lahor
practice prior to the 10(b} period. See,
e.g., Broadway Volkswagen, 342 NLRB
1244, 1246 (2004}, enfd. sub nom. Eas!
Bay Automotive Couacil v. NLRB, 483
F.2d 628, 634 (9th Cir. 2007); University
Moving & Storage Co., 350 NLRB 6, 7,
18 (2007); John Morrell & Co., above,
304 NLRB at 89%; Pullman Building
Company, 251 NLRB 1048 {1980), enfd.
691 F.2d 507 (9th Cir. 1982} (tablg);
Burgess Construction, 227 NLRB 765,
766 (1977), enfd. 596 F.2d 378 (9th Cir.
1978}, cert. denied 440 U.S. 940 (1979].
Knowladge may be imputed if the

-charging party would have discovered

the unlawful conduct by exercising
reasonable or due diligence. Broadway
Volkswagen, above, 342 NLRB at 1246.
Certainly, the Board has found it
appropriate to toll the 10(b} period
when the charging party was excusably
unaware of the pertinent facts because
the charged party had fraudulently
concealed them; see, e.g., Burgess
Consiruction, above, 227 NLRB at 766;
but telling is not limited to such
circumstances, Pullman Building
Company, above, 251 NLRB at 1048.
To the extent that the comments argue
that the Board should not engage in
equitable tolling of the 10{b} period
when an employer has merely failed io
post the notice but not engaged in
fraudulent concealment,*3 the Board
disagrees. Fraudulent concealment
concerns a different kind of equitable
doctrine, and is not directly relevant to
the notice posting equitable tolling
doctrine hereby adopted. See Mercado,
above, 410 F.3d at 46-47 n.8 (employer
misconduct and equitable tolling

in the absonee of oquitablo 1olling of the 10(b)
puriad, such “rodress” would not aid an employeo
who was excusally unawsrs of his er her NLRA
rights, Failed (o fite a limely charge, and thus was
denled any romedy far violation of thoso rights, Cf,
Konekis Co., 291 NLRB 425, 416 fn. 10 (1989}
[possibility of criminal sanctions agaiest employer
waould he [ittle comfor ta chasging party if deprivod
of rocourse to Board’s remarlial processes).

158 Spe, gg., cammants of FMI, COLLE.

51 Spa, e.g., commaenis of FiMIL, COLLE

doctrine form “'two distinct lines of
cases applyling] two distinct standards
to two distinct bases far equitable
tolling").

Some comments argue that because
Section 10(b) contains a limited
exception to the 6-month filing period
for employees in the military, it is
impraper for the Board to toll the 10(b)
period under other circumstances. 132
The Board rejects this argument as
foreclosed by the Supreme Court’s
halding in Zipes, above, and by the long
line of Board and court decisions
finding tolling of the 10{b) period
appropriate. [n any event, the exception
in Section 10(b} for persons in the
military provides that if the aggrieved
person “was prevented from filing such
charge by reason of service in the armed
forces, in which event the six-month
period shall be computed from the day
of his discharge.” This provision does
not toll the six-month period during
armed service; rather, it states that the
six-month period begins at discharge.
See Holland v. Florida, 130 5.CL 2549,
2561 {2010) (rejecting argument that
explicit exceptions to time limits in
nonjuriseictional statute of limitations
precluded equitable tolling).15?

A number of comments contend that
tolling the 10(b) period is contrary to the
salutary purpose of statutes of
limitations in general, and 10(b} in
particular, which is "'to require diligent
prosacution of known claims, thereby
providing finality and predictability in
legal affairs and ensuring that claims
will be resolved while evidence is
reasonably available and fresh.’ 134
Black's Low Dictionary, 9th Edition, at
1546. The Board recognizes that with
the passage of time evidence can be lost
and witnesses die, move away, or their
meirtorias fade; it therefore will not
lightly find that the 10(b) period should
be tolled. However, like the courts
whose decisions are cited above, the
Board also recognizes that equitable
tolling is a fundamental part of the
statute of limitations, and that inequity
results from barring an individual from
seeking relief from a violation of his or
her NLRA rights whare the individual
axcusably was unaware of these rights,
After all, the purposa of a statute of
limitations is to “require diligent

152 Bag, o.g., comments of Californjn Chamber and
NCAE.

153 Americen Bus Associntion v, Slater, 231 F. 3d
1 [0.C. Cir. 2000}, cited by California Chamber and
NCAE. did not concorn equitable lolling and is
therefare inapposito. The court there also found shat
Congress had axprossly limided the sanctions
available under the Americans with Disabilitias Act
1o 1hose enumorated in thet stahule; such is not the
case uncder the NLRA.

154 Spe, o.p , comments of FMI COLLE, ank 1.5,
Chamber of Commarce.
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prosecution of known claims,"” not
claims that are unknown to the injured
party. As to concerns that the statute of
limitations could ba tolled for years,
“perhaps indefinitely,” % the Board
responds that such a potentisl also
exists under other statutes, as well as
under the NLRA when a charging party
is unaware of the facts giving rise to an
alleged unfair labor practice. However,
at this point, concerns about the
unfairness of lengthy tolling periods are
entirely speculative. Tolling is an
equitable matter, and one factor to be
considered in deciding whather
equitable tolling is appropriate is
whether it would prejudice the
respondent. Mercado, above, 410 F.3d at
48. Accordingly, il a lengthy tolling of
the 10(b} period would prejudice an
emplayer in a given case, the Board
could properly consider that facior in
determining whether tolling was
appropriate in that case, 158

Several comments argue against
tolting the 10{b) period because
“ignorance of the law is no excuse.” 157
This argument is amply refuted by the
courl decisions cited above, in which
limitations periods under other
warkplace statutes wers tolled because
employers failed to post required
notices. Most notably, the Fifth Circuit
has emphasized that the failure to post
a required notice “vitiates the normal
assumption that an employee is aware
of his rights.”" Elliot v. Group Med. &
Surgical Serv., 714 F.2d 556, 56364
(5th Cir. 1983). In any event, the maxim
relied on is generally understond to
have arisen in order to pravent
individuals {usually in criminal cases)
from deliberately failing to ascertain
whether actions they contemplate taking
wauld be lawful, and then pleading
ignorance when accused of
tawbreaking.?58 In the Board's view, this
reasoning loses much of its orce when
applied to individuals, such as charging
parties in unfair labor practice cases,
who are not accused of any wrongdoing
but who claim to have been injured by
the unlawful actions of other parties.

The Board emphasizes, however, that
failure to post the required notice will
not automatically warrant a tolling
remedy. If an employer proves that an

155 See comments af Fisher % Phillips LLC and
National Grocors Association.

358 Ag to ACLC's eoncorn that the rule could
polentially subject employess to unfair labor
practico charges based on conduct as far back as
19335, tho Hoardl siresses that tolling will be
svailablo only in the case of unlawlul conduct that
occuss after the rule takes cffont.

57 Seg, #.g., comments of Caozlition for a
Democratic Workplace and COLLE.

154 Marcover, even in criminal law, the principle
is not absolute. See, e.g.. Lambert v. California. 355
U.5. 225 [1857).

employee had actual or constructive
knowledge of the conduct alleged to be
unlawful, as well as actual or
constructive knowledge that the
conduct violated the NLRA, and yat
failed to timely file an unfair labor
practice charge, the Board will not toll
the 10{h) period merely because of the
employer's failure to post the notice. Gf.
John Morrell & Co., above, 304 NLRB at
899,

The Board asked for comments
concerning whether unions filing unfair
labor practice charges should be deemed
to have constructive knowledge of the
unlawful character of the conduct at
issue. All of the comments that
addressed this issue answered in the
affirmative.35% Unlike most employees,
unions routinely deal with issues
arising under the NLRA and are
therefore more familiar with the Act’s
provisions. Accordingly, the tolling
provisions in the final rule apply only
to charges filed by employaes, not those
filed by unions. (The Board still could
toll the 10(b} period il a charging party
union did not discover the facts
underlying the charge within six
months, if the employees reporting
those events failed to alert the union
within that time because they were
excusahly unaware of their NLRA
rights.]

Saveral comments contend that
failure to post the required notice
should not toll the 10(b) period if an
employee who files an unfair labor
practice charge is either a union
member or is represented by a union.
Taft Stettinius & Hollister LLP asserts
that the burden should be placed
equally on unions to ensure that their
organizers and members are awars of
employee rights under the NLRA.
California Chamber and NCAE observe
that knowledge of a filing time limit is
generally imputed to an individual who
is represented by an attorney, see, e.g.,
Mercado v. Ritz-Carlton San fuan Hotel,
above, 410 F.3d at 47—48; they urge that
an employee who is represented by a
union should be treated similarly.
Conversely, three Georgetown
University law students oppose the idea
that union-represented employees
should be deemed to have constructive
knowledge of NLRA rights. They rzason
that some workplaces may have
unrepresented as well as represented
employees, and tiat imputing
knowledge ta the latter group would
provide an incentive not to post the
notice, thus depriving the former group
of needad information. The students

154 See, e.g., comments of U.5. Chamber of

Commerce, American Trucking Associations, Tafl
Stattinius & Hollister LLP.

also suggest that same employeas,
though represented, may have little
contact with their unions and rely on
warkplace notices inslead af unions for
relevant information.

The Board finds some merit in both
sets of contentions. On the one hand, it
is reasonable to agsume that employees
who are represented by unions are more
likely to be aware of their NLRA rights
than unrepresented employees, And,
afthough being represented by a union
is not the same as being represented by
legal counsel, it is reasonable to assume
that union officials are sufficiently
conversant with the NLRA to be able to
give employees effective advice as to
their NLRA righls. On the other hand,
same employees, though rapresented by
unions, may in fact have fittle contact
with their bargaining representatives for
one reason or other and may, in fact, be
filing charges against their
representative. Thus, the Board does not
tind it appropriate under all
circumstances to impute knowledge of
NLRA rights to charge-filing employees
who are union members or are
represented by unions. Rather, the
Board will consider evidence
concerning the union’s representational
presence and activity in determining
whether it is appropriate to toll the
10(b} period.

C. Failure To Post as Evidence of
Unlawful Motive

The Board suggested that it could
consider an employer’s knowing failure
to post the notice as evidence of
unlawful motive in an unfair labor
practice proceeding in which motive is
an issua. 75 FR 80414-80415. A number
of comments assert that the Board
cannat properly take that step.150 To the
contrary, the Board has often considerad
other unlawful conduct as evidence of
antiunion animus in cases in which
unlawful molive was an element of an
unfair labor practice.'st See, e.g., Leiser
Construction, LLC, 349 NLRH 413, 417-
419 (2007) (threats, coercive statements,
interrogations evidence of unlawfully
motivated failure to hire), enfd. 281 Fed.
Appx. 781 (10th Cir. 2008)
(unpublished); Shearer's Foods, 340
NLRB 1003, 1094 {2003) {plant closing
threat evidence of unlawfully motivated
discharge); Ferguson-Williams, Inc., 322
NLRB 545, 703, 707 (1996} {threats,
interrogations, creation of impression of
surveillance, evidence of unlawfully
motivaied discharge); Champion Rivet
Co., 314 NLRB 1097, 1098 {1994}
(circulating unlawful antiunion petition,

1l Spa, p.p., commtents of COLLE and Califernia
Chambeor.
it Sge commen! af AFL-CIO.
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refusal to recognize and bargain with
union, evidence of unlawfully
motivated failure to hire}. Thus, it is
proper for the Board ta consider a
knowing and willful failure to post the
notica as avidence of unfawiul mative,
However, the Board has noticed that
it employed somewhat incensistent
language in the NPRM regarding the
consideration of failure to post the
notice as evidence of antiurion animus.
Thus, the caption of paragraph
104.214(b) reads: “Knowing
noncompliance as evidence of unlawful
mative.” However, the paragraph itself
states that “[f an employer has actual or
constructive knowledge of the
requirement to post the notice and fails
or refuses to do so, the Board may
consider such a willful refusal as
evidence of unlawful motive in a case
in which motive is an issue." (Emphasis
added in both cases.) 75 FR at 80420. In
the preamble to the NPRM, the Board
referred only ta knowing noncompliance
as evidence of unlawful maotive. 75 FR
at 80414-80415. On reflection, the
Board wishes to clarify this provision to
state that, to be considered as evidence
of unlawful motive, an employer’s
{ailure to post the notice must be both
knowing and willful—i.e., the employer
must have actual (as opposed to
constructive) knowledsge of the rule and
yet refuse, on no cognizable basis, to
post the notice, The Board is revising
the language of the rule accordingly.
The comment that prompted these
revisions urges that there should be no
adverse consequences {or the employer
that does not post the notice because it
has a good-faith {(but, implicitly,
erroneous) belief that it is not covered
by the NLLRA.152 The Board rejects this
contention as it pertains to finding the
failure to post to be an unlair labor
practice or grounds for tolling the 10(b)
period. Failura to post the notice
interferes with employees’ NLRA rights
regardless of the reason for the [ailure;
good faith, though commendable, is
irrelevant.183 Additionally, tolling is

162 One examplo could bo aa emptleyor that
balioves thal it is subjoc! to the Railway Labar Act
and not to the NLRA.

163 This is sa in other arcas of NERA law. For
examplo, an employer who coercively intorrogates
or disciplines an individual concerning his or hor
union activilies violates the NLRA if the individual
is a statutory smployoo, cven though the employor
may have honastly belicved that the iadividual was
a slatutory supervisar and aot protected by the
NLRA. Also, absanit compelling sconomic
circumstances, an emplayer that is testing tho
Hoard's cortiication of a newly-selected union in
tha caurt of appeals makes unilateral changoes in
unit employces® terms and conditions of
employment at its poril; i the court atfirms tho
cortification, the unilsteral changes violate NLRA
Section B{u){5) oven # the employer halicved in
goad faith that the certification was inoppropriate.

concerned with fairness to the
employee, and these fairness concerns
are unaffected by the employer’s goad or
bad faith; as previously noted, notice
posting tolling is fundamentally
different from tolling based upon
employer misconduct. Howevar, an
employer that fails to post the notice
only because it honestly but erroneously
believes that it is not subject to the
NLRB's jurisdiction does not thereby
indicate that it is hostile to employees’
NLRA rights, but only that it beliaves
that those rights do not apply in the
employer's workplace. In such a case,
the emplayer's good faith normally
should preclude finding the failure to
post to be willful or evidence of
antiunion animus,

ACC contends that even though the
rule states that only a “willful” failure
to post the notice may be considerad
svidence of unlawful motive, in practice
the Board will always infar at least
constructive notice rom the publication
of the rule in the Federal Register and
the maxim that "ignorance of the law is
no excuse. 184 The Board rejects this
contention. The quoted maxim means
onty that an employer’s actual tack of
knowledge of the rule would not excuse
its failure {o post the notice. [t would,
however, undercul any suggestion that
the failure to post was willful and
therefore indicative of unlawlul motive.

Contrary to numerous comments,16s
finding a willful failure to post the
notice as evidence of animus is not the
same as adopting a “presumption of
animus" ot “presumption of unlawtul
motive.” Thers is no such presumption.
The Board's general counsel would have
the burdan of proving that a failure to
post was willful. [n any event, a willful
failure to post would not be conclusive
proof of unlawful motive, but marely
evidence that could be considered,
along with other evidence, in
determining whether the general
counsel had demonstrated unlawful
motive.196 Likewise, contrary to the
contentions of ALFA and AHCA, the
Board will not assume that any failure

Mike O'Connor Chevrole!, 208 NLRD 701, 703
(1974}, ent. deniod on other grounds 512 F.2d 684
[ath Cir. 1975}

184 See also comment af American Hoalth Caro
Association [AHCA).

i85 Sge, g.p., commuonts of FMI and COLLE.

66 Thg Gaorgotown law students ask whether,
failure to post tha notice may be found to be an
unlair tabor practice and also may be considored
evidence of antiunion animus, such a fzilure could
"sutisfy an alemenl of its own violatian.” Tha
answer is no. because the failure to post, whether
knowing or inadvestent, would he an unfair labor
praciice regardless of motive; knowing and willful
Iailure 1o post would be relevant onty in cases such
as hoso alloging unlawiul discipling, discharge, or
refusal to hire, in which metive is an element of the
violalion.

to post the notice is intentional and
meant to prevent employees of learning
thair rights.

D. Other Contments

The Board received many comments
asserting that if the proposed
enforcement scheme for failure to post
the required notice is adopted, union
adherents will tear down the notices in
order to harass employers and,
particularly, to vitiate 10(b).787 These
comments express the concern that
tolling the 10(b) period will lead to a
flood of unfair labar practice charges,
and that, to avoid that aventuality,
employers will have to incur significant
costs of policing the postings and/or
installing expensive tamper-proof
bullatin boards. %@ In the absence of
experience with such postings, the
Board deems these concerns speculative
al this time. If particular employers
experience such difficulties, the Board
will deal with them on a case-hy-case
basis. However, as explained above,
tolling is an equitable matter, and if an
employer has posted the notice and
taken reasonable steps to insure that it
remains pasted, it is unlikely that the
Board would find tolling appropriate.

California Chamber and NCAE ask the
Board to specify the "additional
remedies’ that may be imposed in the
avent of a notice posting violation,
104.213(a). The Board has hroad
discretion in crafting remedias for
violations of the NLRA. NLAB v. Seven-
Up Bottling Co. of Miami, 344 U.5. 344,
346 (1953). The remedies imposed in a
given case depend on the nature of the
violations and the particular facts in the
case. The Board declines to speculate as
to every possible remedy that might be
imposed in every imaginable set of
circumstances.

Several comments protest that
employers could be fined for failing to
post the nolice; several others contend
that the Board should levy fines instead
of imposing the proposed remedies. The

U7 Sag, g8, commeants of Lemon Grove Care &
Rehabilitation, numarous *posicard” comments.

150 One comunent asserts that because of the
patential for tofting the 10(k) period, “busincsses
* * * will kave to keep records forevarl.|” The
Board finds ro merit in this contention. Employers
thai are awara of the rule con aveid keeping records
“forover’ simply by posting tho notice. Employors
that are not nwara of tho requirement lo post the
nolice would also be unawaro of the possibility of
tolling the 10(b) period in the evont of a Failurs 10
post, and thus would discera no reason 1o—and
probzably would not—kaoop recards “forevar.”
Prejudice o the employer because of long-lost
records would be considerad by the Board in
dotermining whother tolling is appropriate in the
particular case,

Anothor comment complains that “the
requirement of proof on the employar to "cectify’
thai this pasting is up each day is burdensamaol.]”
Thero is no such requirement.
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Board rejects both contentions because,
as explained in the NPRM, the Board
does not have the authority to impose
fines. 75 FR 80414, citing Republic Steel
Corp. v. NLRE, 311 U.5. 7, 10-12 {1940}
Another comment argues that the Board
should not provide remedies for failing
to post the notice because such
remedies are not provided under other
statutes. [n fact, both remedies anc
sanctions are imposed under some
statutes; see, e.g., 29 CFR 1601.30 (fine
of $110 per offense for failing to post
notice under Title VIi); 29 CFR .
825.300(a}(1) (same sanction for failing
io post notice under FMLA]; cases cited
above for tolling of imitation periods
for failing to post notices under several
statutes.

One comment contends that the
proposed remedies were proposed
solaly as means of deterring failures to
post tha notices, and are therefore
inappropriate; several other comments
assert that the proposed remedies are
punitive.18* Although the Board
disagrees, there is language in the
NPRM that may have inadvertently
suggested that the enforcement
mechanisms were proposed selely for
deterrent purposes. The Board wishas to
correct any such misimpression. As
stated above, in explaining why it was
proposing those mechanisms, the Board
stated in its NPRM thal it was *mindful
of the need to identify effective
incentives for compliance.” 75 FR
80413, Later, referring to tolling the
10(b} period and considering a willful
failure to post the notice as evidence of
unlawful motive, the Board said that it
“proposes the following options
intended to induce compliance with the
notice-posting requirement.” Id. at
804 14. However, the Board made those
statements while explaining why it had
determined not to rely entirely an
employers’ valuntary compliance with
the rule. (The Board had had little
success in parsuading employers to
voluntarily post notices of employee
rights during the critical period leading
up to a representation election.) Id. By
noting that the proposed enforcement
scheme would have some deterrent
effact in that context, the Board did not
mean to imply that it was proposing
those measures solely for deterrence
purpaoses. For the reasons discussed at
length above, the Board has found that
finding a failure to post the notices to
violate Section B{a){1) and, in
appropriate circumstances, to warrang
tolling the 10(b} period and/or inferring
urawlul motive in an unfair labor
practice case are legitimate remedial

WY Sep, g8, commonts of FVIL ALFA, AFHCA.

meastres supported by extensive Board
and court precedent.

In addition, in a number of places the
NPRM used the term “sanctions” ina
very loose sense to refer to aspects of the
proposed enforcement scheme,
inadvertently suggesting that this
scheme was punitive. The term
"sanctions™ was an inapt choice of
descriptor for the enforcement scheme:
the classic 8(a)(1) remedial order has
long been upheld as nenpunitive;
equitable tolling is concerned with
fairness to smployees, not punishment
of misconduct, and is fully consistent
with current Board doctrine; and the
animus provision is little more than the
common-sanse extension of well-
established evidentiary principles that
apply to many other NLRA violations,
and is also not designed to punish
employers. That they may also furnish
incentives for amployers to comply with
the notice-posting rule does not datract
from their legitimacy; if it were
otherwise, the Board could never
impose any remedy for violations of the
NLRA if the remedy had a deterrent
effect. In any event, the Board hereby
disavows any supgestion from
statements in the NPRM that the
remedial messures were proposed solely
as penalties.

Contrary to the tenor of numerous
comments opposing this rule,? the
Board is not issuing the rule in order to
entrap unwary employers and make
operations mare difficult for them
because of inadvertent or technical
violations. It is deing so in order that
employees may come to understand
their NLRA rights through exposure to
notices posted in their workplaces
explaining those rights, Accordingly,
the important thing is that the notices be
posted. As explained above, an
employer that fails to post the notice
because it is unaware of the rule, but
promptly posts the notice when the rule
is brought to its attention, will nearly
always avoid any further proceedings.
Similarly, an employer that posts the
notice but fails initially to comply with
one of the technical posting
requirements will almost always avoid
further problems by correcting the error
when it is called to the employer's
attention. And if ap employer is unsure
of what the rule requires in a particular
setting, it can seek and receive guidance
from the Board.

The Service Employees International
Union and the United Food and
Commercial Workers propose that, in

170 For example, "' This scems 1o be yelt another

trap for the employers. Anothar avonue to subject
them to law suits sad intarrogations, and
uneconomic activities and wngodby exponditures.”

addition to the proposed enforcement
scheme, the rule state that an
emplover's knowing failure to post the
notice of employee rights during the
critical period before 4 representation
election shall be grounds for setting the
election aside on the filing of proper
ohjections. The Board finds that this is
unnacessary, because the Board's notice
of election, which must be posted by an
gmployer three working days before an
election takes place, contains a
summary of employee NLRA rights and
a list of several kinds of unfair labor
practices, and failure to post that notics
already constitutes grounds for setting
an election aside.1”1 [n any event,
during a union arganizing campaign, the
union can instruct members of its in-
plant organizing committes to verify
whether the notice required under this
rule has been posted; if it has not, the
union can so inform the employer and,
if need be, the Board's regional office.

Subpart C—Ancillary Matlers

Several technical issues unrelated to
those discussad in the two previous
subparts are set aut in this subpart.

[V. Dissenting View of Member Brian E.
Hayes

“Apencies may play the sorcerer’s
apprentice but nat the sarcerer
himsalf.” 172

Today, my colleagues conjure up a
new unfair labor practice based on a
riew slatutory obligation. They impose
on as many as six miflion private
employers the obligation to post a notice
of employee rights and selectad
illustrative unfair labor practices. The
obligation to post is deemed enforceable
through Section 8(a)(1)'s proscription of
interference with employees’ Section 7
rights, and the failure to post is further
penalized by equitable tolling of Section
10(b)’s limitations period and the
passible inference of discriminatory
motivation for adverse employment
actions taken in the absence of posting,
While the need for a more informed
constituency might be a desirable goal,
it is attainable only with Congressional
imprimatur. The Board's rulemaking
authority, broad as it is, does not
encompass the authority to promulgate
a rule of this kind. Even if it did, the
action taken here is arbitrary and
capricious, and therefore invalid,
bacause it is not based on substantial
evidence and it lacks a reasoned
analysis.

17 §ee Section 103,20 of the Beard's Rules and
Repulations.

172 Afexonder v. Sendoval, 532 U5, 275, 261
(24001]).
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No Statutory Autharity for the Proposed
Rule

The majority concedes that the
"National Labor Relations Act does nat
directly address an employer's
obligation lo paost a notice of its
employees' rights arising under the Act
or the consequences an employer may
face for failing to do 50.” In fact, the
NLRA 72 makes no mention of any such
putative obligation. The majority further
acknowledges that the NLRA "is almost
unique among major Federal labor laws
in not including an express statutory
provision requiring employers coutinely
to post notices at their workplaces
informing employees of their statutoery
rights." Despite the obvicus import of
these admissions, the majority
concludas that the Board's plenary
authority under Section 6 of the Act to
make rules "“necessary to carry out the
provisions of the Act” permits
promulgation of the rule they advocate.
[ disagree.

Congress did nat give specific
slatutory authority to the Board Lo
require the posting of a general rights
notice when it passed the Wagnar Act
in 1935. Just one year earlier, however,
Congress amended the Railway Labor
Aet ("RLA") to include an express
notice-posting requirement. 45 U.S.C.
152 Eighth; Pub. L, No. 73—442, 48 Stal.
1185, 1188 (1934). As the Supreme
Court nated, the RLA served as the
model for the National Labor Relations
Act. NLRB v. Pennsylvania Greyhound
Lines, 303 U.5. 261 {1938). See also
NLAB v. Jones & Laughlin Steel Corp.,
301 U.5. 1, 44 (1937); H. J. Heinz Co. v.
NLHB, 311 U.5. 514, 524-525(1841).

That Congress did not include an
express notice-posting requirement
when passing the Wagner Act the
following year strongly implies, if not
compels, the conclusion that Congress
did not intend for the Board to have
regulatory autherity to require sucha
notice. Nothing in the legislative history
hints of any concern by Congress about
the need for employers to notify
employees generally of their rights
under the new enacting statute. Since
1935, despite extensive revisions in the
Taft-Hartley Act amendments of 1947
and the Landrum-Griffin Act
amendments of 1959, Congrass has
never added such authority.

On the other hand, when Congress
has subsequently desired to include a
general rights notice-posting
requirement, it has done so expressly in
other federal labor and employment

173 Throughout this dissont, 1 will refor gonerally
1o the statulo we administer os tho NLRA, unless
the discussion fecuses on a spacific historical
version, such as the Wagner Acl.

laws. See Title VII of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964 (Title VIT}, 42 U.S.C.
2000e-10, the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act (ADEA), 29 U.5.C. 627,
The Occupational Safety and Health
Act, 29 UG.8.C. 657(c), the Americans
with Disabilities Act (ADA}, 42 U.5.C.
12115, the Family and Medical Leave
Act (FMLA), 29 U.5.C. 261%Ha), and the
Uniformed Service Employment and
Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA],
38 U.5.C. 4334(a).

The majority points cut that the
Department of Labor (OOL) promulgated
a notice-posting rule under the Fair
Labor Stanclards Act [FLSA), although
that statute does not contain a specific
statutory provision on workplace
postings. However, the FLSA, unlike the
NLRA, imposes a data-collection and
recordkeeping requirement on
employers. 29 U.5.C. 211(c). DOL's
Wage and Hour Administrator
promulgated the notice-posting
regulation in 1949 in reliance on this
requirement. [t appears that the
propriety of the FLSA rule has never
bzen challenped, perhaps because,
unlike the rule promulgated herein,
there are no citations or penaltias
assessad for the failure to post. This is
a significant point of distinction that
warrants turther discussion.

[l must be constantly borne in mind
thal the rule promulgated today makas
the failure to post the required notice a
violation of the Act. The msjority
misleadingly seeks to decouple
ohligation from violation in its analysis
by discussing the latter in the context af
enforcement of the assertedly lawful
notice-posting rule. That is nonsense.
Making noncompliance an unfair labor
practice is integral to the rule and,
consequently, integral to an analysis of
whather the notice-posting requirement
is a permissible exercise of the Board's
rulemaking authority. OF the
aforementioned agencies that have
notice-posting requirements, none of
them makes the failure to post unlawful,
absent additional specific statutory
authorization. Only the RLA, Title VII,
FMLA, and the Occupational Safety Act
{O5HA) have such authorizing language.
ADA, the ADEA, the FLSA, and the
USERRA do not. Consequently, an
employer's failure to post a notice under
those statutes is not subject to sanction
as unlawful.

Thus, both before and after the
Wagner Act, Congress has consistently
manifested by exprass statutory
language its intent to impose a genaral
notice-posting duty on employers with
respect to the rights of employees under
various federal labor laws. Only one
administrative agency promulgated a
notice-posting requirement in the

absance of such language in its enabling
statute. No agency has made the failure
to comply with a notice-posting
requirement unlawtul absent express
statutory authorization, until today.
The explicit inclusion of notice-
posting provisions and permissibile
sanctions by Congress in other labor
legislation undercuts the majority’s
claim that this notice-posting rule is nat
a "“major policy decision properly made
by Congress alone.” Strangely, the
majarity does not merely contend that
this pattern in comparable labor
legislation fails to prove that Congress
did not intend that the Board should
have the rulemaking authority under

Section 6 to mandate the notice posting

at issue here, They conversely contend
that it proves Congress must have
intended to confer such authority on the
Board! 174

Perhaps cognizant of the weaknass of
this position, the majority attampts to
downplay the import of Congressional
silence on the Board's authority to
mandate notice posting and to enforce
that mandate through unfair labor
practice sanctions. They cite Cheney
R.R. Co. v. ICC, 902 F. 2d 66, 68-69
(D.C. Cir. 1990}, for the proposition that
the maxim “‘expressio unius est exclusio
alterius,” which holds that the special
mention of one thing indicates an intent
for another thing not be included
alsewhere, may not always be a useful
taol for interpreting the intent of
Congress. Obviously, the usefulness of
this tool depends on the context of a
particular statute. Independent Ins.
Agents of Am., Inc. v. Hawke, 211 F.3d
638 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (applying the
maxim). In my view, the absence of an
express notice provision in the NLRA,
ane the failure to amend the Act to
include one when Congress expressly
included notice posting provisions in
other labor statutes, shows that it did
not intend to authorize the Board to
promulgate this rule.?7s

Arguing to the contrary, the majority
asserts that the notice-posting rule is

174 OF course. this reasoniag would seam to
dictate that the failuro of tha Board to inform its
own employeas of their goneral rights undor the
Fedaral Labor Relatiors Act is an unluir labor
practice, oven though kol statule imposes no such
expross requiremont. To date, [am not aware tha
this sgency, or any other, views itself os subjoct to
such an enforceable obligation.

173 The majority contands that the fact that the
rude comes 76 years after thy NLRA was enacled is
not a “condition of validity.” Mayo Feundation for
Medical Education and Research v, United Stotes,
131 8.CL. 704, 713-14 (2011) (quotiag Smiley v.
Citibank {8.0.], N.A., 517 U.5. 71§, 740 {159G])
["meither antiquity nor contemporaneity with the
statute {5 a condition of validity.”}. t have no
problem with that propositien, but if the Board
lacks statutary autharity to promulgate a rule, it is
of no matter that it attempis to do soin vear 1 or
year 76 of its exisionce.
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entitled to deference under the analysis
set forth in Chevron UL.S5.A. Inc. v.
Natural Resources Defense Council,
Inc., 267 U.S. 837 (1984). Under
Chevron, where Congress has not
“directly addressed the precise question
al issue,” id. at 842-843, that
rulamaking authority may be used in
order "to fill any gap left, implicitly or
explicitly, by Congress.” [, at 843,

Even assuming that the absence of an
explicit posting requirement in the
NLRA is not inferpreted as clear
expression of Congressional intent, the
majority fails to persuade that Congress
delegated authority in Section 6 of the
NLRA for the Board to fill a putative
statutory gap by promulgating a rule
that an employer commits an unfair
labor practice by failing to affirmative
notify its employees of their rights
under the NLRA. As the Supreme Court
has explained, “the ultimate question is
whether Congress weuld have inlended,
and expected, courts to treat [the
regulation| as within, or outside, its
delegation to the agency of ‘gap-filling'
authority.” Long Island Care at Home,
Lid. v. Coke, 551 U.S. 158, 173 {2007).

There is no doubt that there are many
gaps and ambiguities in the NLRA that
Congress intended for the Board to
address, using its lahor expertise, either
through adjudication or rulemaking.
However, the existence of ambiguity in
a statute is nol enough per se to warrant
deference to the agency's interpretation
of its authority in every respect. The
ambiguity must be such as to make it
appear that Congress either explicitly or
implicitly delegated authority to cure
that ambiguity. Am. Bar Ass'n v. FTC,
430 F.3d 457, 469 (D.C, Cir. 2005);
Motion Picture Ass'n of America, Inc. v,
FCC, 309 F. 3d 796, 801 (D.C. Cir. 2002)
{(“MPAA ") ("agency's interpretation of
[a] statute is not entitled to deference
absent a delegation of authority from
Cangress to regulate in the areas at
issue.”).

Thus, even when an administrative
agency seeks to address what it believes
is a serious interpretive problem, the
Supreme Court has said that the agency
“may not exercise its authority ‘in a
manner that is inconsistent with tha
administrative structure that Congress
enacted into law.'” FOA v. Brown &
Williarmson Tebacco Corp., 529 U.S.
120, 125(2000) (quoting ETSI Pipeline
Project v. Missouri, 484 .5, 493,
517{1988]). Further, the statute al issue
must be considered as a “symmeirical
and coherent regulatory scheme.”
Gustafson v. Alloyd Co., 513 U.S. 561,
560,115 5.CL. 1061, 131 L.Ed.2d 1
{1995). In our case, the exercise of
rulemaking authority under Section 6 is
not self-effectuating; it must be shown

to relate reasonably to some other
provision as part of the overall statutory
scheme contemplated by Congress.178

Nothing in the text or the regulatory
structure of the NLRA supggests that the
Board hag the authority to promulgate
the notice-posting rule al issue in order
to acdress a gap in the statutory scheme
for resolving questions concerning
representation through Section 9, or in
preventing, through Sections 8 and 10,
specifically enumerated unfair labor
practices that adversely affect
employees’ Section 7 rights. On the
contrary, it is well-established that the
Board lacks independent authority to
initiate or to solicit the initiation of
representation and unfair labor practice
proceedings, and Section 10(a) limils
the Board's powers to preventing only
the unfair labor practices listed in
Section 8 of the Act. Yet the majority
asserts that it may exceed these
limitations by requiring employers to
post a notice of employee rights and
iHustrative unfair labor practices at all
times, regardless of whether a petition
had been filed or an employer has bean
found to have committed an unlair labor
practice.

The majority's reliance on a
combination of Section 7, 8, and 10
warrants special mention. They reason
that an employer interferes with Section
7 rights in general, and thereby violates
Section 8(a)(1], by failing to give
continuous notice to employees of those
rights. It may be a truism that an
amployee must be aware of his rights in
order o exercise them, bul it does not
follow that it s the employer under our
statutory scheme who must provide
enlightenment or else incur liability for
violating those rights. The new unfair
labor practice created by the rule bears
no reasonable relation to any unfair
labor practice in the NLRA's pre-
existing enforcement scheme developed
over seven decades.’?7 [t certainly bears

V76 Spa, 2.0, Mourning v. Family Publications
Saorvice, Inc., 411 U.8. 356, [1973) Unlike here, the
Foderal Resorve Board aosily mot this stusdard in
Mourning when issuing a disciosure rogulation
undor tho Truth in Landing Act, oven though that
Act did not explicitly roquiro londers o make such
diselosuros. In sustaining the ropulation, the Court
found the regulation ta bo within the Fadoeral
Roservo's rulemaking authority and, in tight of the
legislativa history, the disclosure raquirament was
nol contrary to the statute. " The crucial distinction,
* * *{was that] the disclosure roquirement was in
facl enforced through the statuto’s pre-cxisting
remedinl sehome and in a manner consistent with
it."" Aogsdale v, Wolverine Warld Wide, Inc., 515
0.5. B1, 94 (2002).

17¥ The Senate repert an the Wagner bill stressed
that unfnir labar practices were “strictly limited to
those snumersted in soction 8. This is madn clear
by paragraph 8 of soction 2, which provides that
“The torm ‘unlair labor practice’ means unfair labor
practice listod in Soction B,” and by Saction 10{a]
empowering the Board to provent any unfair lohor

no relation to the few examples the
majority can muster in Board precedent.
The only instance with even a passing
rasemblance to the rights notice-pasting
requirement here is the requirement that
a union give notice of Beck 178 and
General Motors 19 rights. However, Lhe
faiture to give such a notice is not par
se unlawful. [t becomes an unfair labor
practice only whan a union, without
giving notice, takes the affirmative
action of seeking to obligate an
employee to pay fees and dues under a
union-security clause.180 Beyond that, a
union has no general obligation to give
employees naotice of their Beck and
General Motors vights; much less does it
violate the NLRA by failing to do so. By
contrast, the rule promulgated today
imposes a continuing obligation on
employers to post notice of employees'
general rights and, even absent any
alfirmative act involving those rights,
makes the failure to maintain such
notice untawiul.1m

Unlike my colleagues, [ find that the
Supreme Court's opinion in Local 357,
Teamsters v. NLRB, 365 U.S., 667 (1961),
speaks directly to this paint. In that
case, the Board found a hiring hall
agreement unlawfully discriminatory
per se because, even though it included
an express anti-discrimination

practice “listod in Section 6." Thus, “|noither the
Natianzl Labar Rolations Board nor the courts are
givan any blanket authority to prohibit whataver
labar practices thet in their fjudgment aro doomed
to be unfair.,” 5. Rop. No, 574, 74th Cong., 1st Sess.
17 (1935} at 8-9 roprinted in Logisiative History of
the Natienal Labor Relotions Act of 1933, Vol I at
2307-2308 (1985).

178 Communications Workers v. Deck, 487 U.5.
735 {1908},

17 NLHE v, Generol Motors, 373 U.S. 714 §1961).

' Californio Saw & Knife Works, 320 NLRD 224,
203 {1905},

11 None of the FMLA casos ciled by the majarity
suppaort finding that a failurs to post a goneral
nalice of employeo rights under the NLRA is
unlawiul. In Bachelder, the Ninth Circuit actually
found “unavailing” the omployoer's argument that it
hatl satisfiod zll its specific FMLA notlee
abligations bocause it had compliod with the
FMLA's genoral posting rula. Id. at 1127, fn. 3.
Rather, the court found that becausa the employer
failed to “notify’ an employoe which of tho four
FMLA's “leave year” calculation mothods it had
chosen, the employer “interfered™ with that
amployse's rights and, therofara, improporly used
tho employae’s FMLA coverod absences as a
“nogative factar'’ when taking tho alfirmative
atlverse action of discharging her.

Similarly, in noither Greenwell v. Charles
iMachine Works, Inc., 2011 WL 1458563 (W.D.Okla..
20t} Senith v. Westchester County, 769 F. Supp 2d
440 [5.0.N.Y. 2011), was the FMLA genoral posting
requirement a1 issue. Smith did not involve a potice
issue and Greenwell involved the erployer's failure
to comply with a different notification obligation
under tho FMLA.

I any event, as provisusly statad, FMLA
expressly providos that employers give notice to
employees of rights thoreunder and exprossly
pravides for sanctiens if notice is nol given. The
NLRA docs neither.
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provision, it did nat include two
additional provisions that the Board
declared were necessary to prevent
"unlawful encouragement of union
membership.” The Court disagreed,
stating

Pertiaps Lhe conditions which the Board
attaches to hiring-hall arrangements will in
time appes] to the Congress. Yet, where
Conggess has aclopted a selective system for
dealing with evils, the Board is confined to
that system. Naliona! Labor Relalions Board
v, Drivers, etc. Local Union, 362 U5, 274,
264—290, 80 5.CL. 706, 712-715, 4 L.Ed.2d
710, Whare, as here, Congress has aimad its
sanctions only al specifie discriminatory
practices, the Board cannot go farther and
establish a broader, mora pervasive
regulatary schema, 92

Congress in Section 8(a)(1) aimed its
sanctions only at employer actions that
interfere with the exercise of Section 7
rights. By this rulemaking, my
colleagues go farther and establish a
broader, more pervasive regulatory
scheme that targets employer inaction,
or silence, as unlawful interference. As
Local 357 instructs, they lack the
authority to do this.142

American Hospital Association v.
NLRB, 499 U.S. 606 (1991} {AHA), upon
which the majority heavily relies,
illustrates a valid exercise of authority
under Section 6. In AHA, the Supreme
Court unanimously upheld the Board's
health care unit rule, finding that
Section 6°s general grant of rulemaking
authority *‘was unquestionably
sufficient to authorize the rule at issue
in this case unless limited by some
other provision in the Act." Id. at 609~
10 {emphasis added). The Court further
found that the rule was clearly
consistent with authority under Section
9(b} to make appropriate bargaining unit
determinations. It specifically rejectad
the argument that language in 9(b)
directing ths Board to decide the
appropriate bargaining unit "in each
case” limited its authority to define
appropriate units by rulemaking,

Congress expressly authorized the
Board in Section 9{b) to determine
appropriale bargaining units and the
Board exercised its rulemaking
authority to promulgate a rule
“nacessary to carry out” Section 9(b). In
contrast, as previously stated, there is
no reasonable basis for finding that a
rule making it unlawful for employers to
fail to post and maintain a notice of
employee rights and selected illustrative

182355 U.S. al 676.

14 My colleaguas attempt to distinguish Local
257 as limited o an intorprelation of Sec. B{a){d)
and #{l:}{2)'s prohibition of discriminatory
practices. That mny have been the issue before the
Caurt, but | do not view the quoted rationale as so
limitesd.

unfair lzbor practices is necessary to
carty out any substantive section of the
NLRA. Nevertheless, the majority
construes AHA as an endorsement of
deference to the exercise of Section 6
rulemaking authority whenever
Cangress did not expressly limit this
authority. This is patently incorrect. “To
suggest, as the {majority| effectively
does, that Chevron deference is required
any time a statute does not expressly
negate the existence of a claimed
administrative power * * , is both
flatly unfaithful to the principles of
administrative law * * * and refuted by
precedent.” Roitway Labor Executives’
Ass'n v. National Mediation Bd., 29
F.ad 655, 671 (D.C.Cir.1994) (citation
omitted). Were courts “to presume a
delegation of power absent an express
withholding of such power, agencies
would enjoy virtuatly limitless
hegemony, a result plainly out of
kesping with Chevron and quite likely
with the Constitution as well.” Id.

In sum, the majority's notice rule does
not address a gap that Congress
delegated authority to the Board to fill,
whether by rulemaking or adjudication.
The Supreme Court has made clear that
“fwlhere Congress has in the statute
given the Board a question to answer,
the courts will give respect to that
answer; but they must be sure the
question has been asked.” NLAZ v.
Insurance Agents’ Int'l Union, 361 U.5.
419, 432-433 (1960). The Supreme
Court also has made clear; "[Congress]
does not * * * hide elephants in
mouseholes.” Whitman v. American
Trucking Associations, 531 U.5. 457,
468 (2001).

My colleagues' action here is
markedly like the Federal Trade
Commisaion (FTC) regulation rejected as
ultra vires by the court of appeals in
Amt. Bar Ass'n v. FTC, supra. The FTC
issued a ruling that attorneys engaged in
certain practices were financial
institutions subject to the privacy
provision of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley
Act (GBLA). Upon review of the
detailed statutory scheme at issua, the
court found it “difficult to belisve that
Congress, by any remaining ambiguity,
intended to undertake the regulation [of
a subject] * * * and never mentioned
[it] in the statute.” 430 F.3d at 469. The
courl further opined that to find the
FTC's interpretation to be “deference-
warthy, we would have to concluda that
Cangress not only had hidden a rather
large elephant in a rather obscure
mousehale, but had buried the
ambiguity in which the pachyderm
lurks beneath an incredibly deep mound
of specificity, none of which bears the
footprints of the beast or any indication
that Congress even suspected its

presence.” Id. No such conclusion was
possible in that case. No such
conclusion is possible here. Quite
simply, the Board lacks statutory
authority to promulgate a rule that
imposes a new ohligation on employers
and creates a new unfair labor practice
to enforce it.

The Rule Is Arbitrary and Capricious

Even if the Board arguably has
rulemaking authority in this area,
deferanca is unwarranted under
Chevron and the Administrative
Procedure Act if the rule promulgated is
“arbitrary or capricious in substance, or
manifestly contrary to the statute.”
United States v. Mead Corp., 533 U.S.
218, 227 {2001). Also see AHA, 499 U.5.
at 618-20 (applying arbitrary and
capricious standard in its consideration
of the Board's rule on acute care
hospital bargaining units). *Normally,
an agency rule would be arbitrary and
capricious if the agency has reliad on
factors which Congress has not intended
it to consider, entirely failed to consider
an important aspect of the problem,
offered an explanation for its decision
that runs counter to the evidence hefora
the agency, or is so implausible that it
could not be ascribed to a difference in
view or the product of agency
expertise.” Motor Vehicle Mfg. Ass'n of
the U.S., Inc. v. State Furm Mul. Auto.
Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 43 (1983). "[T|he
agency must examine the relevant data
and articulate a satisfactory explanation
for its action including a 'rational
connection between the facts found and
the choice made.” "' Id. [quoting
Burlington Truck Lines v, United Siales,
371 U.S. 156, 168 (1962)). See also
Business Roundtable et al. v, S.E.C.—
F.3d-, 2011 WL 2836808 (D.C. Cir.,
July 22, 2011} (finding SEC acted
arbitrarily and capriciously by relying
on insufficient empirical data
supporting its rule and by completely
discounting contrary studies).

In AHA, the Board's health care
bargaining units rule was supported by
“the extensive record developed during
the rulemaking proceedings, as well as
its experience in the adjudication of
health care cases during the 13-year
period between the enactment of the
health care amendmaents and its notice
of proposed rulemaking.” AHA, 499
11,5, at 618. The Supreme Court upheld
the validity of the rule finding it *based
on substantial evidence and supporled
by a “reasoned analysis.” Id. at 519
{citing Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass., 463
1.5, at 57).

By contrast, \the majority's articulation
of the nead to mandate that employers
violate Section 8(a)(1) unless they post
a notice of employee rights is not based
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on substantial evidence, nor does it
provide a satisfactory explanation for
the choice they have made, They
contend that a mandatory notice posting
rule enforceable through Section 8(a)(1)
is needed because they believe that most
employees are unaware of their NLRA
rights and therefore cannot effectively
exercise those rights. This belief is
based on: (1) Some studies indicating
that employees and high school
students about to enter the work force
are generally uninformed about labor
laws; (2) an influx of immigrants in the
labor force who are presumably also
uninformed about labor law; (3] the
current low and declining percentage of
union-represented employees in the
private sector, which presumably means
that unions are less likely to be a source
of infarmation about emplayee rights;
and {4) the absence of any peneral legal
requirement that employers or anyone
else inform amployees about their
NLRA rights. 75 FR 80411,

Neither the Notice of Proposed
Rulemaking nor taday’s notice
summarizing comments in response to
that notice come anywhere close to
providing a substantial factual basis
supporting the belief thal most
employees are unaware af their NLRA
rights. As for the lack of high school
education on this subject, we have only
a [ew localized studies cited in a 1995
journal article by a union atlorney. !4
With respect to the assumption that
immigranis entering the work force, we
have even less, only anecdotal accounts.
For that matter, beyond the cited journal
article, almost all supposed factual
support for the premise that employees
are generally unaware of their rights
comes in comments received from
individuals, union organizers, attorneys
represeniing unions, and immigrant
rights and worker assistance
organizations agreeing, based on
professed personal experience, that
most employees (obviously nat
including most of the employee
commenters) are unfamiliar with their
NLRA rights. There are, as well,
anecdotal accounts and comments from
employers, employer associations and

14 Pgtor D, DeChiara, “The Bight to Know: An
Argument for Informing Employees of Their Rights
under the National Luebor Beletions Act,” 32 Harv,
J. an Legis. 431, at 436 and fn. 20 (1995},

In the Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, tho
majority alsa reliod on fwo articlos by Professar
Charles |, Morris, a cu-peiitionor for notice-posting
rulemzking: “Henaissence ot the NLAB—
Upportunity and Prospect for Nen-Legislative
Procedural Reform at the Labor Borrd,” 21 Sietson
t.. Rov, 161, 107 (1993); and “"NLAB Pratection in
the Nonunion Warkplace: A Glimpse ot a General
Theary of Section 7 Condoct,™ 137 U, Pa. L. Rov.
1673, 16751676 {1989, Prafessor Morris did nat
refor lo any specific avidenco supporting a belicf
that employees lack knowlodgo of their rights.

management attorneys to the opposite
effact that the employees know about
their rights under the Act, but my
colleagues find these less persuasive.

In any event, the partisan opinions
and perceptions, although worthy of
consideration, ultimalely fail as
substantial evidence supporting the
Board rajority’s initial premise for
proposing the rule. There ramains the
Board's canclusion that the decline in
union density provides the missing
factual support. The majority explains
that there was less need for a posting of
information about NLRA rights when
the union density was higher because
“Friends and family who belonged to
unions" would be a source of
information. This is nothing mare than
supposition. There is no empirical
evidence of a correlation betwean union
density and access to information about
employee rights, just as there are no
broad-based studies supporting the
suppositions about a lack of information
stemming from high school curricula or
the influx of immigrants in the work
force.

Al bottom, the inadequacy ol the
record to support my colleagues' factual
premise is of no matter to them, In
respanse to comments contending that
the articles and studies they cite are old
and inadequately supported, they glibly
respond that the commenters “cite no
more recent or better supported studies
to the contrary,” as if opponents of the
proposed rule bear that burden. OFf
course, it is the agency's responsibility
to make factual findings that support its
decision and those findings must be
supported by substantial evidence that
must examine the relsvant data and
articulate a satisfactory explanation for
its action. Burlington Truck Lines, 371
U.5. at 187.

Even more telling is the majority's
footnote observation that there is no real
need to conduct a study of the extent of
employees’ knowledge of NLRA righits
bacausa the notice posting rule would
be justified even if only 10 percent of
the workforce lacked such knowledge.
This statement betrays the entire factual
premise upon which the rulemaking
initiative was purportedly founded and
reveals a predisposition to issue the rule
regardless of the facts. This is patently
“arbitrary and capricious.”

Even assuming, if we must, that there
is some factual basis for a concern that
employees lack suilicient information
about their NLRA rights, the majority
also fails to provide a rational
explanation for why that concern
dictates their choice made to address
that concern. Why, for instance, was a
noncompulsory information system,
primarily reliant on personal union

communications, suftficient when the
Wagner Act was passed, but no{ now?
The union dansity tevels for 1935 and
today are roughly the same.'85 Why at
a time when the Board champions its
new Web site and the Acting General
Counsel continues to encourage the
regional outreach programs initiated by
his pradecessor, do my colleagues so
raadily dismiss the Board's role in
providing information about rights
under the statute we administer? For
that matter, why are the numerous
employee, labor organizar, and worker
advocacy groups whose comments
profess awareness of these rights unabla
to communicate this information to
those who thay know lack such
awareness? [s the problem one of access
or message? Would a reversal of the
union censity trend or an increase in
petition and charge filings be the only
reliable indicators of increased
awareness’

I would think that a reasoned
explanation for the choice of a sweeping
rule making it unlawful for employers to
fail to post and maintain notice of
employee rights would at least include
some discussion of these questions and
attempt to marshal more than a
fragmented and inconclusive factual
record to support their choice. The
majority fails to do so. Their rule is
patently arbitrary and capricious.

Executive Order 13496

The majarity mentions in passing
Executive Order 13496 46 and the DOL
implementing regulation 17 mandating
that Federal contractors post a notice to
employees of NLRA rights that is in
maost respects identical to the notice at
issue here. Their consideration of this
administrative action should have led
them to the understanding that they lack
the authority to do what the President
and DOL clearly could do to advance
essentially the same policy choice.

The authority to require that
contractors agree fo post an NLRA
employee rights notice as part of doing
business with the Federal government
vomes both from the President's
authority as chief executive and the
specific grant of Congressional authority
in the Federal Property and
Administrative Services Act, 40 U.5.C.
101 et seq. There was no need or
attempt to juslify the promulgation of
the notice-posting rule by relying on
avidence that employees lacked
knowledge of their rights. Moreover, in

5 payor, Garald, " Unian Membership Tronds in
tho United States” (2004). Federal Publications.
Papar 174, Appendix A, hitp://
digitelcommons.ilr.cornelledu/key_svorkplace/.

674 FR 6107 {Feh. 4, 2006},

18775 FR 283606 (May 20, 2011%
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the notice of a final rule, DOL rejected
commenters' contentions that the
Executive Ordler and implementing
regulation were preempted by the
Board's jurisdiction under the Garmon
doctrine. 188 Necessarily, this meant that
DOL believed that the rule requiring
federal contractors to post the employes
rights notice did not invulve any rights
protected by Section 7 of the Act, such
as a right to receive such information
from their employer, or conduct
prohibited by the Act, such as the
employer's failure to provide such
information.

Not only does my colleagues’
tulemaking action today contradict
DOL's preemption analysis, but its flaws
are manifest in comparison to the DOL's
rule and the authority enabling it.

Conclusion's?

Surely, no one can seriously believe
that today’s rule is primarily intended to
inform employees of their Section 7
right to refrain from or to oppose
organizational activities, collective
bargaining, and union representation.
My colleagues seek through
promulgation of this rule to reverse the
steady downward trend in union
density among private sector amployees
in the non-agricultural American
workforce. Theirs is a policy choice
which they purport to elfactuate with
the Eorce of law on several frants in
rulemaking and in case-by-case
adjudication. In this instance, their
action in declaring that employers
violate the law by failing to inform
employees ol their Section 7 rights is
hoth unauthorized and arbitrary and
capricious. Regardless of the arguable
merits of their policy choice or the
broad scope ol Chevron deference and
the Board's rulemaking authority, 1 am
confident that a reviewing court will
soon rescue the Board from itself and
testore the law to where it was before
the sorcerer’s apprentice sent it askew.

V. Regulatory Procedures

A. Regulatory Flexilility Act

The Regulatary Flexibility Act of 1980
(RFA), 5 U.5.C. 601 et seq., requires
agencies promulgating final rules to
prepare a final regulatory flexibility
analysis and to develop alternalives

s 8on Diego Bidg, Trudes Council v. Garmon,
350 UL, 236, 244 {1659)

189 Bngause | find the rule is invalid, | find it
unnecessary to comment o the content of the
nelice or the cansaguences, othor than finding an
unfair fabar practice, if an employar fails ta past the
raquired notice. For the reasons stated in my
dissonting apinion in [. Picini Flooring, 356 NLRB
No, 9{2010), [ also disagroe with the rule's
roquirement that cortain amployers musl also
plectronically distribute the notice.

wherever possible, when drafting
regulations that will have a significant
impact on a substantial number of small
antities. The focus of the RFA is to
ansure that agencies "review dralt rules
to assess and take appropriate account
of the potential impact on small
businesses, small governmental
jurisdictions, and small organizations,
as provided by the [RFAL" E.O. 13272,
Sec. 1, 67 FR 53461 (“Proper
Consideration of Small Entities in
Agency Rulemaking”). However, an
agency is not required to prepare a final
regulatory flexibility analysis for a final
rule if the agency head certifies that the
rule will nat, if promulgated, have a
significant economic impact on a
substantial number of small entities. 5
UU.5.C. 605(b}. Based on the analysis
below, in which the Board has
estimated the financial burdens to
employers subject to the NLRA
associated with complying with the
requirements contained in this final
rule, the Board has certified to the Chief
Counsel for Advocacy of the Small
Business Administration {SBA] that this
rule will not have a significant
economic impact an & substantial
number of small enlities.

The primary goal of this rule is
notilying employees of their rights
under the NLRA. This goal is achieved
through the posting of natices by
employers subject to the NLRA of the
rights of employees under the NLRA.
The Board will make the notices
available at no cost to employers; there
are no information cellection, record
keeping, or reporting requirements.

Tﬂe Board estimates that in order to
comply with this rule, each employer
subject to the NLRA will spend & total
of 2 hours during the first year in which
the rule is in elfect, This includas 30
minutas for the employer to [earn where
and how to post the required notices, 3¢
minutes to acquire the notices from the
Board or its Web site, and 60 minutes
to post them physically and
electronically, depending on where and
how the employer customarily posts
notices to emplayees. The Board
assumes that these activities will he
performed by a professional or business
waorker, who, according to Bureau of
Labor Statistics data, earned a total
hourly wage of about $32.20 in March
2011, including fringe benefits.19v The

suu Sgurge: U.S. Department of Labor, Burosu of
Labor Statistics, “Economic Nows Rokease,” Tablo
H-H, June 3, 2031 [available at http/uavw.bls.gov).
{The Hoard is administratively informed that BLS
estimates thal fringo benefits are approximately
cgual 1o 40 percent of hourly wiges. Thus, to
caleulate total average hourly carnings, BLS
muitiplies averaga hourly wages by 1.4. In March,
2011, average hourly wages for professionad and

Board then multiplied this figure by

2 hours to estimate the average costs for
amployers to comply with this rule
during the first year in which the rule
is in effect. Accordingly, this rule is
estimated to impose average casts of
$64.40 per employer subject to the
NLRA (2 hours x $32.20} during the first
year.'9! These costs will decrease
dramatically in subsequent years
because the only employers affectad
will be those that did not previously
satisly their posting requirements or that
have since expanded their facilities or
established new anes. Because the final
rule will not require employers to post -
the notice by email, instant messaging.
text messaging, and the like, the cost of
compliance should be, il anything,
somewhat less than the Board
previously estimated.

According to the United States Census
Bureau, there were approximately 6
million businesses with employees in
2007. Of thase, the SBA estimates that
all but about 18,300 were small
businesses with fewer than 500
employees. 1 This rule does not apply
to employers that do not meet the
Board's jurisdictional requirements, but

business warkers wora $21.00. Table 8-8.
Accordingly, the Board mullipied that numbor by
1.4 to arrive at its estimate of $32.20 sverago hourly
parnings, including fringe bonefits,) n the NFRM,
tho Boartl estimated hourly earnings £ $31.02,
hased on BLS data from January 2008. 75 FR 80415,
Thao estimate has boan updatod to reflest increases
in hourly aarmings sinco that time. Those incroases
have boen ralatively minar, and do aot affect the
Board's conclusion that Lhe economic impact of the
rule witl not be signilicant; sce discussion below.
10t Thy: National Roofing Contractors Association
assarts {without support) that “fodesl sgoncies
have a notoriously poor track record in estimating
Lhe costs of now regulations on businesses™; it
thercfore predicts that “the actual cost for many
employers could be considorably higher.” The
Board recognizes thal seme employars, geaerally
firms with axtensive and/or muliple facilities, may
incur initial compliance costs in oxcess af the
Bonrd's pstimate. Far axample, s company with
multiplo locations may require mare than 10
minulas to physically post tho notices on all of its
verious bullotin boards. The Board’s estimate,
howavor, is an avorage for alt employers; many
small empioyers, especially those with only ane
faeility and/or Hmited eleciranic communication
with employees, may incur lowar compliance costs.

In this regard, hawaver, contrary to numorous
commants, such as that of 51 Mar Enterprises, [nc.,
the Board does not expoct that the rulo will be
*“yary burdonsome' for businosses with mare than
one facility. Normally, such firms shouldl have o
loarn about the rula’s requiroments and acquire the
natices only ance, no mattar how many facilities are
involved. The same should be true for eloctronic
posting: downloading ths notice and posting it on
an empleyor's Web site nermally should havoe to be
done onco for all facilitios. Thus, the only
additional gosts involved fer multi-facility firms
should be thaso of ghysically posting tho notices at
pach facility.

192 Source: S8A Difice of Advoecacy estimales
based oa data from the U.5. Departmont of
Commerce, Burcau of the Consus, and trends from
the U.S. Dopartment of Labor, Burcau of Labor
Statistics, Businoss Employment Dypamics.
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the Board does not have the means to
calculate the number of small
businesses within the Board's
jurisdiction. Accordingly, the Board
assumes for purposes of this analysis
that the great majority of the nearly 6
million small businesses will be
affected, and further that this number is
a substantial number within the
meaning of 5 U.5.C. 601. However, as
discussed below, because the economic
impact on those employers is minimal,
the Board concludes that, under 5
U.5.C. 605, the final rule will not have
a significant economic impact on any
small employers.

The RFA does not define “significant
economic impact.” 5 U.5.C. 601. In the
absence of specific definitions, “what is
‘significany’ * * * will vary depentding
on the problem that needs to be
addressed, the rule's requirements, and
the preliminary assessment of the rule's
impact.” See A Guide for Government
Agencies: How to Comply with the
Reguiatory Flexihility Act, Office of
Advocacy, U.S. Small Businass
Administration at 17 (available at
http://www.sbo.gov) (SBA Guide). As to
economic impact and whether it is
significant, one important indicator is
the cost of compliance in relation to
revenue of the entity or the percentage
of profits aftected, [d, at 17. More
specifically, the criteria to be considered

©are:

« Whather the rule will lead to long-
term insolvency, e, regulatory costs
that significantly reduce profits;

= Whether the rute wilTlead lo short-
tarm insolvency, i.e., increasing
operating expenses or new debt more
than cash reserves and cash flow can
support, causing nonmarginal firms to
close;

» Whether the rule will have
disproportionale effects, placing small
entities at a significant competitive
disadvantage; and

» Whether the rule will result in
inefficiency, i.e., in social costs to small
entities that outweigh the social benefits
resulting from the rule. fd. at 26.

Applying these standards, the Board
concludes that the economic impact of
its notice-posting rule on small
employers is nol significant. The Board
has determined thal the average cost of
complying with the rule in the first year
for all employers subject to the NLRA
will be $64.40. It is unlikely in the
extreme that this minimal cost would
iead to either the short- or long-term
insolvency of any business antity, or
place small employers at a competitive
disadvantage. Since this rule applies
only to organizations within the NLRB’s
jurisdictional standards, the smallest
employer subject to the rule must have

an annual inflow or outflow across state
tines of at least $50,000. Siemons
Mailing Service, 122 NLRB 81 (1959).
Given that the Board estimates that this
rule will cost, on average, $64.40, the
total cost for the smallest affected
companies would be an amount equal to
less than two-tenths of one percent of
that required annual inflow or outflow
(.13%). The Board concludes that such
a small percentage is highly unlikely to
adversely affect a small business,183
And, in the Board’s judgment, the social
henefits of employees’ (and employers')
becoming familiar with employees’
NLRA rights far outweigh the minimal
costs to employers of pasting notices
informing employees of those rights. 294

For all the foregoing reasons, the
Board has concluded that the final rule
will not have a significant economic
impact an a substantial number of small
entities. 5 U.S.C. 605,

As discussed in the NPRM, because it
assumes that a substantial number of
small businesses will be required to
comply with the rule, the Board
preliminarily considered alternalives
that would minimize the impact of the
rule, including a tiered approach for
small entities with only a few
amployees. However, as it also
explained, the Boacd rejected those
alternatives, concluding that a tiered
approach or an exemption for some
small entities would substantially
undlermine the purpose of the rule
because so many employers would be
exempt under the SBA definitions.
Given the very small estimated cost of
compliance, it is possible that the
burden on a small business of
determining whether it fell into a
particular tier might exceed the burden
of compliance. The Board further
pointed out that Congress gave the
Board very broad jurisdiction, with no
suggestion that it wanted to limit
coverage of any part of the NLRA to
only larger employers. The Board also
believes that employees of small
employers have no less need of a Board
notice than have employees of larger
employers. Finally, the Board's
jurisdictional standards mean that very
small employers will not be covered by
tha rule in any case. 75 FR B0416. (A
summary of the Board's discretionary
jurisdictional standards appears in
§104.204, below.) Thus, although

2 [ roaching this conclusion, the Board balioves
it is likely thal employers that might atharwiso ba
significantly aifectad oven by the tow zosl of
compliance under this rute will not mool the
Board's jurisdictional requiroments, and
ronsequently these employors witl net be subject to
this rule,

194 Sgo further discussion in section (I, subsaction
£, Factual Suppert for the Rule. above.

savaral comments urge that small
smployers be exempied from the rule,
the Board remains persuaded, for the
reasans set forth in the NPRM, that such
an exemption is unwarranted, 199

Some comments contend that, in
concluding that the proposed rule will
not have a significant impact on small
employers, the Board understates the
rule's actual prospective costs. One
comment, from Baker & Daniels LLP,
arguas that the Board improparly
focuses solely on the cost of complying
with the rule—i.e., of printing and
posting the notice—and ignored the
"actual economic impact of the rule's
effect and purpose.” According to this
comment, it is predictable that, as more
employees become aware of their NLRA
rights, they will file more unfair labor
practice charges and elect unions to
serve as their collective-bargaining
reprasentatives. The comment further
asserts that the Board has ignored the
“economic realities of unionization,"
specilically that union wages are
inflationary; that unions make business
less flexible, less compatitive, and less
profitable; and that unions cause job
togs and stifle economic recovery from
recessions. Accordingly, this comment
contends that “the Board's RFA
certification is invalid, and [that| the
Board must prepare an initial regulatory
flexibility analysis."” Numerous other
comments echo similar concerns, but
without referencs to the RFA,

The Board disagress with the
comment submitted by Baker & Daniels
LLP.196 Section 605(b) of the RFA states
that an agency need not prepare an
initial regulatory flexibility analysis if
the agency head cestifies that the rule

143 Cass County Electric Cooperative says that,
nfter estimating the average cost of compliancn, “the
NLRB guickly digresses into an attompt to estimate
the cast of tho proposod rule an only small
businesses,” The Board rosponds that in pstimating
the cost of the rulo on small businessos, it was
doing what the RFA explicitly roquires (and that
focusing on small businesses, which comprise more
than 98 percent of potentially affecied firms, is
hardly a “digression”} The comment also asseris
that the Hoard concluded “that tho cast of
ostimating the implomenintion cost will likaly
uxcead the cost of implomentation, and thus is aot
warrantad. At best, this is a poor oxcuso to justify
the sule.” This misstates the Board's obsarvation
that “Given the very small astimatod cost of
complionca, it is possihla that the burden an a small
business of determining whether it fzll into a
particular tior might axcead tho burden of
complionca.” This nhservation was ono of the
reasans why the Board rejeciod a tiored approach
to coverage Jor small entities, not an “excuse lo
justify tho rule.” 75 FR B0416.

w5 any evont, the commant from Baker &
Danials LLP and relatad comments are difficuli to
squara with the assertions made in numuorous othor
cammeanis that the notice posting is unnecessery
because employaos aro alraady woll aware of their
NLRA rights and have made informed decisions not
to join unions ar seak union reprasentation.



54044

Federal Register/Vol. 76, No. 168/ Tuesday, August 30, 2011/Rules and Regulations

will not have a signiticant economic
impact on a substantial number of smali
entities. 5 U.5.C. 605(b) (emphasis
adcded). The Board understands the
“gponomic impact of * ¥ * the rule’ to
refer to the costs to affected entities of
complying with the rule, not to the
economic impact of a series of
subsequent decisions made by
individual actors in the economy that
are neither compelled by, nor the
inevitable result of, the rule.297 Even if
more employees opt for union
representation after learning about their
rights, employers can avoid the adverse
eifects on business costs, flexibility, and
profitability predicted by Baker &
Daniels LLP and other commenters by
not agreeing to unions’ demands that
might produce those effects. 148

The Board finds support for this view
in the language of Section 603 of the
RFA, which tists the items to be
included in an tnitial regulatory
flexibility analysis if one is required. 5
U.5.C. 603. Section 603(a] states only
that such analysis *'shall describe the
impact of the proposed rule on small
gntities.” 5 U.5.C. 603(a). However,
Section 603(b) provides, as relevant
here, that "“[e]ach initial regulatory
flexibility analysis * * * shall
contain—* * *

"*{4) a description of the projected
reporting, recordkesping and other
complionce requirements of the
propased rule, including an estimata of
the classes of small entities which will
he subject to the requirement and the
type of professional skills necessary for
preparation of the report or record[.]” §
U.5.C. 603(b)(2) (emphasis added). The
Simall Business Administration cites, as
examples of “other compliance
requirements,”

{a) Capilal costs for equipment neaded to
meel the regulalory requirements; (b) costs of
modilying existing processes and procedures
to comply with the proposed rule; (c] last
sales and profits resulting from the proposed
nile; (d) changes in market competition as a
resull of the proposad rule and ils impact on
small entities or specific submarkets of small
entities; (8} extra costs associated with the
payment of taxes or fees associated with the
proposed rule; and {f) hiring employees
dedicated 1o compliance with regulatory
requirements. 19

Thus, the “impact” on small entities
referred to in Section 603(a) refers only

7 For RFA purposes, the rolovani cconomic
impact on small entities is the impact of
complianco with the rale. Mid-Tex Electric
Cooperative, Inc. v. FERC, 773 F.2d 327, 342 [D.C.
Cir. 1985), citod in 58A Guide, above, at 77.

#u NLRA Section d(cd) expressly stves that the
obligation to basgain in good faith “does nat compel
either parly to agroe to n praposal or require tha
making of a concessionl.]" 29 U.5.C. 158(d}.

19 SBA Guide, above, at 34,

to the rule's projected compliance costs
to small entities (none of which would
result from posting a workplace notice],
not the kinds of speculative and indirect
economic irpact that Baker & Daniels
LLC invokes, 200

Associated Builders and Contractors,
Inc. (ABC) and Retail Industry Leaders
Association (RILA) contend that the
Board's RFA analysis fails to account for
the costs of electronic notice posting,
especially for employers that
commuunicate with employses via
multiple electronic means. Both
comments deplore what they consider
to be the rule's vague requirements in
this respect. ABC argues that clear
guidance is needed, and that the Board
should withdraw the electronic notice
pasting requirermnents until more
information can be gathered. RILA
asserts that "[d]eciphering and
complying with the Board’s
requirements would impose significant
legal and administrative costs and
inevitably result {in} litigation as parties
disagree about when a communication
is 'customarily used,” and whether and
when emgloyees need to be informed
through multiple communications,”

Numerous comments assert that
employers, especiatly small employers
that lack professional human resources
stall, will incur significant legal
expenses as they attempt to comply
with the rule. For example, Fisher and
Phillips, a management law firm, urges
that the cost of legal fees should be
included in assessing the economic
impact of the proposed rule: “[1]t might
be considered naive to assume that a
significant percentage of small
employers would not seek the advice of
counscl, and it would be equally naive
to assume that a significant percentage
of those newly-engaged lawyers could
be retained {or as little as $31.02/bour.”

Those comments are not persuasive.
The choice to retain counsel is not a
requirement for complying with the
rule, This is not a complicated or
nuanced rule. The employer is only
raquired to post a notice provided by
the Board in the same manner in which
that employer customarily posts notices
to its employees. The Board has

‘explained above what the rule's

electronic posting provisions require of
employers in general, and it has
simplified those provisions by
eliminating the requirement that notices
be provided by email and many other
forms of electronic communication.20t It

2w Bkor & Daniels LLP cites no authority io
supporl ils contention that the RFA is conceraed
with casts ather than the casts of compliance with
tho rele, and the Board is aware of none.

21 Contrary 1o ABC's and RILA's assertions, the
Board did estimme the cost of complying with the

should not be necessary lor employars,
small or large, to add human resources
stall, retain counsel, or resort to
litigation if they have questions
concerning whether the proposed rule
applies to them or about the
requirements for technical compliance
with the rule, including how the
electronic posting provisions
specifically affect their enterprises,202
Such questions can he directed to the
Board's regional offices, either by
telephone, personal visit, email, or
tegular mail, and will be answered free
of charga by representatives of the
Board 243

Cass County Electric Cooperative
argues that the Board [ailed to take into
account legal expenses that employers
will incur if they fail to “follow the
leiter of the proposed rule.” The
comment urges that the Board should
estimate the cost to businesses “should
they have to defend themselves against
an unfair labor practice for failure to
comply with the rule, no matter what
the circumstances for that failure might
be.”" presumably including failures to
post the notice by employers that are
unaware of the rule and inadvertent
failures to comply with technical
posting requirements. International
Foodservice Distributors Association
contends that the Board also should
have considered the costs of tolling the
statute of limitations when employers
fail to post the notice. However, the
costs referred to in these comments are
costs of not eomplying with the rule, not
compliance costs. As stated above, for
RFA purposes, the relevant economic
analysis focuses on the costs of
complying with the rula.204

rulg's electronic notice posting requiremonds; ils
ostimolod averaga caost of $62.04 specificaily
ineludod such costs, 75 FR 80415, Although ABC
Faults the Haard far failing to issup a proliminary
request for information (RF1) concerning the ways
pmployers communicate with cmployoes
vlactronically, tha Doard did ask for commonis
concecning its REA cortification in the NERM, id.
at B4 16. In this regard, ABC states only that “many
ABC member companios communicate with
employoes through email ar ather elactronic
means,” which the Board expressly contomplatad
in the NPRM, id. at 80413, and which is also the
Hoard's practice with respoct to communicating
with its own employous. If ABC has moro specific
information it has failed to provide it. In any avent,
the fisal rula will not roquira email or many other
Lypos of oloctronic notica.

20z Agsociation of Corporate Counsel contends
that employers will have 10 modify their policies
and procedures manuals as a rosult of the rute. The
Board questions {hat contention, bui oven if some
amployors do take those steps, they would not be
a cost of complying with the rulo.

201 Fisher and Phillips alse suggost that the Board
failod to take into account the offect that the
proposed rulo would have on the Board’s own case
intake and budgel. The RFA, however, does not
require an ostimate of the economic offects af
proposed rules on Federal agencies.

04 Bee . 197, ahove.
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Some comments assert that the
content of the notice will prompt
employee questions, which managers
and supervisors will have to answar,
and be trainec to answer, and that the
Board fatled to account for the cost of
such training and discussions in terms
of lost work time.20% Other comments
contend that employers will incur costs
of opposing an increased number of
union organizing campaigns.2u8
Relatedly, several comments state that
employers should be allowed to, and/or
will respond to the notice by informing
employees of aspects of unionization
and collective bargaining that are not
covered by the notice; soma suggest that
employers may post their own notices
presenting their point of view.207 (A few
comments, by contrast, protest that
employers will ba prohibited from
presenting their side of the issuas raised
by the posting of notices.) The Board
responds that any costs that employers
may incur in responding to employee
quastions, in setting forth the
employers’ views on unions and
collective bargaining, or in opposing
unian organizing efforts will be incurred
entirely at the employers' own valition;
they are not a cost of complying with
the ruls.

As discussed above, many comments
express concerns that union supporters
will tear down the notices in order to
expose employers to 8(a){1) tiability for
failing to post the nolices. Some of these
comments also contend that, as a result,
employers will have to spend
considerable time monitoring the
natices to make sure that they are not
torn down, or incur additional costs of
installing tam per-proof builetin boards.
One commenter predicts that his
employer will have to spend 520,000 for
such bullsetin boards at a single facility,
or a total of 100,000 at all of its
facilities, and even then will have to
spend two haurs each month
monitoring the postings, For the reasons
discussed above, the Board is not
convinced at this time that the problem
of posters being torn down is anything
mare than speculative, and accordingly
is inclined to discount these predictions
substantially. in any event, the rula
requires only that amployers “take
reasonable steps”—naot every
conceivable step—to ensure that the

s Sep, e.g., comments of Cass Countly Electric
Cooperative and Bakor & McKenzie. The lattor
ostimales thal each private soctor smployoa will
spend at least an hour attending moetings
concerning the content of the notice, and that the
cast $o the ocanamy in terms of lost employee work
time will be 2.5 billioa,

w8 Sgp, g, camment of Or. Poppar Snapple
Group.

7 Spy, o.g., commenls of Metra Toyola and
Capital Associatod Industries, Inc.

notice is not defaced or torn down. The
rule does not raquire, or even suggest,
that employers must spend thousands of
dollars to install tampar-proof bulletin
boards or that employers must
constantly moaitor the notice.208

Ore comment contends that most
small employers do not have 11 x 17-
inch color printers, and therefore will
have to have the posters printed
commercially at a cost that, alone,
assertedly will exceed the Board's
estimate of the cost of the rule. The
Board understands the concerns of this
small employer. The Board points out
that it will furnish a reasonable number
of copies of the notice free of charge to
any requesting employer. Moreover, as
explained above, employers may
reproduce the notice in black-and-white
and may prict the notice on two
standard-sized, 8.5 x 11-inch pages and
tape or bind them together, rather than
having them printed commarcially.

A number of comments argue that the
rule will lead to workplace conflict. For
axample, the comment of Wiseda
Carporation contains the fallowing:

Unnecessary Confusion and Conflict in the
Workploce. The labor law terms and
industrial union language of the proposard
notice (such as hiring hall and concerted
activity) present an unclear and adversarial
picture o employees. Most non-union
employers like us, wha wish to remain non-
union, encourage cooperalive problem
solving. in a modern non-union workplace,
to require such a poster encouraging steikes
and restroom leaflets is disrespectful of the
hard work and gead intentions of employers,
management, and employens. The proposad
poster would exist alongside ather company
notices on problem-solving, respuct for
others, respiving harassment issues, stc., and
would clearly ba put af character and
inappropriate. (Emphasis in original.)
Anather comment puts it more bluntly:
"The notice as proposed is more of an
invitation to cause employse/employer
disputes rather than an explanation of
employee rights.” The Board's response
is that the ill effects predicted in these
comments, like the predicted adverse
effects of unionization discussed above,
are not costs of compliance with the
rule, but of employees’ learning about
their workplace rights. In addition,
Cangress, not the Board, created the
subject rights and did so after finding
that vesting employees with these rights
would reduce industrial strife.

B. Puperwork Reduction Act (PRAJ

The linal rule imposes certain
minimal burdens associated with the

200 Captrary 16 one commenl’s suggestion, no

emplayer will bo “bankruptad™ by finas imposed if

tho nalice is forn down. As explained alove, the

Board doos not have the authorily to impase fines.
208 g4 1,5.C. 3541 ef seq.

posting of the employse notice required
by § 104.202. As noted in § 104.202(=),
the Board will make the notice
available, and emplayers will be
permitted to post copies of the notice
that are exact duplicates in content,
size, format, and type size and style.
Under the regulations implementing the
PRA, "[t|he public disclosure of
information originally supplied by the
Federal government to [a| recipient for
the purpose of disclosure lo the public”
is not considered a “‘collection of
information’ under the Act. See 5 CFR
1320.3(c)(2). Therefore, contrary to
several comments, the posting
requirement is not subject to the
PRA.Z'ID

The Board received no comments
suggesting that the PRA covers the cosls
to the Federal government of
administering the regulations
established by the proposed rule.
Therefore, the NPRM's discussion of
this issue stands.

Accordingly, this rule does not
contain information collection
requirements that require approval by
the Office of Managemeant and Budget
under the PRA (44 U.S.C. 3507 et seq.).

C. Congressional Aeview Act [CRAJ"

This rule is a “major rule" as defined
by Section 804(2) of the Small Business
Repulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of
1996 (Congressional Review Act],
because it will have an elfect on the
economy of more than $100 million, at
least during the year it takes effect. 5
11.5.C. 804(2}(A).222 Accordingly, the

210 Tha California Chamber of Commerce and the
Nationat Council of Agricubtural Employers dispute
this conclusion. They assert that the PRA
distinguishas between tho “agencies” to which it
applies and tho "Federal government,” and
therefore that the exemption provided in & CFR
1320.3[c){2] applies anly 10 inlormation suppliod by
“the actual Fadperal povernment,” not to information
supplied by a Fedoral agency such as the Baard.
The flaw in this srgument is that there is no such
legal oatity as “'the [actual] Federat governmeanl.”
What is commonly reforrod 1o a3 “the Fedarat
government” is a colloction of the three branches
of tho United States gavernment, including the
dopastments of tha axocutive brarch, and the
varinus independent agencies, including the Board.
If "tho Fedoral govarnment” can be said to act at
all, it can do so only through ono or mora of those
entitios—in this instance, the Board—and that is
undoubtoedly the meaning thet the drafiers of 5 CFR
1320({c)(2) mean! to convay.

2115 U.S.C. BO1 et seq.

212 A yule is a “major rule” for CRA purposes if
it will {A) Have un annual offect an the oconamy
of $100 million or more: {B) cause a major incroase
in costs or prices for consumers, individual
indusirias, governmend agoncies, or geographic
rogions; or (C] result in significant adverse offects
on competition, omploymont, investment,
praductivity, innovation, or the abilily of United
States-based onterprises to cempele with foreign-
basad ontorprises in domestic and export markets.
5 1).3.C. §04. The natice-posting rule is a “major

Continuerd
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aflective date ol the rule is 75 days after
publication in the Federal Regisler.2"

List of Subjects in 29 CFR Parl 104

Administrative praciice and
procedure, Employee rights, Labor
unions.

Texl of Final Rule

Accordingly, a new part 104 is added
to 20 CFR chapter 1 to read as follows:

PART 104—NOTIFICATICN OF
EMPLOYEE RIGHTS; OBLIGATIONS
OF EMFLOYERS

Subpart A—Definitions, Requirements for
Employee Notice, and Exceptions and
Exemptions

Sac.

104.201 What definitions apply to this parl?

104.202 What employee nolice must
employers subject to the NLRA past in
the workplaca?

104.202  Are Federal contractors covered
under this pars?

104.204 What enlitias are not subject to this

arl?

Appendix to Subpart A—Text of Employee

Notice .

Subpart B—General Enforcement and
Complaint Procedures

104.210 How witl the Board determine
whather an employer is in compliance
wilh this part?

104.211  What are the procedures for filing
a charga?

104.212 What are the procedures to he
followed when a charge is filed alleging
that an employer has failed to post the
required employee natice?

104.213  What remedias are available to cure
a failure to post the employee notice?

104.214 How might other Board
proceedings be afiected by failure to post
the employee notice?

Subpart C—Ancillary Matters

104.220 What ather provisions apply to this
part?

rule” bocause, as explained in the discussion of the
Regulatary Fiexibilily Act abavo, the Board has
ostimaled that the average cost ol compliance with
the rule will bo approximataty $64.40 par affectad
amployer; thus, bociuss there are some & million
amployers that could potentially be affected by the
rulo, tho total cost to the cconomy of compliance
with the rule will be approximately $3846.4 million.
As Further explainod, nearly ail of that cast will bo
incusrod during the year in which the rule takes
effect; in subsequant yoars, the only costs of
compliance will be those incurred by employers
that pither opor new facifitics ar expand existing
ones, and thase that for oke reason or another fail
to comply with the rule during tho first year. Tho
Hoard thorefore expects that the costs of compliance
wilt be far loss than $140 millien in the second and
subsaquant yeors. The Bousd is confident that the
rule will have none of the elfects enumerstad in 5
U.5.C. ppa(2)(B) and [C) above.

113 The Board finds unporseasive the sugpestions
in several comments that the effective dato of the
rule be postponed to as late as Apri) 15, 2012, The
Baard finds nothing in the requirements of the rele
ar in the comments received thal would warrant
postponing the ctfective date.

Autharity; National Laber Relations Act
{NLRA}, Section 6, 28 U.5.C, 156;
Administrative Procedure Act, 5 11.5.C. 553.

Subpart A—Definitions, Requirements
for Employee Naotice, and Exceptions
and Exemptions

§104.201
part?

Employee includes any employes, and
is not limited to the employess of a
particular employer, unless the NLRA
explicitly states otherwise, The term
includes anyone whose wark has ceased
because of, or in connection with, any
current labor dispule or because of any
unfair labor practice, and who has nat
obtained any ather regular and
substantially equivalent employment.
However, it does not include
agricultural laborers, supervisors, or
independent contractors, or anyone
employed in the domestic service of any
family or person at his home, or by his
parent or spouse, or by an employer
subject to the Railway Labor Act (45
U.5.C. 151 et seq.), or by any other
persen who is not an employer as
defined in the NLRA. 20 U1.8.C, 152(3).

Employee notice means the notice set
forth in the Appendix to Subpart A of
this part that employers subject to the
NLRA must past pursuant to this part,

Employer includes any person acting
as an agent of an employer, directly ar
indirectly, The term does not include
the United Siates or any wholly owned
Governmenlt carporation, or any Federal
Resoerva Bank, or any State or political
subdivision thereof, or any person
subject to the Railway Labor Act, or any
labor organization (other than when
acting as an employer}, or anyone acting
in the capacity of officer or agent of
such labor organization. 28 U.5.C.
152(2), Further, the term “employer”
does not include entities over which the
Board has been found not to have
jurisdiction, or over which the Board
has chosen through regulation or
adjudication not to assert jurisdiction.

Labor organization means any
organization of any kind, or any agency
or employee representation committee
or plan, in which employees participate
and which exists for the purpose, in
whole or in part, of dealing with
employers concerning grievances, labor
disputes, wages, rates of pay, hours of
employment, or conditions of work. 28
11.5.C. 152(a).

National Labor Relations Board
{(Board) means the National Labor
Relations Board provided for in section
3 of the National Labor Relations Act, 29
U.8.C. 153, 29 U.5.C. 152(10).

Person includes one or more
individuals, labor organizations,

What definitions apply to this

partnerships, associations, corporations,
legal represantatives, trustees, trustees
in cases under title 11 of the United
States Code, or raceivers. 29 U.5.C.
152(1}.

Rules, regulations, and orders, as used
in § 104.202, means rules, regulations,
and relevant orders issued by the Board
pursuant to this part.

Supervisor means any individual
having autharity, in the interast of the
employer, to hiee, transfer, suspend, lay
aff, recall, promots, discharge, assign,
reward, or discipline other employees,
or responsibly to direct them, or to
adjust their grievances, or effectively to
recommend such action, if in
connection with the foregoing the
exercise of such authority is notof a
merely routine or clerical nature, but
requires the use of independent
judgment. 29 U.S.C. 152(11).

Unfair lobor proctice means any
unflair labor practice listed in section 8
of the National Labor Relations Act, 28
U.5.C. 158. 29 U.5.C. 152(8).

Unijon means a labor arganization as
defined above.

§104.202 What employee notice must
employers subject to the NLRA post in the
workplace?

(a) Posting of employee notice. All
employers subjecl to the NLRA must
post notices to employees, in
conspicuous places, informing them of
their NLRA rights, together with Board
contact infarmation and information
concerning basic enforcement
procedures, in the language set forth in
the Appendix to Subpart A of this part.

(b) Size and form requirements. The
notice ta employees shall be at least 11
inches by 17 inches in size, and in such
format, type size, and style as the Board
shall prescribe. If an employer chooses
to print the notice after downloading it
from the Board's Web site, the printed
notice shall be at least 11 inchas by 17
inches in size.

(c) Adaptation of longuage. The
National Labor Relations Board may
find that an Act of Congress,
clarification of existing law by the
courts ar the Board, ar other
circumstances make madification of the
employee natice necessary to achieve
the purposes of this part. In such
circumstances, the Board will promptly
issue rules, regulations, or orders as are
needed to ensure that all future
amployee notices contain appropriate
tanguage to achieve the purposes of this

art.

(d) Physical posting of employee
notice. The employee notice must be
posted in conspicuous places where
they are readily seen by employeas,
including all places where notices Lo
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employees concerning personnel rules
or policies are customarily posted.
Where 20 percent or maore of an
employer’s workforce is not proficient
in English and speaks a language other
than English, the employer must post
the notice in the languape employees
speak. It an employer's workforee
includes two or maore groups
constituting at least 20 percent of the
workfarce who speak different
languages, the employer must sither
physically past the notice in each of
those languages or, at the employer’s
option, post the notice in the language
spoken by the largest group of
employses and provide each employee
in each of the other language groups a
capy of the notice in the appropriate
ianguage. If an employer requests from
the Board a natice in a language in
which it is not available, the requesting
employer will not be liable for non-
compliance with the rule until the
notice becomes available in that
language. An employer must take
reasonable steps to ensure that the
notice is not altered, defaced, coverad
by any other material, or otherwise
rendered unreadable.

(e] Obteining a poster with the
employee notice. A poster with the
required employee notice, including a
poster with the employee notice
translated inte languages other than
English, will be printad by the Board,
and may be obtained from the Board's
office, 1099 14th Street, NW.,
Washinglon, DC 20570, or from any of
the Board's regional, subregional, or
resident offices. Addresses and
telephone numbers of those offices may
be found on the Board's Web site at
http://www.nirb.gov, A copy of the
poster in English and in languages other
than English may also be downloaded
from the Board's Web site at http:/
www.nlrb.gov. Employers also may
reprocuce and use copies of the Board's
official poster, provided that the copies
duplicate the official poster in size,
content, format, and size and style of
type. In addition, employers may use
commercial services to provide the
employee notice poster consolidated
onto ane poster with other Federally
mandated labor and employment
notices, so long as the consolidation
does nol alter the size, content, format,
or size and style of type of the poster
provided by the Board.

(A Electronic posting of employee
notice. (1) In addition to posting the
required notice physicatly, an employer
must also post the required notice on an
intranet ar internet site if the employer
customarily communicales with its
employees about personnel rules or
policies by such means. An employer
that customarily posts notices to
employees about personnel rules or
policies on an intranet or internet site
will satisfy the electronic posting
requirement by displaying
prominently—i.e., no less prominently
than other notices to employees-—on
such a site either an axact copy of the
poster, downloaded from the Board's
Wab site, or a link to the Board's Web
site that contains the poster. The link to
the Board's Weh site must read,
“Employee Rights under the National
Labor Relations Act.”

(2} Where 20 percent or more of an
employer's workforce is not proficient
in English and speaks a language other
than English, the employer must
provide notice as required in paragraph
(E)(1} of this section in the language the
employees speak, If an employer’s
workforce includes iwo or more groups
constituting at least 20 percent of the
workforce who speak different
languages, the employer must provide
the notice in gach such language. The
Board will provide translations of the
link to the Board's Web site for any
employer that must or wishes to display
the link on its Web site. If an employer
requests from the Board a notice in a
languags in which it is not available, the
requesting employer will not be liable
for non-compliance with the rule until
the notice becomes available in that
languags.

§104.203 Are Federal contractors covered
under this part?

Yes, Federal contractors are covered.
However, contractors may comply with
the provisions of this part by posting the
notices to employees required under the
Department of Labor’s notice-posting
rule, 29 CFR part 471,

§104.204 What entities are not subject to
this part?

(a) The following entities are
exchuded from the definition of
“employer” under the National Labor
Relations Act and are not subject to the
requirements of this part:

TABLE TO § 104.204

(1) The United States or any wholly
owned Government corporation;

(2) Any Federal Reserve Bank;

{3) Any State or political subdivision
thereof;

{4) Any person subject to the Railway
Labor Act;

{5) Any labor organization (other than
when acting as an employer); or

{6) Anyone acting in the capacity of
officer or agent of such labor
organization.

(b) In addition, employers employing
axclusively workers who are excluded
from the definition of “employes”
under § 104.201 ara not covered by the
requirements of this part.

(¢) This part does not apply to entities
over which the Board has been found
not te have jurisdiction, or over which
the Board has chosen through regulation
or adjudication not to assert
jurisdiction.

{(d)(1) This part does not apply to
entities whosa impact on interstate
commerce, although more than de
einimis, is so slight that they do not
meet the Board's discretionary
jurisdiction standards. The most
commenly applicable standards are:

(i) The retail standard, which applies
to employers in retail businesses,
including home construction. The Board
will take jurisdiction over any such
employer that has a gross annual
volume of business of $500,000 or more.

(ii) The nonrstail standard, which
applies to most other amployers. 1t is
based either on the amount of goods
sold or services provided by the
employer out of state (called “outflow™)
or goods or services purchased by the
employer from out of state (called
“inflow"). The Board will take
jurisdiction aver any emplayer with an
annual inflow or cutflow of at least
$50,000. Outflow can be either direct—
io out-of-state purchasers-—or indirect—
to purchasers that meet other
jurisdictional standards. Inflow can also
be direct--purchased directly from out
of state—or indirect—purchased fFom
sellers within the state that purchased
them frem oul-of-state sellers.

{2) There are other standards for
miscellansous categories of employers.
These standards are based on the
employer's gross annual volume of
business unless stated otherwise. These
standards are listed in the Table to this
section.

Employer category

Jurisdictionat standard

Amusement industry ...

Apariment houses, condominiums, cooparatives .
B0 3 117=T o] T S OO O P P PSP S FE I TP PO Y

$500,000.
$500,000.
Nonrelail standard.
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TABLE TO § 104.204—Continued

Employer categaory

Jurisdictional standard

Art museums, cullural centers, libraries
Bandleaders
Cemeteries
Colleges, universilies, mhar prwale schools .

Communications (radio, TV, cable, telephone, telegraph}

Credit unicns ..........
Day care cenlers
Gaming industry .....
Health care institutions:

Nursing homas, visiting nurses associations ...

Haspitals, blood banks, other health care facilities (lncludlng doctnrs and dentlsls oihces)

Hotels and motels . e
Instrumentalities of |nlersiate cornmen:e
Labor organizations (as employers) ...
Law firms; legal service organizations
Newspapers (with interstate conlacts) ...

Nonprafit charitable INSHIHONS ..o s

QOffice buildings; ShOPENG CANIBIS ... s s e s s e g ot e sassee

Private clubs
Public utilities
Restauranis
Social services organizations
Sympheny orchestras ...
Taxicabs oo,

Transit SYSIEMS .o,

51 million.

Retail/nonrelail (depends on customer).
%500,000.

$1 millien.

%100,000.

Either retail ar nonretail standard.
$250,000.

$500,000.

$100,000.

%250,000.

£500,000.

£50,000.

Nonretail standard.

$250,000.

$200,000.

Depends on the entity's substantive pur-
pose.

$100,000.

$500,000.

%250,000 or nonrelail standard.

£500,000.

$250,000.

%1 millien.

%£500,000.

$250,000.

(3) If an employer can be classifiad
uncer more than one category, the
Board will assert jurisdiction if the
employer meets the jurisdictional
standard of any of those categories.

(4) There are & few employer
categories without specific
]urlsdlctlunai standards:

(i) Enterprises whose operations have

a substantial effect on national defense
or that receive large arnounts of Federal
funds

(ii} Enterprises in the District of
Columbia

(iii) Financial information
organizations and accounting firms

(iv) Professional sports

[v) Stock brokerage firms

{vi) U. S. Postal Service

{5) A more complete discussion of the
Board's jurisdictional standards may be
found in An Outline of Law and
Procedure in Representation Cases,
Chapter 1, found on the Board's Web
site, http://vww.nirh.gov.

{e) This part does not apply to the
United States Postal Service.

Appendix to Subpart A—Text ol
Employee Notice

“EMPLOYEE RIGHTS UNDER THE
NATIONAL LADOR RELATIONS ACT

The National Labor Relations Act [NLRA])
guarantess the right of employees to organize
and bargain collectively with their
asmployers, and to engage in other protectad
concerted activity or to refrain from engaging
in any of the abave activity. Employees
covared by the NLRA* are protected from
certain types of employer and union

misconduct. This Notice gives you ganaral
information about your rights, and about the
obligations of employers and uniens under
the NLRA. Contact the National Labor
Relations Board (NLRB), the Federal agency
that investigates and resolves complaints
under the NLRA, using the contact
infarmation supplied below, il you have any
questions about specific rights that may
apply in your particular workplace.

“Under the NLRA, you have the right to:

* Organize a union {o nagotiate with your
employer concerning your wages, hours, and
other terms and conditions of employment.

» Form, join or assist a union.

+ Bargain callectively through
represantaiives of employess' own choosing
for a contract with your employer sstting
your wages, benefits, hours, and other
working coenditions.

« Discuss your wages and benelits and
other terms and conditions of employment or
union organizing with your co-workers ora
union.

« Take sclion with one or mors co-workers
to improve your working conditions by,
among olher means, raising work-related
complaints directly with your employar or
wilh s governmeni agency, and sesking help
from a union,

= Strike and picket, depending on the
purpose or means of the sirike ar the
picketing.

« Choose nol 1o do any of these activities,
including joining or remaining a member of
a urion,

"Under the NLRA, it is illegal for your
amployer to:

+ Prohibit you [rom talking about or
soliciting for a union during non-work Lime,
such as belore or alter work or during break
timas; ar from distributing union Hierature

during non-waork tims, in non-wark areas,
such as parking lots or break rooms,

« Queslion you about your union support
or activities in a maaner that discourages you
from engaging in that activity.

» Tire, demaole, or transfer you, or raduce
your hours or change your shifl, or otharwise
lake adverse action against you, or threaten
to take any of these actions, because you join
or support a union, or because you engage in
concerted activity for mutual aid and
pratection, or because you choose nol to
engage in any such activity.

» Threaten to close your workplace if
warkers choose a union to represent them.

» Promise or grant promotions, pay raises,
or other benefits lo discourage or encourage
union suppaort.

+ Prohibit you from wearing union hats,
buttons, t-shirts, and pins in the workplace
excepl under special circumstances.

+ Spy on or videotape peaceful union
activitias and gatherings or pretend to do s0.

“Under the NLRA, il s illegal [or a union
or for the union that represents you in
bargaining with your employer to:

¢ Threaten or cosrce you in order lo gain
your supporl for the uninn.

» Refuse to process a grievance because
you have criticizad union officials or because
you are not 8 member of the union.

= Use or maintain discriminatory
standards or procedures in making job
referrals from a hiring hall.

« Cause or altempt to cause an employer
to discriminate against you bacause of your
union-related activity.

« Take adverse action apainst you because
you have not jeined or do not support the
union.

“1f you and your co-warkers select a union
ta acl as your colleclive bargaining
representative, your employar and the union
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are required to bargain in good faith in a
genuine effort to seach a written, binding
agreement setting your terms and conditions
of employment. The union is required to
[airly vepresent you in bargaining and
anfarcing the agreemant.

“{Hagal conduct will not be permitted. If
you believe your rights or the rights of others
have been violated, you should contact the
NLRB promptly ta pratect your righls,
generally within six months of the unlawful
aclivity. You may inquire ahout possible
violations withoul your employer or anyona
else being informed of the inquiry. Charges
may be filed by any person and need not be
filed by the emplayes directly affected by the
violalion. The NLRB may order an employer
to refire a worker fired in violation of the
faw and to pay lost wages and benefits, and
may order an emplayer or unian to cease
vialating lhe law. Employé&es should seek
assistance from the nearest regional NLRB
office, which can be found on the Agency's
Web site: http://www.nirb.gov.

Yau can also contact the NLRB by calling
toll-free: 1-866—-667-NLRB {6572) or (TTY)
1-B6E6-315-NLRD (1-866-315-6572) [or
hearing impairad.

If you do not speak or understand English
well, you may oblain & translation of this
naotice from the NLRB's Web site or by caltling
the toll-free nwambers listed shove.

**The National Labor Relations Act covers
most private-secior employers. Excluded
ftoin coverage under the NLRA are public-
sector employees, agricultural and domestic
workers, independent contractors, workers
einployed by a parenl or spouse, employees
of air and rail carriers covered by the Raflway
Labor Act, and supervisors (although
suparvisors that have been discriminated
against for refusing to viclate the NLRA may
be coverad).

“This is &n official Government Notice and
must not be defaced by anyone.”

Subpart B—General Enforcement and
Complaint Procedures

§104.210 How will the Board determina
whether an employer is in compliance with
this part?

The Board has determined that
employees must be aware of their NLRA
rights in order to exercise those rights
effectively. Employers subject to this
rule are required to post the employee
notice to inform employees of their
rights. Failure to post the employee
notice may be found to interfere with,
restrain, or coerce employees in Lhe
exarcise of the rights guarantsed by
NLRA Section 7, 29 U.5.C. 157, in
violation of NLRA Section 8(a){1), 29
(1.5.C. 158(a)(1).

Normally, the Board will determine
whether an employer is in compliance
when a person files an unfair labor
practice charge alleging that the
employer has failed to post the
employee notice required under this
part. Filing a charge sets in motion the
Board's procedures for investigating and
adjudicating alleged unfair tabor

practices, and for remedying conduct
that the Board finds to be unlawful. See
NLRA Sections 10-11, 29 U.5.C. 160—
61, and 29 CFR part 102, subpart B.

§104.211 What are the pracedures for
filing a charge? -

(a) Filing charges. Any person [other
than Board personnel) may [ile a charge
with the Board alleging that an
employer has failed to post the
amployee notice as required by this
part. A charge should be filed with the
Regional Director of the Region in
which the alleged failure to post the
required notice is occurring.

(b) Contenis of chorges. The charge
must be in writing and signed, and must
be sworn to before a Board agent, notary
public, or other person authorized to
administer oaths or take
acknowledgemeats, ar contain a
declaration by the person signing it,
under penalty of perjury, that its
contents are true and correct. The
charge must include:

(1) The charping party's tull name and
addeess;

(2] If the charge is filed by a union,
the full name and address of any
national or international union of which
it is an affiliate or constituent unit;

{3) The full name and address of the
employer alleged to have violated this
part; and

(4) A clear and concise slatement of
the facts constituting the alleged unfair
labor practice.

§104.212 What are the procedures to be
followed when a charge is filed alleging that
an employer has failed to post the required
employee notice?

(a) When a charge is [iled with the
Board under this section, the Regional
Director will investigate the allegations
of the charge. If it appears that the
allegations are true, the Regional
Director will maks reasonable efforts to
persuade the respondent employer to
post the required employee notice
expeditiously. 1f the employer does so,
the Board expects that there will rarely
be a need for further administrative
proceedings.

(b] If an alleged violation cannot be
resolved informally, the Regional
Director may issue a formal complaint
against Lhe respondent employer,

alleging a violation of the notice-posting-

requirement and scheduling a hearing
belore an administrative law judge.
After 1 complaint issues, the matler will
be adjudicated in keeping with the
Board's custamary procedures. See
NLRA Sections 10 and 11, 29 U.5.C.
160, 161; 28 CFR part 102, subpart 8.

§104.213 What remedies are available to
cure a faflure lo post the empioyee notice?

(a) If the Board finds thai the
respondent employer has failed Lo post
the required employee notices as
alleged, the respondent will be ardered
to cease and desist from the unlawful
conduct and post the required employee
netice, as well as a remedial notice. In
some instances additional remedies may
be appropriately invoked in keeping
with the Board's remedial authority.

(h) Any employer that threatens or
retaliates against an employee for filing
charges or testifying at a hearing
concerning alleged violations of the
notice-posting requirement may be
found to have committed an unfair labor
practice. See NLRA Section 8(a){1} and
B(a){4]), 29 U.S.C. 158[a){1)}, (4).

§104.214 How might other Board
proceedings be alfected by failure to post
the employee natice?

{a) Tolling of statute of limitations.
When an employee files an unfair labor
practice charge, the Board may find it
appropriate to excuse the employee
from the requirement that charges be
filed within six months after the
occurrence of the allegedly unlawlul
conduct if the employer has failed to
post the required employee notice
unless the employee has received actual
or constructive nolice that the conduct
complained of is unlawiul. See NLRA
Section 10(h), 29 U.5.C. 160(b).

(b) Noncompliance as evidence of
unlawlul motive. The Board may
consider a knowing and willful refusal
to comply with the requirement to post
the employee notice as evidence of
unlawful motive in a case in which
mative is an issue.

Subpart C—Ancillary Matters

§104.220 What other provisions apply to
this part?

(a) The regulations in this part do not
madify or affect the interpretation of
any other NLRB regulations or policy.

b}(1) This subpart does not impair or
otherwise affect:

(i} Authority granted by law to a
department, agency, or the head thereof;
or

(ii) Functions of the Director of the
Office of Management and Budget
relating to budgetary, administrative, or
legislative proposals.

%2} This subpart must be implemented
consistent with applicable law and
subject to the availability of
appropriations.

c) This part creates no right or
benefit, substantive or procedural,
enforceable ai law or in equity by any
party against the United States, its
departments, agencies, or enlities, its
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officers, employees, or agents, ar any Signed in Washington, DC, August 22,
other person. 2011,

Wilma B. Liebman,

Choirman.

IFR Doc. 2011-21724 Filud 8-25-11; 8:45 am|
BILLING CODE 7545-01-P
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OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL
Division of Operations-Management

- MEMORANDUM OM 11-77 August 26, 2011

TO: All Regional Directors, Officers-in-Charge,
and Resident Officers

FROM: Anne G. Purcell, Associate General Counsel

~ SUBJECT: Frequently Asked Questions — Board's Notice Posting Rule

On August 25, 2011, the Board issued a final Notice Posting Rule
requiring employers subject to the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA),
including labor organizations in their capacity as employers, to post Notices
informing their employees of their rights under the NLRA.

The Board's Notice Posting Rule becomes effective 75 days after it is
published in the Federal Register. The Notice Posting Rule will be published in
the Federal Register on August 30, 2011, making it effective on or about
‘November 14, 2011,

We expect that the Board's decision to issue the Notice Posting Rule will
receive extensive coverage from news organizations and other media outlets and
likely will generate substantial commentary. Consequently, Regional office
personnel — particularly those serving as Information Officers — will be on the
“front line" answering questions about the Notice Posting Rule, how to obtain
copies of the Notice, and how to comply with the Rule’s requirements. Indeed, in
a number of seciions of the Rule, the Board specifically advises individuals and
organizations to coniact their Regional office to secure copies of the Notice and,
most importantly, for guidance and assistance in order to comply with the Rule
and its Notice posting requirements.

You and your staff members should anticipate receiving questions and
inquiries about the Notice Posting Rule from news organizations, employers,
labor unions, interest groups and other stakeholders, and especially from
members of the public. We know that the public will turn to you to receive
information about which employers are covered by this requirement and what
they should do and appreciate that this may increase the workload of your
Information Officers. Because the Notice Posting Rule states that Regional
offices will supply copies of the Notice at no charge, we suggest creating a
procedure to record the names and addresses of those requesting copies of the
Notice so your office can mail or transmit the Notices as soon as they become
available.



To assist you and your staff members in responding to these anticipated
inquiries, we have attached a copy of the Notice and prepared the attached
Frequently Asked Questions. Staff members can access the full text of the final
Notice Posting Rule at www.nirb.gov. The final Notice Posting Rule cantains
extensive information about the Board's rulemaking process, its responses to the
public comments that it received, and its reasaons for including -- or not including -
- a range of topics and subjects in the Notice. We suggest you conduct a staff
meeting as soon as practical to inform your staff members about the Notice
Posting Rule and their responsibilities administering it. Moreaover, because the
Notice Posting Rule is an entirely new endeavor for the Agency, we urge you to
contact Operations-Management if you have questions about the Notice Posting
Rule and, just as importanily, that you advise us of your experiences, problems,
solutions and best practices implementing it. Deputy Assistant General Counsel
Joe Baniszewski will be the contact person for these issues, so please contact
him if you have any questions or comments about these procedures.1

| appreciate your help, cooperation and assistance and look forward to

collaborating with you to implement the Board's Notice Posting Rule. Please feel
free to contact me if you have any questions.

sl
A P

cc: NLRBU
Release to the Public

Atiachments

MEMORANDUM OM 11-77

I The Notices will list the tol] free number and the tal} free number for TTY phones, for the hearing
impaired. Attached to this memorandum are instructions to ensure that the Region’s TTY phone is fully
charged and in working order (Attachment 3). Should you have any problems related to the use of Lhis
phone, please contact Reb White in Headquarters.



Attachment 1 - FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS

What Notice must employers post in the workplace?

All employers subject to the NLRA must post Notices to employees, in
conspicuous places, informing them of their NLRA rights. The Notice
contains Board contact information and information concerning basic

enforcement procedures.

What does the Notice say?

The language for the Notice is attached as Attachment 2. The actual
forms are being developed now and will be available in advance of the
effective date of the rule (75 days from the issuance of the rule). In
general, the 11x17-inch Notice contains the following:

A summary of employee rights established under the NLRA,
itlustrated by examples of general circumstances that constituie
violations of employee rights under the NLRA by employers and by
unions.

Contact information for the Board and a description of basic
enforcement procedures to enable employees to learn more about
their NLRA rights and how to enforce them.

An affirmation that unlawful conduct will not be permiited,
information about the Board and about filing a charge with the
Board, and a statement that the Board will prosecute violators of
the NLRA.

A statement that there is a 6-month statute of limitations for filing
charges with the Board alleging violations of the NLRA, and advice
to employees fo contact the Board with specific questions about
particular issues.

A summary of the Board's jurisdiction, noting that the NLRA covers
most private-sector employers, but excludes public-sector
employees, agricultural and domestic workers, independent
contractors, workers employed by a parent or spouse, employees
of air and rail carriers covered by the Railway Labor Act, and
SUpEervisors.

Finally, the Notice clearly states that it is an official government
publication.



Board agents should know, as the Notice Posting Rule points out, that the
content of the proposed Nolice received more comments than any other single
topic in the proposed Rule. The Board extensively reviewed these commenis
and the final content of the Notice reflects the Board's considered judgment on a
multitude of issues and proposals.

Where does the NLRB get the authority to require my company io post the
Notice at my business?

Section 6 of the NLRA, 29 U.S.G. 158, authorizes the Board to issue “such
rules and reguiations as may be necessary to carry out the provisions” of
the Act. The Board issued the Notice Posting Rule based on this
provision in the NLRA.

Board agents should know that some commentaltors during the rulemaking
period, argued thal the Board does not have authority to issue the Notice Posting
Rule. The Board considered this position and affirmed its authority to issue the
Notice Posting Rule in its final rule. See Sec, Il. A.

What are the NLRB's reasons for issuing this Notice Posting Rule?

As the Notice Posting Rule states, the Board believes that many
employees protected by the NLRA are unaware of their rights under the
law and therefore cannot effectively exercise those rights.

The Board cited several factors to support this belief:

+ the comparatively small percentage of private sector employees
who are represented by unions and thus have access to
information about the NLRA,

» the high percentage of immigrants in the iabor force, who are likely
to be unfamiliar with workplace rights in the United States;

» studies indicating that empioyees and high school students aboutto
enter the work force are generally uninformed about [abor faw; and

» the absence of a requirement that, except in very limited
circumstances, employers or anyone eise inform employees about
their NLRA rights,

The intended effects of this Rule are to increase knowledge of the NLRA
among employees and to better enable the exercise of rights under the
statute. Beneficial side effects may be to promote statutory compliance by
employers and unions.



How do | get copies of the NLRB's Notice?

The Board will provide copies of the Notice on request at no cost to an
employer. These may be obtained by contacting the NLRB at its
headquarters or its regional, subregional, or resident offices. We
anticipate that they will be available in November.

Employers will be able to download the Nofice from the Board's website
and print it out. The website is www.nirb.gov. As soon as the Notices are
available, there will be an announcement on the website.

Employers thal prefer lo download and print the Notice from the Board’s
website will have two formats available: a one-page 11x17-inch version
and a two-page 8 % x11-inch version, which must be printed in landscape
format and taped together to form the 11x17-inch poster.

Employers may reproduce exact duplicates of the Natice supplied by the
Board, and they may also use commercial poster services to provide the
employee Notice consolidated onto one poster with other Federally
mandated |abor and employment notices, as long as consolidation does
not alter the size, format, content, or size and style of type of the Notice
provided by the Board.

Reproductions of the Notice may be in black and white rather than in
color, provided that the reproductions otherwise conform to the Board-
provided Notice.

| operate a business. Where do | have post the Notices?

An employer must post and maintain the Notices in conspicuous places
where they are readily seen by employees, including all places where
notices to employees concerning personnel rules or policies are
customarily posted.

An employer must take reasonable steps to ensure that the Notices are
not altered, defaced, or covered by any other material, or otherwise
rendered unreadable.

Other Federal employment laws require employers to post notices
advising employees of their rights. Employers should post the NLRB
Notice in the same place as it posts and maintains these other notices.
These include, for example, the Fair Labor Standards Act, Title VII of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the
Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act,
and tha Family and Medical Leave Act.



Does my company have to post the Notice now?

Not at this time. The Board's Rule becomes effective 75 days after it is
published in the Federal Register. The Rule was published on August 30,
2011. Thus the rule is effective on November 14, 2011.

Many of my employees speak Spanish, and do not understand English very
well. Would | still have to post the Notice?

Yes. If significant numbers of employees are not proficient in English, the
employer must post the Notice in the languages the employees speak.

The Board will provide translations of the Notice, and of the required link to the
Board's website, in the appropriate languages. A copy of the Notice in English
and in languages other than English may also be downloaded from the Board's
Web site at hifp:/www.nlrb.gov. As noted above, these notices will be available
sufficiently in advance of the effective date to allow employers time to obtain and
post the notices. As soon as they are available, the public will be notified via the
website.

The Board will provide translations of the Notice, and of the required link to the
Board's website, in various languages commonly used in the United States.
Copies of the Notice in English and in translations may also be downloaded from
the Board's Web site at hitp://www.nirb.gov. The Board will endeavor {o translate
the Notice into other requested languages. If an employer requests from the
Board a Notice in a particular language in which the Notice is not available, the
requesting employer will not be liable for non-compliance with the rule until the
Noiice becomes available in that language.

What is a “significant portion” of employees who do not understand
English?

The Board has decided to define “significant” in terms of foreign-language
speakers as 20 percent or more of an employer's workforce.

» |f as many as 20 percent of an employer's employees are not
proficient in English but speak the same foreign language, the
employer must post the Notice in that language, both physically and
electronically (if the employer is otherwise required to post the
Notice electronically).

» If an employer's workforce includes two or more groups, gach
constituting at teast 20 percent of the workforce who speak different
languages, the employer must post the Notice in the language



spoken by the larger (or largest) group. The employer may either
post the Notice in the language(s) spoken by the other group(s) or,
at the employer's option, distribute copies of the Notice to those
employees in their language(s). If such an employer is also
required to post the Natice electronically, it must do so in each of
those languages.

» |f some of an employer's employees speak a language not spoken
by employees constituting at least 20 percent of the employer's
workforce, the employer is encouraged, but not required, either to
provide the Notice to those employees in their respective language
or languages or to direct them to the Board's Web site,
www. nirb.gov, where they can obtain copies of the Notice in their
respective languages.

I communicate with my employees electronically, through the Internet or on
an intranet site. Would | stifl have to post the Notice?

Yes. All employers subject to the Notice Posting Rule will be required to
post the Notice physically in their facilities; and employers who customarily
post notices to employees regarding persennel rules or policies on an
internet or intranet site will be required to post the Board’s Notice on those
sites as well,

An employer that customarily posts notices to employees about personnel
rules or pelicies on an intranet or internet site will satisfy the electronic
posting requirement by displaying prominently — i.e., no less prominently
than other notices to employees -- on such a site either an exact copy of
the Notice, downloaded from the Board's Web site, or a link ta the Board's
Web site that contains the Notice. The link lo the Board’s Web site must
read, "Employee Rights under the National Labor Relations Act.”

If 20 percent or more of an emplayer's workforce is not proficient in
English and speaks a language other than English, the employer must
provide an intranet or internet Notice in the language the employees
speak. If an employer's workforce includes two or more groups
constituting at least 20 percent of the workferce who speak different
languages, the employer must provide the intranet or internet Notice in
each language.

| communicate with my employees using E Mail and Twitter. Would | still
have to send the Notice by E Mail or Twitter, or insert a link to the Notice in
an E Maii?

No. The Board decided not to require employers to provide the Notice to
employees by means of E Mail and other forms of electronic
communication such as text messaging or Twitter, faxing, voice mail, and



instant messaging. The Board reached such conclusion because, in ils
judgment, the potential for confusion and the prospect of requiring
repeated notifications in order to reach new employees outweigh the
benefits that could be derived af the margin irom such notifications.

Board agents should know the Board recognized that it has limited experience
in the area of efectronic posting, having only recently begun ordering electronic
posting of remedial notices, J. Picini Flooring, 356 NLRB No. 8 (2010). The
Notice Posting Rule encourages employers fo contact the local Regional Office
with questions about this provision.

How do | comply with the Rule if some of my employees are vision-
impaired or are illiterate?

With respect to employees who are vision-impaired or those who are
illiterate, employers should consult the Board's Regional Office on a case-
by-case basis for guidance on appropriate methods of providing the
required Notice, including by audio recording.

| work for a religiously affiliated employer. Must my employer post the
Board’s Notice?

The Board has asserted jurisdiction over some religiously-affiliated
employers in the past, but has declined to assert jurisdiction over other
religiously-affiliated employers. Because this is a complex issug, the
Board's Rule advises an employer that is unsure whether the Board has
jurisdiction over its operations to contact the Board’s Regional Office.

What if my employees work at remote sites and do not necessarily see a
posting in the office, or if | am a construction employer whose employees
report to various worksites. Where do | post the Notices?

The Board recognized there may be special challenges with regard to
physical posting. However, the Board concluded that these employers
must nonetheless post the required Notice at their work premises in
accordance with the proposed Rule. Electronic posting will also aid the
employers in providing the Notice to their employees in the manner in
which they customarily communicate with them.

| run a referral business and send employees to work at my clients’
premises where 1 have no control over the clients' worksite. Where do |
post the Notices?

The Board contemplates that employers will be required to physically post
a Notice only on their own premises or at worksites where the employer



has the ability to post a notice or cause a nolice to be posted directed to
its own employees.

| am an employer. How do | know if my company is subject to the Board’s
jurisdiction under the NLRA and required to post the Notice?

Board agents can refer callers to the complete discussion of the Board's
jurisdictional standards in An Outline of Law and Procedure in
Representation Cases, Chapter 1, found on the Board's Web site,

www. rirb. qov. :

The most commonly applicable jurisdictional standards are:

The retail standard, which applies to employers in retail businesses,
including home construction. The Board will take jurisdiction over any
such employer that has a gross annual volume of business of $500,000 or
more; and

The non-retail standard, which applies to most other employers. Itis
based either on the amount of goods sold or services provided by the
employer out of state (called "outflow”) or goods or services purchased by
the employer from out of state (called "inflow"). The Board will take
jurisdiction over any employer with an annual inflow or outflow of at least
$50,000. Outflow can be either direct - to out-of-state purchasers — or
indirect -- to purchasers that meet other jurisdictional standards. Inflow
can also be direct — purchased directly from out of state — or indirect —
purchased from sellers within the state that purchased them from out-of-
state sellers.

Board agents can also refer callers to the Table to § 104.204 of the
Board's Naotice Posting Rule, which lists other jurisdictional standards for
miscellaneous categories of employers.

| operate a very small business. Would | have to post the Board's Notice?

The Naotice Posting Rule applies to all employers subject to the Board's
jurisdiction,

The Board has chosen not to assert its jurisdiction over very small
employers whose annual volume of business is not large enough to have
more than a slight effect on interstate commerce. The Notice Posting
Rule excludes small businesses whose impact on interstate commerce is
de minimis or so slight that they do not meet the Board’s discretionary
jurisdiction requirements. The Board agent can refer callers to An Outline
of Law and Procedure in Representation Cases, Chapter 1, found on the
Board's Web site, www.nlrb.gov, and cases cited therein.



There is no union in my workplace; would the Notice still have to be
posted?

Yes. All employers subject to the Board's jurisdiction would be required to
post the Notice.

| am a Federal contractor. Under Department of Labor regulations, | have
to post notices of employees’ NLRA rights. Would | have to post the
NLRB's Notice?

The Board’s Notice Posting Rule applies to Federal contractors who are
otherwise subject to the Board's jurisdiction. However, the Depariment of
L abor already requires Federal contractors to post an almost identical
notice of employee rights. 28 CFR part 471.

On January 30, 2008, President Obama issued Executive Order
13496, requiring Federal contractors and subcontractors to include
in their Government contracts specific provisions requiring them to
post notices of employees’ NLRA rights. On May 20, 2010, the
Department of Labor issued a Final Rule implementing the order
effective June 21, 2010. 75 FR 28368, 29 CFR part 471.

Accordingly, a Federal contractor wouid comply with the NLRB's Notice
Posting Rule by posting the Department of Labor's notice.

I work for the United States Postal Service. Must the USPS post the
Board’s Notice at my workplace?

No. The Board's Rule specifically excludes the United States Postal
Service from the posting requirement

BOARD Agents should know that the Board excluded the United States Postal
Service from the Nolice Pasting Rule, in part, because there are several areas in
which the Postal Reorganization Act is inconsistent with the NLRA. The principal
differences are that an agency shop is prohibited and that postal employees may
not strike. Nevertheless, the Board reserved the option, at a later date, {0
request comments on a postal worker-specific notice.

How will the Board enforce the Rule’s Notice-posting requirements?

The Rule provides that failing to post the Notice may be found to be an
unfair labor practice in violation of Section B(a){1) of the NLRA and may
also, in appropriate circumstances, be grounds for tolling the statute of
limitations in Section 10{b).



In addition, a knowing and willful failure to post employee Notices may be
found to be evidence of unlawful motive in an unfair labor practice case.

Will someone from the NLRB inspect the Notices? Will an employer have
to allow union agents onto its property to inspect the Notices?

The Rule does not provide for such inspections or alter current standards
regarding union access to employers’ premises. Rather, the Board
contemplaies that an emplayer's failure to comply with the Rule will be
brought to the attention of the employer or the Board by employees or
union representatives who are lawfully on the premises.

What would be the unfair labor practice consequences for failing to post
the Notice?

The Board expects that most employers that fail to post the required
Notice will do so simply because they are unaware of the Notice Posting
Rule, and that when it is called to their attention by a Board agent, they
will comply without the need for formal administrative action or litigation.

Indeed, § 104.212(a) of the final Rule states that if an unfair labor
practice charge is filed alleging failure to post the Notice, "the
Regional Director will make reasonable efforts to persuade the
respondent employer to post the . . . notice expeditiously,” and that
"fi]f the employer does so, the Board expects that there will rarely
be a need for further administrative proceedings.”

When that is not the case, the Board’s customary procedures for
investigating and adjudicating alleged unfair labor practices may be
invoked. When the Board finds 2 violation, it will customarily order the
employer to cease and desist and to post the Notice of employee rights as
well as a traditional remedial notice.

How would the Board Toll the Section 10(h) Statute of Limitations?

The Notices of employment rights are intended, in part, to advise
employees of the kinds of conduct that may violate their rights so that they
may seek appropriate remedies when violations occur. Failure 1o post
required Notices deprives employees of both the knowledge of their rights
and of the availability of avenues of redress.

The Rule allows the Board to excuse an employee from the requirement
that charges be filed within six months after the occurrence of the
allegedly unlawful conduct if the employer has failed to post the required
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Notice, unless the employee has received actual or constructive notice
‘that the conduct complained of is unlawful.

However, because unions routinely deal with issues arising under the
NLRA and are therefore more familiar with the Act's provisions, the tolling
provisions in the final Rule apply only to charges filed by employees, not
those filed by unions.

How would the Board find the failure to post as evidence of unlawful
motive?

Finally, if an employer knowingly and willfully fails fo post the Notice, the
failure could be considered as evidence of untawiul motive in an unfair
iabor practice case invalving other alleged vialations of the NLRA.

To be considered as evidence of unlawful motive, an employer's failure to
post the Notice must be both knowing and willful — i.e., the employer must
have actual (as opposed to constructive) knowledge of the Rule and yet
refuse, on no cognizable basis, to post the Notice.

The Rule makes clear that the General Counsel would have the burden of
proving that a failure o post was wiliful. In any event, a willful failure to
post would not be conclusive proof of unlawful motive, but merely
evidence that could be considered, along with other evidence, in
determining whether the General Counsel had demonstrated unlawful
motive.

Could an employer be fined for failing to post the Notice?

No emgloyer can be fined for failing to post the Notice.



Attachment 2 - Text of Employee Notice

EMPLOYEE RIGHTS UNDER

THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS ACT

The National Labor Relations Act (NLRA) guarantees the right of employees {o
organize and bargain collectively with their emplayers, and to engage in other
protected concerted activity or to refrain frorn‘engaging in any of the above
activity. Employees covered by the NLRA’ are protected from certain types of
employer and union misconduct. This Notice gives you general information
about your rights, and about the obligations of employers and unions under the
NLRA. Contact the National Labor Relations Board {NLRB), the Federal agency
that investigates and resolves complaints under the NLRA, using the contact
information supplied below, if you have any questions about specific rights that
may apply in your particular workplace.

Under the NLRA, you have the right to:

. Organize a union to negotiate with your employer concerning

your wages, hours, and other terms and conditions ofémployment.

. Form, join or assist a union.

. Bargain collectively through representatives of employees'

own choosing for a contract with your employer setting your wages,

benefits, hours, and other working conditions.

. Discuss your wages and benefits and other terms and



conditions of employment or union arganizing with your co-workers
or a union.

. Take action with one or more co-workers to improve your working
conditions by, among other means, raising work-related complaints
directly with your employer or with a government agency, and seeking
help from a union.

. Strike and picket, depending on the purpose or means of the
strike or the picketing.

. Choose not fo do any of these activities, including joining or
remaining a member of a union.

Under the NLRA, it is illegal for your employer fo:

. Prohibit you from talking about or saliciting for a union during
non-work time, such as before or after work or during break times;
or from distributing union fiterature during non-work time, in non-
work areas, such as parking lots or break rooms.

. Question you about your union support or activities in a
manner that discourages you from engaging in that activily.

. Fire, demote, or transfer you, or reduce your hours or
change your shift, or otherwise take adverse actipn againsi you, or
threaten to take any of these actions, because you join or support a
union, or because you engage in concerted activity for mutual aid
and protection, or because you choose not to engage in any such

activity.



. Threaten to close your workplace if workers choose a union
to represent them.
. Promise or grant promotions, pay raises, or other benefits to

discourage or encourage union support.

. Prohibit you from wearing union hats, buttons, t-shirts, and
pins in the workplace except under special circumstances.
s Spy on or videotape peaceful union activities and gatherings

or pretend to do so.

Under the NLRA, it is iliegal for a union or for the union that

represents you in bargaining with your employer to:

. Threaten or coerce you in order to gain your support for the
~ union,
° Refuse {o process a grievance because you have criticized

union officials or because you are not a member of the union.

. Use or maintain discriminatory standards or procedures in
making job referrals from a hiring hall.

. Cause or attempt to cause an employer to discriminate
against you because of your union-related activity.

» Take adverse action against you because you have not

joined or do not support the union.



If you and your co-workers select a union to act as your collective
bargaining representative, your employer and the union are required to bargain in
good faith in a genuine effort to reach a written, binding agreement setting your
terms and conditions of employment. The union is required to fairly represent you

in bargaining and enforcing the agreement.

fllegal conduct will not be permitted. If you believe your rights or the rights
of others have been violated, you should contact the NLRB prompily to protect
your rights, generally within six months of the unlawful activity. You may inguire
about possible vigiations without your employer or anyone else being informed of
the inquiry. Charges may be filed by any person and need not be filed by the
employee directly affected by the violation. The NLRB may order an employer o
rehire a worker fired in violation of the law and to pay lost wages and benefits,
and may order an employer or union to cease violating the law. Employees
should seek assistance from the nearest regional NLRB office, which can be
found on the Agency's Web site; htip://www.nlrb.gov.

You can also contact the NLRB by calling toll-free: 1-866-667-NLRB
(6572) or
(TTY) 1-866-315-NLRB (1-866-315-6572) for hearing impaired.

If you do not speak or understand English well, you may obtain a
translation of this notice from the NLRB's Web site or by calling the toll-free

numbers listed above.



The National Labor Relations Act covers most private-sector employers.
Excluded from coverage under the NLRA are public-sector employees,
agricultural and domestic workers, independent contractors, workers embioyed
by a parent or spouse, employees of air and rail carriers covered by the Railway
Labor Act, and supervisors {although supervisors that have been discriminated

against for refusing to violate the NLRA may be covered).

This is an official Government Notice and must not be defaced by

anyone.”



